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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Cybernaut
International Holdings Company Limited (“Cybernaut” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively as the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Amid the uncertainty under the pandemic of the Covid-19
variants, the global economy is projected to slow down in 2022
as disclosed in the World Economic Outlook released by the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) in late January,2022. The IMF
chief economist has discussed about the new strain under the
Covid-19 variant Omicron, supply disruptions, high inflation,
policy pivots, among other things. The IMF new estimate shows
that the World GDP is expected to moderate from 5.9 percent
in 2021 to 4.4 percent in 2022, with half a percentage point
lower for 2022 than an earlier estimate in the IMF 2021 October
projection. Besides, the IMF has lowered the 2022 GDP
forecast of the United States by 1.2 percentage points, from
5.2 percent to 4 percent, and other advanced economies are
also expected to slow down their growth this year. “We have
a downgrade for global growth this year, there are numerous
challenges facing the global economy. We still remain in the grip
of the pandemic. Inflation is too high in many countries. There
are supply disruptions in many places. But, at the same time,
the global recovery is continuing and let’'s hope that we can
make 2022 truly the year we exit the pandemic; that’ll require
a lot more global cooperation,” the IMF Chief economist Gita
Gopinath said in a video message on Twitter, on 26 January
2022.
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According to the data released by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China (NBS), the country’s total GDP in 2021
reached RMB114.37 trillion, expanded with 8.1 percent,
growing with almost the fastest pace in a decade. Facing the
U.S.-China trade war, the global economic headwinds and
challenges, there were robust economic expansion in China
that had beaten the market expectations and eclipsed most of
the other major economies in the past two years. China has
spelled out a steady economic recovery path that builds on
the country’s zero-tolerance epidemic strategy that the Beijing
government has been relying on despite the criticism from the
West.

Though sufficient fiscal and monetary tools are at the disposal of
policymakers to boost consumption, liquidity and other issues,
some Chinese economists expect China to have 5.5 percent
economic growth in 2022, as there are trends going downwards
on the Chinese economy including those from the shrinking
demand, supply chain disruptions and weakening expectations,
in addition to the risks of the spread of the Covid-19 variant
Omicron. In fact, with the pandemic continuing to maintain its
grip, the emphasis on an effective global health strategy is more
salient than ever. Worldwide access to vaccines, tests, and
treatments is essential to reduce the risk of further dangerous
Covid-19 variants.

In early February 2022, the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce revised its economic forecasted for the special
administrative region this year, predicting that Hong Kong’s
economy will grow by 1.2 percent. Besides, Fitch downgraded
Hong Kong’s growth forecast to 1.5 percent and Morgan
Stanley slashed its forecast to 2 percent annually and expects
Hong Kong’s GDP to contract by 0.8 percent in earlier February
this year, according to Reuters. Although Hong Kong is
suffering the recent new Covid-19 variants flare up, the city has
a solid economic foundation with stable fiscal revenue, so it is
believed that Hong Kong’s economy will maintain stable growth
in 2022. And even facing the severe wave of Covid-19 cases
recently, the HKSAR Financial Secretary Mr. Paul Chan Mo-po
still said in his budget that the Hong Kong economy will have a
growth by 2 to 3.5 percent in 2022.
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The Company group consisted of three reporting segments,
and each individually managed with its own business offers
different products and services and requires different business
and management strategies; and amongst them the money
lending segment was of good steady performance to contribute
revenue for the Group during 2021.

In Asia, where border restrictions and geopolitical challenges
due to the outbreaks of Covid-19 are harder to navigate for
large funds from private equity and borrowings during 2021.
As travel restrictions begin to ease, private equity and lending
business activity across the Asia-Pacific region is set to keep
growing. Virtually, many businesses have taken on excess
debt in the past couple of years on the back of low interest
rates of borrowings. Since 2020, the People’s Bank of China
have rolled out a series of financial measures to support the
pandemic-hit economy, and for a balance economic recovery
with preventing risks. The central bank of China may consider
scaling back support for the Chinese economy in 2022 and cool
credit growth, but there are fears of derailing the recovery and
debt defaults. The Chinese government has implemented new
tight measures to regulate the total social financing (TSF) and
online financial services, with particular attention on peer-to-
peer (P2P) lending activities. The lending business model under
P2P is very simple and easy to establish, but the Hong Kong
lending business is of very distinctive regulated market features
to the lending business operation in China. Besides, the trust
that people have long placed in banks and traditional forms
of payment is increasingly being placed in digital money and
similar means. And this is giving rise to a whole host of new
services that are set to challenge traditional financial service
providers. Despite the global economic uncertainty and the
increasing market competition of the money lending industry
in Hong Kong, the loan demand in Hong Kong are still robust.
Facing the U.S.-China trade war and the pandemic of Covid-19
impacts, our money lending subsidiary had kept more business
relationship with partnership alliance for sub-mortgage loans
mainly on high net worth customers and from business referrals
in 2021. Certainly the subsidiary group will continue its existing
network and strategies to extend the business growth in 2022.
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In 2021, we have experienced a global shortage of transport
capacity and a limited supply of delivery drivers in different
countries. But, there has been an unprecedented growth in
online retail, especially in direct-to-consumer services during
2021. In the last two years, we have been taught by experience
from the market fluctuations that we must be both flexible
and agile to operate business in the competitive and growing
eCommerce market. It is for sure that eCommerce landscape
in operation will continue to change in 2022. And eCommerce
logistics will continue to evolve to keep pace with the expanding
consumer expectations.

According to the analysis of Digital Commerce 360, the top
online marketplaces in the world sold US$3.23 trillion of goods
in 2021. Sales through platforms like those operated by Alibaba,
Amazon, eBay and others accounted for two-thirds of global
ecommerce sales. The top three global online marketplaces
ranked by the gross merchandise value (GMV) were still Taobao,
Tmall and Amazon. Although these three marketplaces account
for approximately two-thirds of the US$3.23 trillion in GMV of
the Top 100, several other marketplaces around the world grew
significantly since 2020, including the mass merchant Ozon in
Russia and the vintage home furnishings platform Chairish in
U.S.A.

To avoid big losses and hardship under the U.S.-China trade
war and embargo, our eCommerce subsidiary group had a
market shift with sales of higher-priced products to Europe via
the European marketplace and platforms since 2020. During
2021, the subsidiary business faced with great difficulties
including the requirement for heavier sum of retention money
on European marketing platforms, and more returns resulted
from the delay in goods received by the customers due to
flight restrictions and lack of local logistics to support punctual
delivery. The subsidiary management strived very hard to keep
business running smoothly during 2021; and with the hope for
a steady business operation this year in the highly competitive
eCommerce market, its management will shape for better
improvement with different strategic choice and methods to run
its business, especially under the Covid-19 variants pandemic.
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In China, there are growing needs of education to help
establish a more healthy and knowledge economy and its
online education market has a raging fire development in the
recent years. Looking back to situations in 2020, China’s
education industry was undoubtedly one of the industries
most affected by the Covid-19 pandemic; and the coronavirus
outbreak accelerated the rapid need and development of
online education, while making it more difficult to compete in a
crowded market. Since then venture capitalists have invested
in online education leaders while Chinese tech giants have also
solidified their bets on the online education; and it has been
once expected that China online education market will be an
opportunity for great business potential.

In the first half of 2021, our wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company engaged in online education business in China, j# /!
A2 A] Huzhou Company had the VIE Agreements arrangement
with FREMARE (At ) # B B AR A R Capital Wowxue(Beijing)
Education Technology Limited (JKE“Wowxue”), was striving
hard to perform under the highly competitive market situations
in China. However, under the shuangjian reforms on education
in China, there are adverse effects and stress to both parents
and online education operators. In fact, the normal business
operation of Wowxue was temporarily suspended since the
“Opinions” announcement commenting on the education
business activities of after school tutoring made by the PRC
authority in July 2021. Then the new education regulations
issued in August by the Beijing Municipality Government
incorporating the Opinions on after school tutoring educational
activities have great impacts and detrimental effects on the
future operation of our subsidiary group of online education
under the VIE structure. We have decided to undergo an
organizational restructuring of the education business segment
by having Wowxue become a wholly-owned subsidiary in
the near future, so that we can retain its expertise to resume
Wowxue operation by providing different kind of educational
services and new business running in the China education
industry.
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Above all, the Company and its subsidiaries committed great
efforts to run the different segment businesses with best
efforts in order to generate income from sources in different
markets despite the global economic fluctuation during 2021.
The impact from Covid-19 pandemic had caused huge number
of deaths, hospitalization pressure in different countries, and
the business activities of each country worsened in the global
market last year. Moving forward our management team will
continue to explore methods to retain business operation in an
efficient manner to face challenges ahead, and seek for any
potential business opportunities for developments from time to
time, so as to diversify revenue stream sources and business
expansion. We always aim at well-positioned all our business
segments to deliver growth on our shareholder’s value. Here,
I would like to thank all our staff for their dedication in today’s
challenging environment to meet the global market fluctuations
especially during the Covid-19 pandemic, and also our business
partners and shareholders for their ongoing trust and support
for us over the years.

Zhu Min
Chairman
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The global economy was still volatile and distorted in the
financial market worldwide during 2021. Though facing the
complicated unstable changing environment both at home and
abroad, all regions over China have strictly implemented the
Central government decisions, and the State Councils continue
to consolidate and expand the achievements made in the
prevention and control of Covid-19 epidemic, and in areas for
the economic and social development as well. Despite U.S.-
China trade war, the Covid-19 epidemic and the global supply-
chain disruptions, the China economy had sound growth
momentum consolidated with the recovering demand in U.S.
and Europe plus ASEAN supply woes boosted exports; China’s
trade surplus in 2021 had reached the largest ever and up
about 30 percent from the previous year, said by the China
General Administration of Customs in January 2022.

According to National Bureau of Statistics of China, the Chinese
economy in 2021 had the gross domestic product (GDP) of 8.1
percent growth over the previous year, amidst the intensifying
tariff battle with the United States, the drastic impacts of
the Covid-19 pandemic, and efforts to deleverage debt and
financial risks in the economy. In 2021, the year-on-year growth
rate of total value added of the industrial enterprises above the
designated size increased by 9.6 percent and the value added
of the wholesale and retail trades was up by 11.3 percent over
the previous year. The additional information from the National
Bureau of Statistics of China for the year 2021 also showed
that the fixed-asset investment of the country increased by
4.9 percent year-on-year; and on its average estimation, the
producer price of industrial products increased by 8.1 percent
over the same period of last year, and the purchasing price of
industrial products increased by 11.0 percent.
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After having experienced the severe recession in the previous
two years, Hong Kong economy staged a visible recovery
in 2021. The economy turned to have a strong year-on-year
expansion of 7.8 percent in the first half of 2021 and thanks
to a sharp rebound of global demand, that posted further solid
growth of 5.5 percent and 4.8 percent respectively in the third
and fourth quarters of 2021 as the local epidemic was well
contained during the period. However, the recovery of the
economy was uneven mainly due to the still frozen inbound
tourism; and for 2021 as a whole, the Hong Kong economy
expanded by 6.4 percent though its size was still about 2
percent below that of 2018.

In recent years, the massive collapse of the virtual lending
platforms: peer-to-peer (P2P) for online social lending in China
has spread panic among stakeholders particularly investors in
losing confidence at their stakes, operators’ liquidity and even
the solvency of the platforms. With the restrictive government
regulations on the P2P lending industry in China, a slew of
Chinese fintech and P2P lending platforms have sought for
expansion in lenient markets in Southeast Asia (SEA), after the
prolonged industry crackdown in China.

The lending business in China are of huge potential but more
risks than that in Hong Kong, and both markets have very
distinctive regulatory requirements for the business operation.
The Hong Kong government has always reminded borrowers on
the risks while borrowing, and all moneylenders must operate
business in strict compliance with Money Lenders Ordinance
and license restrictions. Besides, the Companies Registry (CR)
has issued new guidelines and revised licensing conditions
to money lenders, with a view to address increasing public
concerns over irresponsible lending practices of certain money
lenders. The new CR guidelines took effect from 1 April 2021
and the new licensing conditions apply to licenses granted or
renewed on or after 16 March 2021.
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In 2021, the world market fluctuated financially on both the
political and economic grounds with online shopping became
more accessible than ever, and the Covid-19 pandemic
had posed unpredictable concerns further on the worldwide
economy. The lockdowns, travel restrictions, social hygiene
and distance, and government regulations on group gathering
prohibitions etc. in response the outbreak of the Covid-19
variants in different countries had greatly affected people’s living
and business activities. The restrictive measures by different
countries on flight and local transport had posed serious logistic
problems and losses to consumers and eCommerce business.
In fact, eCommerce activity in different countries has seen a
huge jump over the past two years, with the Covid-19 pandemic
forcing customers to find alternative means to browse and buy,
due to lockdowns, store closures and other hygiene restrictions.
That has accelerated the already rising trend towards online
shopping, which now remains a key focus for some time,
with the new Covid-19 variants causing more outbreaks,
increasing concerns about a return to physical interaction.
Further, consumers are getting accustomed to use internet and
mobile apps daily for online shopping where, they can have
the practical innovative features and bonus being adopted by
eCommerce sites through trusted, secure digital wallets.

Despite the market instability in the outside world, the market
growth of online education business in China was expanding
steadily in a rational way with the enhancement of the modern
technology and knowledge in the first half of 2021. Since July
2021, China imposed shuangjian (literally meaning ‘double
reduction’), a set of government policies that aimed to decrease
the work pressures of children, such as banning extra-curricular
tutoring services from operating during weekends and hiring
overseas-based teachers for online learning in China. A broad
set of reforms for private and online K-12 education was then
announced by the local governments in China.
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According to data compiled by Chinese research firm 100EC
that at least 25 large Chinese online education firms closed up
their shops in 2021 after the government banned for the profit
private tutoring business operation. Amongst the companies
that disappeared including firms that saw their founders
disappear and those that filed for bankruptcy, nearly half of
them were located in Beijing, as reviewed in a recent 100EC
report.

In 2021, the Cybernaut Group comprised three segments of
subsidiary groups, namely those engaged in the money lending
business; eCommerce business and internet online education
services.

The subsidiary of Cybernaut Group engaged in money lending
business in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(“MLQO”, Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Time Credit
Limited (TCL) prudently maintained business operation steadily
with the existing market strategy in 2021. During the year
under review, the subsidiary generated revenue mainly from
granting the first mortgage property loans to customers for
their financial needs. In fact, Hong Kong government authority
has periodically advised borrowers to be aware of the unstable
and uncertain economic environment and the risks of increased
interest rate etc. through media. Our subsidiary group, TCL
does not conduct business to SMEs at retail level, but target
on the potential borrowers sought from the social and business
networks of the management and marketing team, with its good
credit control efficiency. With the high net worth customer base
and partnership alliance on sub-mortgage arrangements, the
TCL loan portfolio continues serving potential clients like Hong
Kong Listco and big corporate clients under the current market
conditions and the Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong. TCL
contributed a steady income stream to the Cybernaut Group
during the year under review.
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Today, online marketplaces are booming and highly competitive.
In 2021, our eCommerce business subsidiary group with
the trade name of “VT Zero” strived extremely hard to meet
overseas market demand under the Covid-19 pandemic and
the global economic fluctuation. Moreover, with the new
requirements issued by the online market platform, the platform
policy changes on eCommerce collection activities and retention
money increase, VT Zero could not maintain steady business
to achieve expected business revenues in the product sales
trends for the second-handed refurbished mobile phones of
good brand names. Various restrictions, absense and bans
on hygiene arrangement and international flight in both Hong
Kong and overseas had further increase the burdens to provide
punctual delivery of goods to the consumers. During the year
under review, VT Zero not only had to face the fluctuated
global market product price competition resulted from the
U.S.-China trade war and the Covid-19 pandemic, but also
encountered headaches and high cost involved for the unusual
logistic arrangements for the punctual delivery promise to the
customers.

In the first half of 2021, the subsidiary segment of Cybernaut
Group engaged in the online education business through
the VIE arrangements had maintained its business operation
steadily to meet the market demand. Followed the July 2021
shuangjian (literally meaning ‘double reduction’) government
policy imposed in China, the Company made a voluntary
announcement on 27 July 2021 for the Opinions issued in
July by the General Office of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of China and the General Office of the State
Council of the People’s Republic of China (PRC), on Further
Reducing the Burden of Compulsory Education Students’
Homework and Off-campus Training* (BRI —FREE K
ERRBEEEEENRIMINIAENER)) (the “Opinions”),
which regulated institutions offering tutoring on the school
curriculum. Additionally, a further announcement was made
on 28 December 2021 for the business update of the online
education business in China; where it mentioned that together
with the Opinions, the Beijing Municipality’s Measures to Further
Reduce the Burden of Homework and After School Tutoring on
Students in Compulsory Education in Beijing issued in August
2021 by the Beijing Municipality Government and the Beijing
Municipal Committee of the Communist Party of China was then
regarded as the “New Regulations” for after school K-9 tutoring
and education business.
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In compliance with the New Regulations, the subsidiary
business providing online after-school tutoring services for
academic subjects included in China’s compulsory education
system offered to Kindergarten to Year Nine (“K-9” or
“Compulsory Education”) students in PRC by RABKE: (4t
) BERFRAERAQT Capital Wowxue (Beijing) Education
Technology Limited (JAZ“Wowxue”), which was operated
under the arrangement of the VIE Agreements with N2
7] Huzhou Company, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company in China, was suspended since July 2021, until the
new regulatory requirements of education is clear enough
for the subsidiary to follow and resume business completely.
The existing VIE arrangement by Huzhou with Wowxue will
become inappropriate at the time the ICP license is cancelled.
Such a suspension of the current online education services by
Wowxue may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s
revenues for the financial year ending 31 December 2021 and
the subsequent periods. After seeking professional advice, the
management of the Company will continue to explore potential
projects on education business for the subsidiary segment.
Anyhow, Wowxue will continue as an education provider in
PRC for the Group; and the Company will undergo series of
restructuring process, so as for Wowxue to become a wholly-
owned subsidiary, and ultimately as part of the Group to resume
education business activities from its currently suspended
operation.
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Revenue

Money Lending

Even though the keen market competition and the wide spread
of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“Covid-19”), the revenue of
our money lending business increased by approximately 3.6%
when comparing to 2020. The revenue contributed by this
business was approximately RMB17.5 million for the year ended
2021 (for the year ended 2020: RMB16.9 million). The increase
is mainly due to the increase of borrowing interest rate.

ECommerce

The revenue contributed by this business was approximately
RMB102.8 million for the year ended 2021 (for the year
ended 2020: RMB243.7 million).
by approximately 57.8% is mainly due to price and supply

The revenue decreased

fluctuation on second hand iPhone from USA; continuous
logistics cost increase hits the margin; and logistics time to
European warehouse unstable and mostly delay and hit the
sales stability on marketplace.

Internet Education Services

The revenue contributed by this business which was acquired
in November 2017 was approximately RMB6.1 million for the
year ended 2021 (for the year ended 2020: RMB24.6 million).
The revenue decreased by approximately 75.2% is mainly due
to the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the PRC
Government intermittently and the suspension of this segment
on mid 2021 due the new regulatory rules and requirement on
after school tutoring and educational activities.
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Cost of Sales/Service Rendered

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised costs of raw
materials, labour and other direct costs of sales and services
rendered. During the year, the Group’s cost of sales decreased
by approximately 53.8% from RMB218.8 million in 2020 to
approximately RMB101.1 million in 2021. The decrease is
mainly due to the decrease of revenue of eCommerce business

and internet education services business.

Gross Profit

The Group experienced a gross profit of approximately
RMB25.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a gross
profit of approximately RMB66.5 million. There was a decrease
of approximately 62.0% in gross profit. The gross profit was
from the segment business in money lending, eCommerce and
internet education services business.

Impairments Loss

During the year under review, the Group had incurred the
following major impairments:

(@) Impairment loss was recognised on goodwill of
eCommerce business and internet education services
business of approximately RMB212.4 million (for the
year ended 2020: RMB92.5 million) mainly due to some
possibility of unexpected situations for performance and
business growth, with eCommerce business mainly due
to the Covid-19 pandemic and fierce competition in the
eCommerce industry and the suspension of internet
education services business since mid 2021.

(b) Impairment loss was recognised on intangible assets of
internet education services business of approximately
RMB52.8 million (for the year ended 2020: Nil) mainly due
to the suspension of this business on mid 2021.
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Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs comprised sales
commissions, sales staff costs and transportation costs. During
the year, the cost decreased by approximately 61.9% from
approximately RMB4.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately RMB1.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The decrease is mainly due to the decrease
of transportation expenses in the operation volume decrease of
eCommerce business.

Administrative Expenses and Other Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses and other expenses
decreased by approximately 24% from approximately RMB69.6
million for year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB52.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The decrease is mainly due to the effective cost control in
subsidiaries and the downsize of eCommerce business in 2021.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs composed of bank loans and
promissory notes were approximately RMB28.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB19.6 million). The
interest rate for bank loan was at a floating interest rate ranging
from prime rate -2% or IBOR rate 1 month +3% whichever is
lower to 7% per annum (2020: 3.25%).

Taxation

The PRC subsidiary of the Company engaged in internet online
education service provider still successfully qualified the China’s
High and New-Technology Enterprise (HNTE) program and
obtained the Chinese High-tech Enterprise Certification (4 E
SETEMT 2 RFE) in 2017. Consequently, the subsidiary is
entitled to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT”) rate of 156%
until 24 October 2024.
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Loss for the Year

As a result of the challenging conditions, the Group’s loss
(included the discontinued operations) for the year ended
31 December 2021 was approximately RMB255.9 million,
compared to approximately RMB77.4 million for the previous
year. The loss decreased when comparing to previous year
was mainly due to the impairment loss of intangible assets of
internet education services business of approximately RMB52.8
million (for the year ended 2020: Nil) and the impairment loss
of goodwill of eCommerce business and internet education
service business of approximately RMB212.4 million (for the
year ended 2020: RMB92.5 million). The Group’s loss per
share from continuing and discontinued operations increased
from RMB1.92 cents for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
RMBG6.49 cents in 2021.

Final Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank balances and cash
was approximately RMB44.6 million (2020: RMB87.2 million).

Total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately RMB53.8 million (2020: RMB312.0 million). The
Group has an outstanding bank loan and promissory notes of
Nil and RMB242.8 million, respectively as at 31 December 2021
(2020: RMB3.4 million and RMB334.7 million, respectively).
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies

Material Disposal of Subsidiary and Investment

During the reporting period, the Group had no other material
acquisitions or disposal.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not pledge any
buildings and leasehold land as collaterals for bank loan granted
to the Group (2020: Nil). Gearing ratio is calculated based on
total debt at the end of the year divided by total assets at the
end of the year multiplied by 100%. As at 31 December 2021,
the gearing ratio of the Group was 69% (2020: 46%).

Currency Exchange Exposures

The Group’s purchases and sales are mainly denominated in
US dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The operating
expenses of the Group are mainly in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Group has well monitored and managed its
exposure to fluctuation in currency exchange rates.

As at 31 December 2021, saved as disclosed above and in this
report, the Group is not involved in any current material legal
proceedings, nor is the Group aware of any pending or potential
material legal proceedings involving the Group.
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On 9 November 2015, the Company issued promissory notes
for an aggregate principal amount of HK$213.6 million at
2% interest per annum (the “PN1”) upon completion of the
acquisition of Soaring International Holdings Limited to Mr.
Lee Yim (“Mr. Lee”) and Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin (“Mr. Ng”) (the
“Vendors”), independent third parties not connected to the
Group. The PN1 are due on the third anniversary of the date
of issue. On 2 November 2018, the Vendors and the Company
have agreed to extend the maturity of the PN1 to 9 November
2020.

On 9 July 2019, the Company entered into the deed of
amendment with the Vendors to extend the maturity date of the
PN1 to 9 July 2021 and decrease the interest rate from 2% to
1% per annum effective from 9 July 2019.

On 2 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed of
amendment with the Vendors to extend the maturity date of the
PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate remained to 1% per
annum effective from 2 December 2020. The effective interest
rate of PN1 is 9.89%.

The fair value of PN1 was approximately to their principal
amount calculated at the effective interest rate of 7.89% per
annum. The PN1 is classified as non-current liabilities and are
carried at amortised cost until settlement on due date.

From year 2018 to 2020, the Company issued four promissory
notes of each principal amount of HK$55,000,000 (the “PN2”,
“PN3”, “PN4”, “PN5”), non-interest bearing, upon fulfillment of
profit guarantee by Cybernaut Technology International Limited
and its subsidiaries (“CTIL"). The PN2 to PN5 will be maturity
on the second anniversary of the date of issue. The effective
interest rate of the PN2, PN3, PN4 and PN5 are 13.36%,
9.78%, 9.78% and 15.36% respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, PN2 to PN5 was
transferred/assigned to Win All Management Limited (“Win
All") & Wide Select Investments Limited (“Wide Select”) which
are wholly-owned by the Vendors, on 25 September 2020
and 4 December 2020, the maturity date of PN2 to PN4 were
extended to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate amended to 1%
from 4 December 2020.
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On 30 June 2021, all the holders of promissory notes (the “PN
holders”) agreed to extend the maturity date of PN1 to PN5 to
31 March 2023 as well. And the interest rate of PN5 was then
changed to 1% per annum with effective from 30 June 2021.

During the year 2021, the PN holders had partly redeemed the
principal amount of PN1 and the remaining aggregate principal
amounts of PN1 was HK$171,416,000.

On 31 December 2021, the Company and PN holders entered
in to deed of amendment to reorganise and assign all the
promissory notes of the Group with the principal and interest
amounting to approximately HK$368,902,000 (approximately
to RMB301,644,000) and HK$9,663,000 (approximately to
RMB8,102,000) in total respectively to two new holders of
two new promissory notes namely New PN1 and New PN2
with principal amounting to HK$208,208,000 (approximately
to RMB172,798,000) and HK$183,208,000 (approximately
to RMB152,050,000) respectively. The management of the
Group considers that the terms of the deed of amendment are
substantially different as the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms discounted using the original
effective interest rate is different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability
by more than 10 per cent. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Therefore, the Group derecognised the original promissory
notes outstanding and recognised the two new promissory
notes measured at fair value as at the date of extinguishment.
The difference between the carrying amount of the promissory
notes derecognised and the fair value of the New PN1 and
New PN2 amounting to approximately HK$80,696,000
(approximately to RMB66,973,000) is recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2021. (for details,
please refer to Note 35 to the financial statements in this annual
report).
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, certain business
activities of the Group which were/are categorised as
“restricted” business under the PRC laws and regulations have
been carried out by the Group through a series of contractual
arrangements (the “VIE Agreements”), and that happened at
the acquisition of Cybernaut Technology International Limited
(the “Project Company”) on 22 November 2017. The VIE
agreements are a series of agreements, including but not
limited to the Management Services Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Irrevocable Option
Agreement, the Power of Attorney, the Undertaking Letters and
the Declaration Letters, executed for the purpose of establishing
the variable interest entity arrangement between Huzhou
Company and Wowxue, through which the financial results of
Wowxue are consolidated with the financial results of Huzhou
Company as “variable interest entity” (as defined in Hong Kong
and International Financial Reporting Standards). The VIE
business and VIE Agreements are disclosed in the circular dated
27 October 2017 and as below.
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Investing in the PRC by foreign investors is primarily regulated
by “JNAKEEZEIEEEH (2017F18%5]) (the Guidance
Catalogue of Industries for Foreign Investment (2017 Revision)*)”
(the “Catalogue”), which was promulgated and is amended from
time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC and
the National Development and Reform Commission. Pursuant
to the Catalogue, the value-added telecommunication services
related business of Wowxue is considered as “restricted”
under the categories of value-added telecommunication
services. Therefore, foreign investors can only operate value-
added telecommunication business in the PRC under joint
ventures with the foreign portion of the total investment and
hence shareholding below 50%. As Hong Kong Cybernaut,
the subsidiary of the Target Company, is the foreign investor of
Huzhou Company, it is not allowed to indirectly hold more than
50% equity interest in Wowxue through Huzhou Company or
directly hold more than 50% equity interest in Wowxue under
the PRC laws.

In light of the above, Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders have entered into the VIE Agreements
on 31 August 2017 (as amended by supplemental agreements
dated 25 September 2017) for the Reorganisation in order to
enable the financial results, the entire economic benefits and
the risks of the businesses of Wowxue to flow into Huzhou
Company and to enable the Project Company to have indirect
control over Wowxue as contemplated under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

For identification purpose only
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The Company agrees that it would unwind the VIE Agreements
as soon as the relevant laws and regulations allow the value-
added telecommunications business in the PRC to be operated
by foreign investors without adopting a VIE structure. However,
it is uncertain at this stage when the restrictions on foreign
ownership in value-added telecommunications businesses will
be lifted in the PRC. Under the Irrevocable Option Agreement,
the Registered Shareholders must return to Huzhou Company
or its nominee any consideration the Registered Shareholders
had received from Huzhou Company for the acquisition of the
equity interest in Wowxue.

Up to 31 December 2021 of this report and 14 April 2022 for
approval of the audited annual financial results, the Group has
not encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies since the suspension of the Wowxue business.

The PRC Legal Adviser has confirmed, among others, that (i)
the use of the VIE structure and the VIE Agreements do not
violate the relevant prevailing laws and regulations in the PRGC;
(i) the VIE Agreements would not be deemed as concealing
illegal intentions with a lawful form and void under the PRC
contract law; and (iiij save for the clause providing that the
arbitration tribunal may award injunctive relief or winding up
orders and that the courts in Hong Kong, the Cayman Islands
and the PRC may grant temporary injunctive relief or other
temporary remedies, which may not be enforceable under PRC
law, the VIE Agreements are enforceable under the laws of the
PRC. Based on the above, the Directors believe that the VIE
Agreements conferring significant control and economic benefits
from Wowxue to the Target Company are enforceable under the
relevant laws and regulations.
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The VIE Agreements

(1) Management Services Agreement

Date

Parties

Scope of
services

31 August 2017

(1) Wowxue;

(2)  Huzhou Company; and

(3) The Registered Shareholders.

Huzhou Company shall provide investment
advice, planning and other business advice
on the operation and technical services of
Wowxue in accordance with the requirements
of Wowxue. Huzhou Company shall
participate and assist in the management
of the project operation and complete the
management consulting service in time and
submit the relevant management consulting
report within the time limit required by
Wowxue, and provide the required technical
services. Such services include but not
limited to the following:

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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(i

(i)

to select and facilitate the
employment of qualified persons and
experts in respect of the businesses
of Wowxue in internet education
information services and teacher
qualifications, and to provide the
required or appropriate training to
the managers, department heads,
administration staff and accounting
staff and all other employees of
Wowxue;

provide strategic advice, from time to
time, on the negotiation and signing
of contract(s) which is/are required or
in connection with the daily operation
and business of Wowxue;

formulate rules, regulations,
internal control policies, risk control
management systems, standards
administration, accounting, budget,
marketing, human resources and
operating policies, as well as the
practices which are relevant to or
affecting the business of Wowxue,
and assist Wowxue in the effective
implementation of relevant policies
and practices;
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(vi)

(vil)

(viii)

(i)

to plan, prepare, as well as provide
public relations services and promote
activities for Wowxue and to assist
Wowxue to enter into contract(s)
with third parties for businesses such
as internet education information
services and certification of teachers’
qualification;

from time to time or at the request of
Wowxue to review and improve the
operation of Wowxue;

in general, to perform all reasonable
and necessary actions in relation to
Wowxue’s business operations in an
effective and appropriate manner;

on behalf of Wowxue, to make
investments related to its business
scope, establish branches,
subsidiaries and make decisions on
merger and acquisitions;

to provide Wowxue with the global
market information, market research
data and analysis on internet
education information services and
certification of teachers’ qualification;
and

to provide investment advice,
planning and other business
advice on the operation and
project investment of Wowxue,
and to participate and assist in the
management of project operations in
accordance with the requirements of
Wowxue.
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Fee

Guarantee

Term

Wowxue shall make provisions for and
pay management and consultancy fees
to Huzhou Company on an annual basis,
which shall be equivalent to the total
income of Wowxue minus all relevant
costs, expenses and taxes payable by
Wowxue. If there is a loss in a given
year, then no provisions for the said
management and consultancy fees would
be required for the year until Wowxue
records a surplus.

The Registered Shareholders have pledged
their holding of 100% of the equity interest
in Wowxue to guarantee Wowxue to fulfill
its obligations under the Management
Services Agreement.

A term of ten years from the date of
signing of the Management Services
Agreement. Upon the expiry of each
term, Huzhou Company is entitled at its
sole and absolute discretion to renew
the Management Services Agreement
for a further term of ten years for each
renewal. Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders are not entitled to terminate
the Management Services Agreement
during the term of such agreement.
Huzhou Company is entitled to terminate
the Management Services Agreement by
giving thirty days of prior notice in writing
to Wowxue.
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)

Irrevocable Option Agreement

31 August 2017 (as amended by a

supplemental agreement dated 25
September 2017)

Date
Parties (1)
@
@)
Subject ()}
Term

Wowxue;
Huzhou Company; and
The Registered Shareholders.

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders irrevocably grant
the right to Huzhou Company to
purchase the entire equity interest in
Wowxue for no consideration or, if
nil consideration for purchasing the
entire equity interest in Wowxue by
Huzhou Company is unacceptable
by relevant local regulations or
government departments, at such
consideration will be determined by
Huzhou Company. The Registered
Shareholders must return to Huzhou
Company or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered
Shareholders had received from
Huzhou Company for the acquisition
of the equity interest in Wowxue;
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(i)

(iv)

Huzhou Company shall also have
the right at its discretion to direct
Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders to transfer the equity
interest in Wowxue to a third party
designated or arranged by Huzhou
Company at no consideration or, if
nil consideration for purchasing the
entire equity interest in Wowxue by
a third party designated or arranged
by Huzhou Company is unacceptable
by relevant local regulations or
government departments, at such
consideration will be determined by
Huzhou Company. The Registered
Shareholders must return to Huzhou
Company or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered
Shareholders had received from
Huzhou Company for the acquisition
of the equity interest in Wowxue;

Huzhou Company may at any
time by way of serving a notice of
purchase (including by telephone,
e-mail, telegraph) to Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders in order to
exercise the option to purchase the
equity interest in Wowxue;

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders shall notify Huzhou
Company by way of written notice
in the event of a divorce, major
diseases, insolvency (including but
not limited to being prosecuted),
bankruptcy, dissolution or
deregistration, etc., which may
potentially affect their holding of
equity interest in Wowxue;
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(vi)

If any Registered Shareholders
by reason of divorce, insolvency,
death, bankruptcy, dissolution,
deregistration, etc, may lead to their
equity interest in Wowxue being
inherited or transferred to other
third party(ies) (including but not
limited to their spouse, heir, creditor,
etc.), and in the event that Huzhou
Company decided not to exercise
the option set out in paragraphs (i)
and (i) above, the other Registered
Shareholders shall exercise their right
of first refusal to acquire the relevant
equity interest in Wowxue such
that the party who had exercised
the right of first of refusal shall be
subject to the obligations under the
Management Services Agreement,
the Irrevocable Option Agreement,
the Loan Agreement and the Equity
Pledge Agreement; and

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders have covenanted,
among others, that:

(@ without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company,
they shall not sell, transfer,
mortgage, dispose of by way of
gift or dispose of in any other
manner any equity interest in
Wowxue or create any security
interest in such equity interest;
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Term

(b) without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company,
Wowxue shall not enter into
any transaction (except in the
ordinary course of business)
that may cause any materia
changes to its assets, liabilities,
operations, shareholders’
interests or other legal interests;
and

(¢) they shall not in any manner
supplement or amend the
articles of association of
Wowxue to the extent that
it may cause any materia
changes to the assets,
liabilities, operations,
shareholders’ interests or other
legal interests of Wowxue.

The exercise period of the option shall
remain in effect indefinitely as permitted
by the law and/or until Huzhou Company
having exercised such option.
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3)

Loan Agreement

31 August 2017 (as amended by a

supplemental agreement dated 25
September 2017)

Date

Parties (1)
@)

Subject ()}

(i

Huzhou Company; and

The Registered Shareholders.

Subject to the operational needs
of Wowxue, Huzhou Company
may at its discretion, from time to
time, provide an interest free loan
to the Registered Shareholders by
way of entrusted bank loans or by
other legal ways. The amount and
conditions of the loan, if provided,
shall be determined by Huzhou
Company at its sole discretion, and
such loan shall be used as the paid
in capital of Wowxue.

Formal loan agreement(s), entrusted
loan agreement(s) or other relevant
agreement(s) shall be entered into
between Huzhou Company, the
Registered Shareholders, and other
relevant parties according to the
actual situation.
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(4)

Interest

Term

Non-interest bearing

In the event of any of the following
circumstances, the loan will expire and the
Registered Shareholders shall repay the
loan at the request of Huzhou Company:

()  Wowxue having filed for or having
been subject to bankruptcy
petition, bankruptcy reorganization,
bankruptcy liquidation or winding up
petition; and

(i)  Huzhou Company having fully
exercised its right to purchase the
entire equity interest in Wowxue in
accordance with the Irrevocable
Option Agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreement

Date

Parties

Subject

Term

31 August 2017

(1)  Wowxue;

(2)  Huzhou Company; and

(3)  The Registered Shareholders.

The Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocable agreed to
pledge all the equity interest in Wowxue
that they own (including any interest
or dividend paid for such shares) to
Huzhou Company as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Wowxue
and the Registered Shareholders under the
Management Services Agreement.

The pledge shall remain valid until
Wowxue and the Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocably fulfilled all
the obligations (including, but not limited
to, the settlement and/or the payment of
the service charge, liquidated damages (if
any), etc.) under the Management Services
Agreement.
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(®)

Power of Attorney

Date

Parties

Subject

Term

31 August 2017
(1) Huzhou Company; and

(2) The directors of Wowxue, the
Registered Shareholders or the legal
representative of Wowxue

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the
directors of Wowxue, the Registered
Shareholders and the legal representative
of Wowxue have irrevocably appointed
Huzhou Company as its/their attorney-
in-fact to (i) exercise all the directors’
rights, shareholders’ rights and legal
representative’s rights (as the case may
be) including but not limited to passing
of board resolutions and shareholders’
resolutions as well as the right to
appoint or remove the directors, legal
representative, general manager and
other senior management of Wowxue;
(i) sign on their behalf all the documents
necessary to give effect to the VIE
Agreements; (iii) exercise all the rights
and powers under the Equity Pledge
Agreement and the right to deal with
the assets of Wowxue; and (iv) submit
documents to the competent company
registration authorities of Wowxue or other
relevant authorities for filing purpose.
As confirmed by Huzhou Company, the
authorizations under the Power of Attorney
will be granted to the relevant officers/
management of Huzhou Company who are
third parties independent to the Registered
Shareholders and their associates.

From the date of the Power of Attorney to
the earlier of the revocation or termination
of each of the Management Services
Agreement, Irrevocable Option Agreement,
Loan Agreement and Equity Pledge
Agreement
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(6)

Undertaking Letters

Date

Parties

Subject

31 August 2017 (as amended by a
supplemental letter dated 25 September
2017)

(1) Huzhou Company; and

(2) The directors of Wowxue, the
Registered Shareholders and the
legal representative of Wowxue

Pursuant to the Undertaking Letters,
the directors of Wowxue, the Registered
Shareholders and the legal representative
of Wowxue, irrevocably undertake that:
(i) they will act in accordance with the
instructions of Huzhou Company upon the
exercise of the powers of the directors of
Wowxue, the power of the shareholders
of Wowxue and the power of the lega
representative of Wowxue respectively;
and (i) each of the directors of Wowxue,
each of the Registered Shareholders of
Wowxue and the legal representative
of Wowxue has also undertaken not to
compete with the business operating by
Wowxue.

(6)
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(7)

Declaration Letters

Date

Parties

Subject

31 August 2017

(1) Zhao Yingming “YM Zhao” and his
spouse; and

(2)  Zhao Yingyong “YY Zhao” and his
spouse

pursuant to the Declaration Letters,
YM Zhao and his spouse, and YY Zhao
and his spouse irrevocably declare that,
among other things, (i) acknowledge that
all the equity interests held by YM Zhao
and YY Zhao in the Wowxue do not form
part of their matrimonial property and YM
Zhao and YY Zhao are entitled to sign
and fulfill the VIE Agreements personally;
and (i) the spouse of YM Zhao and YY
Zhao undertake that if they get a divorce,
they will not claim the relevant equity in
the Wowxue by any way, including but
not limited to the equity of distribution
of profits, acquiring residual properties
upon liquidation of Wowxue, investment
and incorporation of branch offices and
subsidiaries.
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Protection of the interest and assets of Wowxue
The Management Services Agreement, Irrevocable Option
Agreement, Loan Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement, and
the Undertaking Letters include a provision that each agreement
is binding on the successors and permitted assignees of the
respective parties. In the event of death, bankruptcy or divorce
of any party of the Registered Shareholders, Huzhou Company
may exercise its option under the Irrevocable Option Agreement
to replace the relevant party of the Registered Shareholders,
thus protecting the interest of the Group and allowing Huzhou
Company to enforce its rights under the VIE Agreements against
the successors and permitted assignees of the shareholders of
Wowxue.

In order to have effective control over and to safeguard the
assets of Wowxue, the VIE Agreements provide that, without the
prior written consent of Huzhou Company, Wowxue shall not, in
any form, dispose of significant assets (including but not limited
to any significant customer resources, fixed assets, trademarks,
technical knowhow or other intellectual property rights and/
or other equity interests or similar interests held by Wowxue),
operating rights and/or dispose of all or part of its business
(including sale, replacement, mortgage or disposal in any other
ways), with respect to it and/or its subsidiaries (if any).

The VIE Agreements also provide that, without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company, (i) Wowxue shall not increase
or decrease the registered capital or accept any investment
or capital increase from the Registered Shareholders or any
third parties to Wowxue or change the form of the company or
make any major adjustments regarding carrying out liquidation
or dissolution; or the business scope, mode, profit model,
marketing strategy, business policy or customer relationship;
(i) Wowxue and/or its subsidiaries shall not enter into any
partnership or joint venture or profit sharing arrangement with
any third parties, or any other arrangements for the transfer of
benefits or profit sharing in the form of royalties, service fees or
consultancy fees; and (iii) Wowxue shall not declare or distribute
dividends or any other interests to its shareholders, including
the after-tax profits that Wowxue has not yet allocated before
the commencement of the VIE Agreements.
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Since the completion to acquire the Project Company on 22
November 2017, there were no changes in the VIE structure
up to 31 December 2021. The Board has reviewed the VIE
structure regularly and determined if the Group encounters
any issues in safeguarding its assets held through the VIE
Agreements. If any major issues or difficulties arise in doing so,
the Board will engage legal advisers and/or other professionals
to assist the Group to tackle such issues or difficulties.

Financial information of Wowxue

Under the VIE Agreements, Wowxue is accounted for as a
consolidated structured entity that as a subsidiary of the Group.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, Wowxue recognised
total revenue of RMB8,094,000; profit of RMB11,106,000 and
Total assets of RMB54,957,000.

VIE Agreements confer economic benefits on Huzhou
Company from Wowxue

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group the right to enjoy all
the economic benefit of Wowxue by the Management Services
Agreement under which Wowxue will pay Huzhou Company
the management and consultancy fees equivalent to the total
income of Wowxue minus all relevant costs, expenses and taxes
payable by Wowxue.
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VIE Agreements confer control from Wowxue to Huzhou
Company

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group sufficient
control over the board and daily operations of Wowxue. The
appointment of directors of Wowxue is subject to Huzhou
Company being satisfied of the director’s qualification and
requires the explicit consent of Huzhou Company. If Huzhou
Company is dissatisfied with the performance of the director(s)
of Wowxue and proposes to remove such director(s), Wowxue
shall remove such person(s) as director(s) upon Huzhou
Company’s proposal. Also, Wowxue agreed with Huzhou
Company that Wowxue will, and its shareholders will cause
Wowxue to, accept proposals put forward by Huzhou Company
relating to the daily operations of Wowxue and employment of
staff, operate all business of Wowxue in the ordinary course
of business and refrain from any action or omission that may
adversely affect the business of Wowxue.

Moreover, under the Management Services Agreement,
Huzhou Company will formulate rules, regulations, internal
control policies, risk control management systems, standards
administration, accounting, budget, marketing, human
resources and operating policies, as well as the practices which
are relevant to or affecting the business of Wowxue, and assist
Wowxue in the effective implementation of relevant policies and

practices.

Furthermore, as a general housekeeping rule, Huzhou Company
will have the custody of the constitutional items of Wowxue,
including the company chop and seal. At the request of
Huzhou Company, Wowxue will provide it with the relevant
legal documents and other information on Wowxue’s business
operation.
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Economic risks of the Company

Huzhou Company, as the primary beneficiary of Wowxue,
is not obligated under any of the VIE Agreements to share
the losses of Wowxue or provide financial support to
Wowxue. Moreover, as a limited liability company, Wowxue
is solely liable for its own debts and losses. As advised
by the PRC Legal Adviser, the PRC laws and regulations
do not expressly require Huzhou Company to share the
losses of Wowxue or provide financial support to Wowxue.

Limitations in exercising the option to acquire
ownership in Wowxue

In the case that Huzhou Company exercises its options to
acquire all or part of the equity interest in Wowxue under
the Irrevocable Option Agreement, the acquisition of the
entire equity interests in Wowxue may only be conducted
to the extent as permitted by the applicable PRC laws
and may be subject to necessary approvals and relevant
procedures under applicable PRC laws.

Further, a substantial amount of other costs (if any),
expenses and time may be involved in transferring the
ownership of Wowxue, which may have a material adverse
impact on Huzhou Company’s businesses, prospects and
results of operation.

Huzhou Company may need to pay a substantial
amount of enterprise income tax for the income from the
ownership transfer according to the Irrevocable Option
Agreement.
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Arrangements when potential conflicts of interest arise

Huzhou Company shall rely on the VIE Agreements
to exercise control over and to draw the economic
benefits from Wowxue. Huzhou Company may not be
able to provide sufficient incentives to the Registered
Shareholders for the purpose of encouraging it/them to
act in the best interests of Wowxue, other than stipulating
the relevant obligations in the VIE Agreements. The
Registered Shareholders may breach the VIE Agreements
in the event of conflicts of interest or deterioration of its/
their relationship with Huzhou Company, the results of
which may have a material adverse impact on Huzhou
Company’s business, prospects and results of operation.

It is not assured that if conflicts arise, the Registered
Shareholders will act in the best interests of Huzhou
Company or that the conflicts will be resolved in favour of
Huzhou Company. If any of the Registered Shareholders
fail to perform its obligations under the respective VIE
Agreements, Huzhou Company may have to rely on legal
remedies under the PRC laws through legal proceedings,
which may be expensive, time-consuming and disruptive
to Huzhou Company’s operations and will be subject to
uncertainties as discussed above.

Other risks relating to the VIE Agreements

Firstly, despite (i) there is currently no indication that the
VIE Agreements will be interfered or objected by any PRC
regulatory authorities; and (i) the PRC Legal Adviser is
of the view that the VIE Agreements do not violate any
prevailing PRC laws or regulations, uncertainties still
exist regarding the interpretation and application of the
PRC laws and regulations especially in the area of value-
added telecommunications business. For instance, the
PRC regulatory authorities may issue further guidelines
that impose stricter foreign ownership requirements in that
area of business. Given the uncertain legal and business
environment in the PRC, it is difficult to foresee whether
the PRC regulatory authorities will take the same view
regarding the VIE Agreements as the PRC Legal Adviser in
the future.
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On 19 January 2015, the Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC published the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law
(FEARAMBEINEKRE X (ERBCRERR) and the
Explanation on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law (8
AP EARKMBEINEREZ (ERBCRERR) OO
BH) (collectively the “Draft Law”) pursuant to which foreign
companies gaining control over domestic companies via
contractual arrangements such as the VIE Agreements will
be regarded as foreign investments and will be governed
by the Draft Law when it is adopted and becomes law.
The PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that the Draft Law
is currently in consultation stage and has not yet been
effective or legally binding. As there are uncertainties on
the final content and interpretations of the Draft Law, there
is no assurance that the VIE Agreements will comply with
the Draft Law when it is adopted and becomes law.

Secondly, the VIE Agreements may not provide control
as effective as direct ownership. Huzhou Company does
not have any direct equity ownership in Wowxue and
has relied on the VIE Agreements to effect changes in
the management of Wowxue and make an impact on
its business decision making, as opposed to exercising
its rights directly as a shareholder. If Wowxue or its
shareholders refuse to cooperate, the Company will face
difficulties in effecting control over Wowxue’s operation of
business through the VIE structure, which may adversely
affect the Company’s business efficiency.
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Thirdly, according to the Regulations on the Administration
of Foreign-invested Telecommunication Enterprises
(2016 Revision) WP EREEEFDLEEEH T (2016 &
7])) (the “FITE Regulations”), which were promulgated
by the State Council of the PRC on 11 December 2001,
and amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February
2016, it requires a foreign investor who invests in a
value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in operating value-added
telecommunications businesses and a proven track
record of business operations overseas (the “Qualification
Requirement”). Currently, none of the applicable PRC
laws, regulations or rules provides clear guidance or
interpretation on the Qualification Requirement. Despite
the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirements, the Company intends to
acquire the entire equity interests in the Wowxue when
the PRC laws allow foreign investors to invest in value-
added telecommunications business in the PRC. The
Group plans to take steps to build up its track record
of overseas value-added telecommunications business
operations in an attempt to comply with the Qualifications
Requirements, i.e., to establish overseas office in
Hong Kong and to register a certain number of domain
names outside of the PRC for conducting operation of
websites and other businesses in relation to value-added
telecommunication services in Hong Kong in coming
years, so as to be qualified to acquire the entire equity
interests in the Wowxue when the relevant PRC laws
allow foreign investors to invest and to hold a majority
interest in value-added telecommunications enterprises in
PRC. However, there is a risk that when the restrictions
on foreign ownership in value-added telecommunications
businesses are lifted in the PRC, Huzhou Company may
still be required to unwind the VIE Agreements before
Huzhou Company’s foreign investor Hong Kong Cybernaut
is in a position to fully comply with the Qualification
Requirement. Therefore, there is no guarantee that the
steps taken will be sufficient to enable Huzhou Company
to ultimately acquire the ownership in Wowxue.
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Fourthly, the VIE Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.
Under the Management Services Agreement, Wowxue
is required to pay Huzhou Company management and
consultancy fees for the services rendered by Huzhou
Company. Such service fee payments between related
parties may be subject to scrutiny or challenge by the
PRC tax authorities within ten years after the taxable year
when such transactions are conducted.

Fifthly, the VIE Agreements are governed by the PRC laws.
When a dispute arises under any of the VIE Agreements,
the parties to the dispute may have to rely on legal
remedies under the PRC laws. The VIE Agreements
provide that dispute will be submitted to the South China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
EBHEBREEE SMHEZ B E) for arbitration to be
conducted in Shenzhen. The decision of such arbitration is
final and binding on the parties to the dispute.

Since the legal environment in the PRC is different
from that in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions, the
uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit the ability
of Huzhou Company to enforce the VIE Agreements.
There is no assurance that such arbitration result will
be in favour of Huzhou Company and/or that there will
not be any difficulties in enforcing any arbitral awards
granted, including specific performance or injunctive
relief and claiming damages by Huzhou Company. As
Huzhou Company may not be able to obtain sufficient
remedies in a timely manner, its ability to exert effective
control over Wowxue and the conduct of the value-
added telecommunication business could be materially
and adversely affected, and may disrupt the business of
Huzhou Company and have a material adverse impact on
Huzhou Company’s business, prospects and results of
operation.
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Lastly, the VIE Agreements provide that the arbitration
tribunal may award remedies over the equity interests
or assets of Wowxue or injunctive relief (e.g. for the
conduct of business or to compel the transfer of assets)
or order the winding up of Wowxue. The VIE Agreements
also include a clause in relation to dispute resolution
among the parties where, when awaiting the formation
of the arbitration tribunal or otherwise under appropriate
conditions, the parties thereto may seek temporary
injunctive relief or other temporary remedies from the
courts in Hong Kong, Cayman lIslands, the PRC and the
location where the principal assets of the Company and
Wowxue are located.

However, the PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that
pursuant to the PRC laws, the arbitration tribunal may
have no power to grant the aforementioned remedies or
injunctive relief or to order the winding up of Wowxue. In
addition, even though the VIE Agreements provide that
overseas courts (e.g. courts in Hong Kong and Cayman
Islands) shall have the power to grant certain relief or
remedies, such relief or remedies may not be recognised
or enforced under the PRC laws. As a result, in the event
that Wowxue or the Registered Shareholders breaches the
terms of the VIE Agreements, the Company may not be
able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and
its ability to exert effective control over Wowxue could be
materially and adversely affected. Huzhou Company does
not maintain any insurance to cover the risks relating to
the VIE Agreements.

The Board will continue to review the VIE Structure
regularly and determine if the Group encounters any
issues in safeguarding its assets held through the VIE
Agreements. If any major issues or difficulties arise in
doing so, the Board will continue to engage legal advisers
and/or other professionals to assist the Group to tackle
such issues or difficulties. Up to 31 December 2021, the
Group does not maintain any insurance to cover the risks
relating to the VIE Agreements.
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Despite the above, as advised by the PRC legal advisers
to the Company, the VIE Structure is in compliance with
and, to the extent governed by the PRC laws currently in
force, are enforceable under, the current PRC laws. The
Company will continue to monitor the relevant PRC laws
and regulations relevant to the VIE Structure and will take
all necessary actions to protect the Company’s interest in
the Structured Entity.

After further sought legal opinions from the PRC lawyers, the
subsidiary business engaged in online education under the VIE
structure and arrangement by Huzhou with Wowxue are still
effective, though the normal business operation of Wowxue
was temporarily suspended since the “Opinions” announcement
commenting on the education business activities of after school
tutoring made by the PRC authority in July 2021. Since the
new education regulations incorporating the Opinions (issued
in August by the Beijing Municipality Government) governing
the after school tutoring educational activities might have
lasting impacts and detrimental effects on the future operation
of the Company’s subsidiary group of online education under
the VIE structure, the Company then decided to undergo
organizational restructuring of the education business segment
by having Wowxue become a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company in the near future after considering all pros and
cons of an immediate dissolution of Wowxue, so that we can
retain expertise and existing clientele to resume Wowxue
operation with its assets on hand by providing different kind of
educational services and developing new market in the PRC
education industry. In early 2022, Wowxue has surrendered
the ICP licenses to the China government for its cancellation in
compliance with the new education regulations. However, there
are unexpected delay in progress than to our original schedule
time for the ICP license cancellation and register of changes
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for restructured subsidiary business of Woxue and its update of
the subsidiary segment by the PRC local authorities, due to the
temporary measures in place of government office closure and
regional hygene prevention and even travel restrictions because
of the recent control on pandemic outbreak of Covid-19 variants
in China. Such a delay in progress does not have any material
effect to the Company. In fact, both Huzhou and Wowxue have
encountered regional restrictions and lockdown recently.

Up to 31 December 2021, none of the VIE Agreements has
been unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the
adoption of VIE Agreements has been removed.

Taking into account of the current situations, a much longer
processing time for the Wowxue restructuring will be needed
and the Company management is confident to have the
procedures completed, and expects Wowxue become the
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company under our restructuring
framework by the end of the first half of 2022. And at the time
of this annual report, the Company still have an absolute control
over Wowxue through the VIE structure and arrangements.

In this Annual Report relating to the VIE Agreements. Mr. Zhu
Min is one of the beneficial owners of Wowxue. Thus, Wowxue
is an associate of Mr. Zhu and is a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The VIE
Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and
is subject to the reporting, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the
Company from (i) setting maximum aggregate annual caps for
the service fees payable by Wowxue to Huzhou Company under
the Management Services Agreement and the loan(s) to be
made available by Huzhou Company under the Loan Agreement
pursuant to Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules; and (i) setting
a fixed term for each of the VIE Agreements (other than the
Management Services Agreement) pursuant to Rule 14A.52 of
the Listing Rules, subject to certain conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total amount of
service fees paid by Wowxue to Huzhou Company under
the Management Services Agreement was approximately
RMB2,268,000 and the total amount of loans made available by

Huzhou Company under the Loan Agreement was nil.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.71(6), the independent non-executive
directors of the Company have reviewed and confirmed that
the transactions under the VIE Agreements had been entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
on normal commercial terms or better, and according to the
agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.
Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that nothing has come to
their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions
under the VIE Agreements (i) have not been approved by the
Board; (ii) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group for transactions involved the
provision of goods and services by the Group; (i) were not
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
terms of the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and (iv) no dividends or other distributions have been made
by Wowxue to the holders of its equity interest which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

In respect of the connected transaction announced on 9
July 2019 relating to financial assistance by connected
persons, the principal amount of the financial assistance was
HK$226,416,000 in total. The Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date
of the promissory note (PN1) to 9 July 2021 and decrease
the interest rate from 2% to 1% per annum effective from 9
July 2019. Then, On 2 December 2020, the Company entered
into the deed of amendment with the vendors to extend the
maturity date of the PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate
remained to 1% per annum effective from 2 December 2020.
The PN1 composed of two portions, namely PN1(a) and PN1(b);
and PN1(a) was issued to Wide Select with Mr. Lee as its
beneficiary, and PN1(b) to Win All with Mr. Ng as its beneficiary.
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On 30 June 2021, the Company extended the maturity date of
PN1 to 31 March 2023 with the PN1 holders. During the year
2021, both the PN1(a) and PN1(b) holders had partly redeemed
their PN1 principal amount in their name of Wide Select and
Win All, and the remaining balance of principal amounts as at
29 December 2021 in PN1(a) and PN1(b) were respectively,
HK$98,208,000 and HK$73,208,000. On 30 December 2021,
the Company has formed new PNs with the PN holders to
replace the old PNs, and the remaining principal of both PN1(a)
and PN1(b) had respectively became part of total principal
amounts of the New PN1 and New PN2 (Details refer to Note
35 of the Consolidated Financial Statement of the annual
report).

In respect to the connected transaction of the Share Purchase
Agreement with Cybernaut Education Limited (the “vendor”) on
26 July 2017, there was a profit guarantee by the vender for
the 4th period of six months ending 31 December 2019. The
Company received the Auditor’s Certificate confirming that the
4th guaranteed profit for the 4th guaranteed period had been
fulfilled in the business and set out in note 35. Accordingly,
the Company issued the 4th Promissory Note in the principal
amount of HK$55 million to the Vendor or its nominee(s) during
the year ended 31 December 2020 as set out in note 35, for the
partial settlement of the Consideration pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement dated 26 July 2017 which constitutes a
discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

RZZE-—FRA=1+H  KQaEPN1
BAEABPNIZEHAEREZE-_ZE—=F
ZA=+—HB -R=ZZE=-—%K " PNi(a)
EPN1(b)F B ABNESE AN ERERE
MWide Select ZWin AllfY) 3 5 PN14S &
% MPN1(@&EPN1p)RA—ZE - —F+=
AZ T BHAE%ES 5/598,208,000
7 7T }&73,208,0008 C - R =T = —
+-—AZ=Z+H " ARAIEEPNEHE AL
REFFELER  UBRERLER M
PN1(a) &2PN1(b)#&x T A& E 5 Bl &%
PN1&FTPN2AR $BEEH — 3o (G153
DR FRERE F B IREZMIFEIS) o

£ B Cybernaut Education Limited ([ &
FDR-_ZFE—tF A=+ B:AH
EhEcBEZX ST BEAREE_Z
—NE+-A=+—RALAEANFETE
,Hﬁf‘aﬁ!iTﬁiﬁé%lH%% DA E
AE - FRENERBHENELDREZ R
%UEE’%%?%}@%EEPE%EX  FIBER MR
35 AL - M 35T E - AR AR
HE-_T-_TF+-_A=+—HLEE
REBSHE-_ZT—tFLtA=+<BZ
EEMERABESFAERBARITASE
55,000,000/8 T 2 B UH#E & H 24 - A
REMEARE - EEK ETARRETA
ERLBATHEBERS -

Annual Report 2021
—E -8



All the related party transactions disclosed in Note 39 to the
Consolidated Financial Statement in this 2021 Annual Report
constituted connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but were all fully exempt
from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements. The Company confirmed that where any related
party transactions constituted connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Company has complied
with all requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Reference is made to the voluntary announcement of
the Company dated 11 January 2022 in relation to the
commencement of new business activity.

As stated in the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group planned to carefully
explore business potential to create more value for the
Shareholders. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) hereby announces that in view of the constantly
increasing demand for location-based services in Hong Kong
and the Asian-Pacific region, the Group has established a
new business division for the relevant business of providing
application of the technology of satellite data navigation and
location-based services (the “New Business”). As at the date of
the announcement, the Group primarily engages in eCommerce
business, internet education services and money lending
business.
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The Board believes that with the popularisation of 5G internet,
thriving development of portable internet, drone, and self-driving
industries, and the emergence of a large number of digital map
applications in particular, the demand and requirement for
location information services are increasing day by day. There
is demand for more accurate satellite location-based services
in sectors such as smart city development, communication,
the Internet of Vehicles, self-driving, the Internet of Things,
engineering surveying, infrastructure maintenance, logistics,
transportation and shipping as well as circumstances related to
preventing and addressing sudden disasters. Accordingly, if the
Group timely captures the valuable opportunity to commence
the New Business, the Group can not only build a more
diversified business portfolio, but also create more sources of
income for the Group, which will in turn increase the interests
of the Shareholders. The Board is of the view that commencing
the New Business will be in the interest of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.

Further announcement(s) in relation to the latest development of
the business of the Group will be made by the Company as and
when appropriate.

Also, reference is made to the inside information of the
Company dated 16 February 2022 in relation to the receipt of
writ of summons.

The Board also announced that on 15 February 2022, VT Zero
Limited (“Subsidiary Company”), a subsidiary of the Company,
has received a writ of summons issued in Court of First Instance
of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region by AHS Device Hong Kong Limited as plaintiff against
the Subsidiary Company as defendant. Pursuant to an Internet
Sales Service Cooperation Agreement entered between the
Plaintiff and the Subsidiary Company dated 1 August 2020
(the “Cooperation Agreement”), as set out in the indorsement
of claim, the plaintiff claims against the Subsidiary Company,
among others, for the liquidated sum of approximately
HK$25,800,000 being balance of the value of the plaintiff’'s
goods sold through the Subsidiary Company in accordance
with the Cooperation Agreement, return of the plaintiff's goods
together with interest and costs.
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The Company is currently seeking legal advice regarding
the relevant proceedings and is of the view that the claims
made under the writ of summons has no merits and therefore
will defend vigorously against them. The Company will keep
its shareholders and investors informed of any significant
development of the above proceedings and will make further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

With reference to the Company announcements on 27 July
2021 and 28 December 2021, in relation to the regulatory and
business update under the New Regulations for institutions
offering tutoring on the school curriculum and after school off-
campus training, the Company is currently undergoing business
restructuring on Wowxue and upon completion the existing
VIE Agreements between Wowxue and Huzhou will become
inappropriate.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had about 83 staff
members employed in mainland China and Hong Kong (2020:
145). Total staff costs for the year were approximately RMB14.9
million (2020: RMB21.5 million). During the year, the Group
continued to reinforce the training to its staff by providing
training and study opportunities for management staff and
professional technicians. In addition, the Group has provided a
timely update to all staff about the latest government policies of
the industry to continuously enhance the professional standard
and quality of the staff.
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Meanwhile, the Group has provided competitive remuneration
for staff which encourages them to commit themselves and
serve customers wholeheartedly. The Group operates share
option scheme for the purpose to provide incentives and
rewards to eligible directors and employees of the Group
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
The Group granted 120 million share options to its eligible
employees during the financial year as announced on 7 May
2019. The remuneration payable to the senior management of
the Company (excluding Directors and Chief Executive Officer)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 was determined with
reference to their position, responsibilities and experience and
prevailing market condition.

Our money lending business is required to and has, at all times,
strictly complied with all relevant laws and regulations. In the
opinion of our Directors, in addition to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), MLO constituted
a significant influence on our Group’s money lending business
during the year. The MLO is the principal ordinance which
governs the money lending business in Hong Kong. Our money
lending business has been conducted through the subsidiary of
our Company. Since the first granting of money lenders licence
to our subsidiary, we have never received any objection from
and have never been investigated by the Registrar of Money
Lenders nor the Commissioner of Police regarding the renewal
of the money lenders licence. To the best of our knowledge,
our Group has complied with the MLO in all material aspects,
and that our Directors are not aware of any matters that might
come to their attention that our money lenders licence would be
suspended, terminated or would not be renewed in foreseeable
future.
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The trading partners and investors of China, have been closely
watching the health of the world’s second-largest economy
as the trade war between U.S. and China intensified, takes a
heavier toll on businesses and investment, and been fueling
worries of a global recession. In fact, the China economy
has recovered and grown in a quicker than expected pace
though the major drainage on economic growth was due to
the Covid-19 outbreak; the coronavirus disruptions around
the world has fuelled the demand for the Chinese goods and
exports.

Government authorities in Hong Kong and China have so far
stuck to “dynamic zero covid” policy seeking to curb outbreaks
as soon as they occur by extensive contact tracing, testing
and isolation. Dr. Albert Au of the Centre of Health Protection
(CHP) said on 10 March 2022, that likely the Omicron (Covid-19
variant) outbreak in Hong Kong might have peaked at the
beginning of March and there were signs that infections were
dropping.

Hong Kong’s economy is expected to grow by 2 to 3.5
percent in 2022, with a better performance in the second half
of this year, Financial Secretary of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (HKSAR), Mr. Paul Chan Mo-po said
on 23rd February 2022, seeking to inject confidence in the
city’s economy amid a severe wave of COVID-19 cases as
the forecast as international financial institutions and a local
business chamber downgraded the city’s growth outlook.
Underlying consumer price inflation of Hong Kong will likely
pick up, but is forecast to remain moderate at 2 percent for
the year as a whole. Mr. Chan has made the remarks that his
department will also allocate HK$24 billion to cover spending
on quarantine facilities, vaccine programs, testing, drugs and
services procurement to fight the outbreak of the Covid-19.
Besides, he also said that the strong and stable growth in the
Chinese mainland will become the key driver for global growth
in 2022 and will also provide the most solid foundation for the
HKSAR to prosper and develop.
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Hong Kong will continue to have an active and growing money-
lending market. The lending business segment of the Cybernaut
Group, TCL will continue granting mortgage loan to clients in
a prudent manner, so the subsidiary business can well meet
the needs for the Hong Kong property market accordingly.
Facing the Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong, TCL will be more
cautious to the market demand and defaulting possibility of
customers. TCL will also pay close attention on the application
of the updated MLO and Guidelines, and will only grant new
mortgage loans or for loan portfolio renewals to customers of
good reference check.

Today, the latest eCommerce trends via different online
platforms tell us about the evolving consumer preferences, so
the online business can have business growth with well-aligned
arrangement during the logistic restrictions and disruptions
in different places. In 2022, it is expected that many online
retailers will continue to choose an omnichannel sales strategy.
To meet the competitiveness in the industry, our subsidiary
VT Zero has not just moving beyond competing on price, but
also on logistics, so have to strive for survival, especially at this
harsh period of the Covid-19 pandemic, distorted logistic and
lockdown situations. The subsidiary will adopt different business
strategy to strive for better business operation development
with the existing clientele.

Teaching students in-person versus online are two entirely
different experiences that require refinement of content and
teaching approach. Incorporating different applications to
engage with students and overall enhancing engagement are
critical to increasing student satisfaction. This means that
teachers have to put more effort into their virtual classes beyond
regurgitating text from their PowerPoint slide. Forecasters have
once predicted that the K-12 online education market in China
is a huge market for education business.
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However, the shuangjian reforms on education in China have
adversely inflicted more stress on parents seeking once
common place extra-curricular courses for their children.
Pressures for children to work even harder during their spare
time have been further complicated by fluctuating lockdown
policies, causing parents to look online for tutoring services.

Other than the keen competition in the industry and faced with
the new regulation governing on after school education and
tutoring business activities, our online education subsidiary
management has to seek for changes for its business survival.
The Company will undergo restructuring of the subsidiary
group, shift its online education business operation and cancel
the ICP license and VIE arrangements, so can resume business
operation in the education sector in compliance with the
regulatory requirements.

The Company had complied with all the code provisions (the
“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report, contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the year ended 31 December 2021, except
for Code Provision A.6.7 in respect of the attendance of non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors in
the general meetings.

According to Code Provision A.6.7, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Due to other business engagements, one
independent non-executive Director could not attend the 2020
annual general meeting held on 10 June 2021. However, at
the 2020 annual general meeting, there were executive and
independent non-executive Directors present to enable the
Board to develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
shareholders of the Company.
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The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of
Conduct”) regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Code of Conduct during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information regarding the Group are
subject to compliance with the Company’s Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees (the “RE Code”) in respect
of their dealings in the securities of the Company. The terms
of the RE Code are likewise no less exacting than the required
standards set out in the Model Code.

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Committee Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr.
Cao Ke.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the
management and the external auditor the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and has also reviewed
auditing, risk management and internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December
2021.

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and endeavours in following the code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) and Corporate Governance
Report, contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (“Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The Board considers
such commitment is essential for the growth of the Group and
for maximising the interest of the shareholders (“Shareholders”)
of the Company. The Company regularly reviews its corporate
governance practices to ensure that the latest development in
corporate governance can be followed and observed.

During the financial year under review, the Company had
complied with all the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report, contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during the year
ended 31 December 2021, except for Code Provision A.6.7
in respect of the attendance of independent non-executive
directors in the general meetings.

According to Code Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive
directors should attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Due to
other business engagements, one independent non-executive
director could not attend the 2020 annual general meeting
held on 10 June 2021. However, at the 2020 annual general
meeting, there were executive and independent non-executive
directors present to enable the Board to develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the shareholders of the Company.
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The Company adopted on 7 June 2010 its securities dealing
code (“Code”) regarding the dealings of securities of the
Company by the Directors and senior management of the
Group, on terms no less exacting than the required standard
under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

The Company, having made specific enquiry of all Directors
and senior management of the Group, all the Directors and
senior management of the Group have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Code and Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding securities
transactions by Directors and senior management of the Group
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s overall strategic
policies. The management is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group.

During the year, the Board composed of four executive
Directors namely Mr. Zhu Min, Dr. Chen Huabei, Mr. Lu
Yongchao and Ms. Yip Sum Yu and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong Yiu On, Mr. Li Yik Sang
and Mr. Cao Ke, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
Dr. Wang Matthew Yang and the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald. The biographical details
are set out under “Directors and senior management” on pages
1283 to 131 of this annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, Mr.
Tong Yiu On (appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 October 2014, Mr. Li Yik Sang (appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2014)
and Mr. Cao Ke (appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 10 June 2015) shall retire at the 2021 general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

The independent non-executive Directors were appointed for
a term of one year, renewable automatically every year and
eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Board meets regularly to review and determine the
corporate strategies and overall strategic policies. Each of the
members of the Board has full access to relevant information
at the meetings. During the financial year ended 31 December
2021, the Board convened four regular meetings at which,
among other things, the following activities were conducted at
such regular meetings:

(1) approved the annual results and annual report for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020 and matters to be
considered at the annual general meeting of the Company;

(2) approved the interim results and interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2021;

(3) reviewed and approved corporate strategies of the Group
for the financial year ending 31 December 2022; and

(4) reviewed the performance and financial position of the
Group.
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The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s
corporate governance policies and performing corporate
governance duties set out under the CG Code. Its corporate
governance duties include, among others, (i) to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; (ii) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (iii) to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal or regulatory
requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s disclosure in its
corporate governance report.

Apart from the regular board meetings, the Board met on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter
was required.

Details of the Directors’ attendance records at the board
meetings and general meeting during the financial year ended
31 December 2021 are as follows:

Board General
Directors Meetings Meeting
Meetings attended/held
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Min 10/12 -/2
Dr. Chen Huabei 11/12 —/2
Mr. Lu Yongchao 12/12 2/2
Ms. Yip Sum Yu 12/12 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On 12/12 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 12/12 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 11/12 1/2
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Whilst the Board as a whole is to determine the corporate
strategies and overall strategy policies, the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company, as delegated by
the Board, are responsible for implementing the determined
strategies and policies and the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors and
senior management” of this annual report, there is no other
relationship (whether financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) among the members of the Board.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed
and relevant. The Company shall be responsible for arranging
suitable training for all Directors at the Company’s expense.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:
Directors Type of training

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Min A B
Dr. Chen Huabei A B
Mr. Lu Yongchao A B
Ms. Yip Sum Yu A, B
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yiu On A B
Mr. Li Yik Sang A B
Mr. Cao Ke A B

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals, Company newsletters and
updates relating to the economy, general business, IT,
eCommerce and steel industry or Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, etc.

During the year under review, the Board adopted a board
diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. The Company considered diversity of Board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) is currently consisted of four members, comprising
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong
Yiu On (Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke and one
executive Director, Mr. Lu Yongchao. It was established by the
Board with effect from 27 March 2012 and its duties are clearly
defined in its terms of reference which have been prepared and
adopted according to the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
under review and conducted the following activities:

(1) reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;
and

(2) reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the 2020 annual
general meeting of the Company.

Details of attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2021
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yongchao 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 2/2
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The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) currently comprises four members, including
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cao
Ke (Chairman), Mr. Tong Yiu On and Mr. Li Yik Sang, and
one executive Director, Mr. Lu Yongchao. The Remuneration
Committee was established by the Board on 7 June 2010 and
its duties are clearly defined in its written terms of reference
which have been prepared and adopted according to the Code
Provisions.

Generally, the Remuneration Committee meets annually except
to special situations, to review the remuneration policies
and packages for Directors and senior management of the
Company and to make recommendations to the Board on such
remuneration policies and packages. No Director takes part in
any discussions and decisions about his own remuneration.

Details of attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2021
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yongchao 11
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cao Ke (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Tong Yiu On 1/1
Mr. Li Yik Sang 1/1
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the
Remuneration Committee had convened one meeting with
full attendance by its members and conducted the following
activities:

(1) reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Company; and

(2) reviewed the terms of the service contracts of all the
executive Directors by reference to their performance.

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr.
Cao Ke. The Audit Committee was established by the Board
on 7 June 2010 and its duties are clearly defined in its written
terms of reference which have been prepared and adopted
according to the Code Provisions.

The Audit Committee provides an important link between the
Board and the Company’s auditor in matters coming within
the scope of the Group’s audit. It also reviews the annual and
interim reports of the Company prior to their approval by the
Board, the effectiveness of the external and internal audit and of
internal controls and risk evaluation.

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee has
convened two meetings and conducted the following activities:

(1)  reviewed the annual and interim reports of the Company;
(2) reviewed the report of internal audit department, internal
controls system and financial matters of the Group in

pursuance of the written terms of reference;

(8) reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external
auditor of the Company; and

(4) made recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of the external auditor.
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Details of attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 are as
follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 2/2

There was no disagreement between the Board’s and the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment of the external
auditor.

Pursuant to Code B.1.5 of the Code Provisions, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2021 was set out below:

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
HK$1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 2

Particulars of remunerations of directors are set out in note 14
to the financial statements.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the nature
of the audit and non-audit services provided by Elite Partners
CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, and the relevant fees
paid/payable by the Company for such services are as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

HK$

Annual audit 870,000

It is the responsibility of the Board to present a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.

The management provided sufficient explanation and
information to the Board to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial period which gives a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2021, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and applied them consistently, and have prepared the
financial statements on a historical cost basis.

The statement of the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 152 to 162 of this
annual report of the Company.
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The company secretary supports the chairman, Board and
Board committees by ensuring good information flow and Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
an employee of the Company and is appointed by the Board.
The company secretary reports to the chairman and all directors
may call upon him for advice and assistance at any time in
respect of his duties.

During the year, Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald attended sufficient
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going
basis. The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of
resources, qualifications, experience and training of staff and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions.
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The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems to ensure adequate
control in place to safeguard the Group’'s assets and

stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to
address and handle the all significant risks associated with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review
on any significant change of the business environment and
establish procedures to address the risks result from significant
change of business environment. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to mitigate the potential
losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with
the business of the Group by considering both internal and
external factors and events which include political, economic,
technology, environmental, social and staff. Each of the risks
has been assessed and prioritized based on its relevant impact
and likelihood. The relevant risk management strategy would
be applied to each type of risks according to the assessment
results, type of risk management strategy has been listed as
follow:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of
the risk;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so
as to avoid the risk;

= Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the
risk or allocate to different location, product or market;
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- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third
party. The internal control system is designed and
implemented to reduce the risks associated with the
business accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact results from the risks. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has engaged
an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. No
significant deficiencies and weaknesses on the internal control
system has been identified by the external advisory firm for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December
2021, the risk management and internal control systems
and procedures of the Group, covering all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group has
internal procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of
inside information and has communicated to all staff.

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the Company
are prepared in accordance with Article 64 of the articles of
association of the Company:
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one or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings shall have the right,
by written notice, to require an EGM to be called by the
Directors for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company at the following:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Unit 1002, Capital Centre,
151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@cybernaut.com.hk
Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company

Address: Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands

Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the
Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Directors shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by
the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the Company

For matters in relation to the Board, the Shareholders can
contact the Company at the following:

Address: Unit 1002, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: ir@cybernaut.com.hk

Tel: (852) 3549 6353

Fax: (852) 3549 6354

Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer
and registration, change of name or address, loss of share
certificates or dividend warrants, the registered Shareholders
can contact:

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(“Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business at Unit 1002, Capital
Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the board of directors of the
Company will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda
for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature
of the Proposal as follows:

(@) Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting.

(b)  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

(c) Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in an annual general meeting of
the Company.

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
adopts a diversified business development strategy and has
established its firm footing in three business segments, namely
() money lending business, (i) eCommerce business and (iii)
internet online education services. This Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) summarises the
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives,
plans and performances of the Group and demonstrates its
commitment to sustainable development.

ESG Governance Structure

The Group has established the ESG working taskforce (the
“Taskforce”). The Taskforce composes of full-time staff from
relevant departments and is responsible for collecting relevant
information on the ESG aspects for preparing the ESG Report.
The Taskforce periodically reports to the Board of Directors (the
“Board”), assists in identifying and assessing the Group’s ESG
risks and the effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms.
The Taskforce also examines and evaluates the Group’s
performances in different aspects, such as environmental
protection, labour practices, and other ESG aspects. The
Board has the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG issues,
including setting the general direction for the Group’s ESG
strategies, ensuring the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control mechanisms.

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the financial year ended
31 December 2021 (“FY2021” and “Reporting Period”).
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For FY2021, the reporting scope of the ESG Report is the same
as that of Annual Report 2021, which is consistent with the
scope of the annual report. The key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) are gathered and cover companies and subsidiaries that
are under the Group’s direct operational control. The KPIs are
shown in the ESG Report and are supplemented by explanatory
notes to establish benchmarks.

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”). Information relating to the Group’s
corporate governance practices can be found in the Corporate
Governance Report on p.57 to p.74 of the Annual Report 2021.

During the preparation for this ESG Report, the Group has
applied the reporting principles in the ESG Reporting Guide as
follow:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify
material issues during the Reporting Period, thereby adopting
the confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation
of the ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the Board and senior management. For further
details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: The standards, methodologies and applicable
assumptions used in the calculation of KPIs data were
supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the preparation
approach of this ESG Report is consistent with the previous
year for comparison. If there are any changes in the scope
of disclosure and calculation methodologies that may affect
comparison with previous reports, explanations will be provided
to the corresponding data.
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Opinions and feedback from the Group’s stakeholders regarding
its businesses and ESG aspects are greatly valued by the
Group, as their expectations and concerns steer the Group’s
sustainable development, allowing the Group to formulate better
business and ESG strategies. Throughout FY2021, the Group
has maintained close communication with its key stakeholders,
including but not limited to, the government and its regulatory
authorities, shareholders and investors, employees, customers,
suppliers, banks, media and the public, by utilising a variety of
engagement methods, as shown below.
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Stakeholders Engagement Methods Expectations
#HhE BHAE =
Government and e Routine reports e Compliance with local laws and
regulatory authorities e Written or electronic correspondences regulations
e  Stability in business operations
BRI N B e o EHRWMmE o ETEMERERER
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Shareholders and e General meeting and other shareholder e  Sustainable profitability

investors meetings
e Annual and interim reports
Announcements and circulars
e Investor meetings
e Company website
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Employees e Training, seminars and briefing
e Performance reviews
e Regular general meetings
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e Shareholder return
e Corporate governance
e Legal compliance
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e Remuneration, compensation and
benefits

e Fair and competitive employment

e Safe working environment
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Stakeholders
Bin&

Customers

Suppliers

HEm

Banks

R1T

Media and the public

e N

RRARAL

Engagement Methods
2HRAEE

e Customer service hotline and email

o XPRBAGNER

e Suppliers’ satisfactory assessment
e [Face-to-face meetings

o HERWEENE

s HHHEH
e Post-loan tracking
e On-site visits

. BB
. BHHM

e ESG reports

e Company website

e Regular reports and announcements
e R HERERWE
NS E S

s THWRERASE

The Group endeavours to continue collaborating with its

stakeholders and take into account their opinions in the

decision-making process.

In the long run, it is the Group’s

belief that the stakeholders’ contribution will aid the Group
in improving potentially overlooked ESG performances, and
achieve a more sustainable business model.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In preparing the ESG Report, the Board and management who
are responsible for key functions of the Group have assisted
the Group in reviewing its operations, identifying relevant ESG
issues and assessing the relative importance of related matters
to its businesses and stakeholders. During FY2021, the Group
compiled a questionnaire in relation to the identified material
ESG issues to collect the responses and opinions from the
stakeholders of the Group.

The Group’s material ESG issues according to its relative
importance are shown below:

Materiality Matrix
EEMER

RE - dBRERHRE

ERGERAT (G

RREIRIE  HEREAMER BT
RAEAEEFZRENERERAE
EEMEEE HABHERE  Hek®
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HEEEEN RN _T——BFE  KEH
B - EBAEANNEZRE  HER
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LENER -

AEBZEHEEZME DNERRE
BREREHIITMT

#t

Customer Privacy Protection
EEILERE

|

Recruitment, Promotion and Remuneration

R B RE

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour
BB T Roghiss T

Anti-corruption
RES

S

f

Provision of Safe Environment to Employees
AiEBRHETZRE

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination
FERE - ST ERER

Indoor Air Quality
ENEREE

GHG Emissions
BEREEBR

Fair and Open Tendering
AFAFRREFE

Training and Development
BIRER

Waste Management
BEERWMER

Community Participation

HESE ‘

HEDETERARNYERE

Energy Efficiency
BER

Climate Change
FiRE(E

Water Consumption
FORIERE

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDER’S ASSESSMENT & DECISIONS

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL & SOCIAL IMPACT

HEE BRENEENETTE

For FY2021, the Group confirmed that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents complied with the requirements of the ESG
Reporting Guide.
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The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and

suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect of the

ESG report or its performances in sustainable development by

emailing ir@cybernaut.com.hk.

Al.

Emissions

The Group realises that environmental protection
relies on both collective and individual efforts and is
also concerned whether its funds might be diverted
to enterprises that cause serious environmental
impacts or have little concern over sustainability.
Thus, the Group continuously improves existing
policies and incorporates new policies with the
intention of mitigating potential direct and indirect
negative environmental impacts arising from its
business operations and makes a conscious effort
to avoid diverting funds to non-environmentally
conscious enterprises.

The Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations, including
but not limited to, the Waste Disposal Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste of the People’s Republic of China, the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution of the People’s Republic
of China from the People’s Republic of China
(“China”)’s that would have a significant impact on
the Group during FY2021.
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Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group
considers that air emissions generated are of an
insignificant level.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were
generated from petrol consumption by vehicles
(Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2), and paper

waste disposal (Scope 3).

Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions

The Group has adopted the following measures
to mitigate direct GHG emissions from petrol
consumption by vehicles in its operations;

° Plan routes ahead of time to avoid route
repetition and optimise fuel consumption;

° Switch off the engine whenever the vehicle is
idling; and

° Regularly service vehicles to ensure optimal

engine performance and fuel use.

Scope 2 — Energy Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounted for the largest
percentage of GHG emissions within the Group. The
Group has implemented measures to reduce energy
consumption, such measures are mentioned in
Aspect A2 “Use of Resources”.
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Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions

Paper waste disposal is accounted for the other
indirect GHG emissions. Measures implemented to
reduce paper waste disposal and air travel can be
found in the sections headed “Waste Management”
and aspect A2 “Use of Resources” respectively.

The Group aims to host related environmental
campaigns, such as training and seminars, to raise
employee awareness on GHG emissions reduction in
2022.

The GHG emissions intensity increased significantly
from approximately 0.56 tCO,e/employee in FY2020
to approximately 1.42 tCO,e/employee in FY2021.
This was mainly due to one of the Group’s office has
relocated to a commercial building which leads to a
higher total electricity consumption by decoration,
public areas electricity consumption and central
air conditioning and also, the increase in over-time
working when compared to FY2020. The Group will
continue to actively promote environmentally friendly
measures to help reduce GHG emissions.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE-HERER

Summary of GHG emissions performances:

Indicator’

EE

Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions
HE1 - BEERERBYM
e Petrol
o U
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG emissions
HE2— EREERERBIHN
e Purchased electricity
e HWET
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions
EI— HHERAEREBHMN
e Paper waste disposed at landfills
o IEREFAEIE
e Business air travels by employees
o EERALRELINOH
Total GHG emissions
BERBHNEE
Total GHG emissions intensity®
BERBHRESTES

Unit?
Efr

tCOe
M AfLiEE

tCO,e
m—%m e =

tCO,e
m—%m REE
tCOe
W_StHER
tCO e/employee
WE—SEALIRE 2
=]

wE

BERBHBERME

FY2021
—F_—MF

2.53

113.10

2.59

118.22

1.42

FY2020

- =

Annual Report 2021
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FER

—EUF

1.94

73.83

5.52

81.29

0.56



Notes:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to
prepare an ESG report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX,
the “Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC
Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), the latest
published Baseline Emission Factors for Regional
Power Grids in China, “Sustainability Report 2020”
published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited and
the “Sustainability Report 2020” published by the HK
Electric.

2. tCO,e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent.

3. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 83
employees (2020: 145). The data is also used for
calculating other environmental intensity data.

Discharges into Water and Land

Due to the Group’s business nature, the discharges
into land are insignificant. Similarly, there has not
been a significant and unreasonable amount of
water discharged; used water was discharged via
the municipal sewage network to the regional water
treatment plant.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Waste Management

Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the Group’s business nature, no material
hazardous waste was generated by the Group during
FY2021.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The majority of non-hazardous waste generated by
the Group was general waste. Though there has not
been a disproportional amount of waste produced,
the Group places great effort in encouraging the
employees to reduce waste production by adopting
the following environmentally friendly initiatives:

° Recycle used single-sided office paper;

° Double-sided printing or photocopying;

° Print electronic correspondences only when
necessary;

° Procure office paper with Forest Stewardship

Council Recycled Label; and

° Recycle office and electronic equipment after
their life cycle.
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A2.

The Group aims to host waste reduction related
campaigns to raise employee awareness on waste
reduction in 2022.

The non-hazardous waste disposal intensity in
FY2020 was similar to that in FY2021. The Group
considers current paper-saving measures are
effective in increasing the employees’ awareness of
reducing the use of non-hazardous waste disposal
amount.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste disposal

performance:
Category of waste Unit
EEMER Ef

Total non-hazardous waste

BMEEZEVRE
e (Office paper Tonnes
o MR U7

Total non-hazardous waste intensity
BREEEVRETE

Use of Resources

The Group takes the initiative to introduce green
measures to reduce environmental impact arising
from its business operations. Measures on reducing
office paper waste have been mentioned in the
section. Other
initiatives include maintaining indoor temperature at a

preceding “Waste Management”

suitable level in the offices and promoting the use of
teleconferences or video conferences to replace the
need for constant business air travel.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Energy Efficiency

The Group has in place a multitude of strategies to
reduce resource consumption. However, given the
Group’s office-based business nature, applicable
green measures that could be implemented into
the Group’s policy are limited. Nevertheless, the
Group strives to further reduce energy consumption
by adopting energy-saving measures such as the
following:

° Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use;

° Purchase energy-efficient equipment on
replacement of old equipment;

° Set all computer screens and printers to
standby mode after a certain period; and

° Post eye-catching stickers on energy efficiency
as a reminder for employees.

The Group aims to participate in energy-saving
related campaigns to raise employee awareness on
energy-saving in 2022.
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Unexpected high consumption of electricity will be

investigated to find out the root cause and preventive

measures will be taken. The energy consumption

intensity increased significantly from approximately
806.78 kWh/employee in FY2020 to approximately
2,491.67 kWh/employee in FY2021. This was mainly
due to one of the Group’s office has relocated to

a commercial building which leads to a higher total

electricity consumption by decoration, public areas

electricity consumption and central air conditioning

and also, the increase in over-time working when

compared to FY2020.

Summary of energy consumption performance:

Type of energy
iR

Direct energy consumption
HERRER
e Petrol
o UM
Indirect energy consumption
MEREIRERE
e Purchased electricity
e HWEHS
Total energy consumption
WEERHE
Total energy consumption intensity
BEERAERE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Unit FY2020
B ZETHF
kWh 7,063.06
TR

kWh 109,920.00
TRE

kWh 116,983.06
FRF

kWh/employee 806.78
FRE,EE



Water Consumption

Due to the Group’s business nature, water was
mainly used for the daily needs of employees and
the cleaning and sanitation of the offices. The Group
did not consider the amount of water used to be
disproportionate.

The Group makes a conscious effort to reduce water
consumption by introducing water conservation
measures, such as regularly inspects water taps to
prevent leakage, installs dual flush water cisterns
in toilets and water-saving thimble in sinks in
washrooms where possible. The Group has also
posted banners with water-saving messages around
the offices in an effort to raise employee awareness
of water conservation.

The Group aims to host water conservation related
campaigns to raise employee awareness on water
conservation in 2022.

The water consumption intensity increased
significantly due to the high frequency of water
use during the epidemic for its internal cleaning
and disinfection and also, the increase in over-time
working when compared to FY2020. The Group will
continue to monitor the water usage and, where
necessary, implement more water-saving measures
to manage water usage.

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group did
not encounter any problem in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose.
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A3.

Summary of water consumption performance:

F7KERBE

Indicator Unit FY2020
it Ef —_E_THEF
Water consumption’ m? 1,190.11
FEKE SR

Water consumption intensity m3/employee 8.21
FREE SNHK/EE

Note: BHE :

1. Water consumption data excluded that of the Hong 1. RKEBENEEEBAR

Kong headquarter since the water consumption was
covered in the monthly management fee.

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group’s business nature, the use of
packaging material is not considered as a material
ESG aspect to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

As an ongoing commitment to good corporate social
responsibility, the Group realises its responsibility
in minimising negative environmental impacts in
its business operations. Although the Group’s
business operations do not pose a large impact
on the environment, the Group conducts regular
assessments on potential environmental risks of its
business, adopts preventive measures accordingly
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The Group will continue to actively seek
out other ways to reduce its environmental footprint.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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A4.

Indoor Air Quality

Poor indoor air quality poses both short and
long-term threats to the employees. Therefore, the
Group remains vigilant in ensuring that the workplace
has good indoor air quality, indoor air quality is
regularly monitored and measured. To improve
indoor air quality, air purifying equipment is used in
offices and the air conditioning system is cleaned
periodically. These measures resulted in achieving a
satisfactory indoor air quality level.

Climate Change

Extreme weather events are becoming more
frequent and severe, while tackling climate change
has become a global consensus. The Group has
realized that climate change will affect its business
operations. Therefore, the Group has established
policies and procedures to identify, monitor and
manage ESG issues, including climate change.
Material climate-related risks are identified and
managed under our enterprise risk management
framework.

A4.
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Climate Change Issues

Following are the climate change risks that will
impact the Group’s business operations, these risks
could be classified as physical risks and transition
risks. Physical risks are referred to the risk of
increased frequency of extreme weather events that
could impact the Group’s business operations. On
the other hand, transition risks are referred to the
risk of transitioning to a lower-carbon economy may
entail extensive policy, legal, technology, and market
changes to address mitigation and adaptation
requirements related to climate change. Depending
on the nature, speed, and focus of these changes,
transition risks may pose varying levels of financial
and reputational risk to organisations. Further
explanation will be discussed below.

Physical Risks

Increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
events such as extreme cold or heat, storms, heavy
rains, typhoons can disrupt operations by damaging
the power grid and communication infrastructures,
hampering and injuring our employees on the way
or during their work. These events could disrupt
supply chains, interrupt business operations, and
damage the Group’s assets. The Group has taken
different actions to manage the abovementioned
acute physical risks. For example, the Group has
developed the practice of communicating the
arrangements under extreme weather conditions
to employees in advance. The potential financial
impacts can be minimised with adequate
preparations for extreme weather events.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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B1.

Transition Risks

There are more stringent climate legislations
and regulations to support global vision for
decarbonisation. For example, the HKEX has
required the listed companies to enhance the
climate-related disclosures in their ESG reports. The
Group’s reputation may be damaged due to failure
to comply with such regulations, which may also
expose enterprises to higher risks of claims and
lawsuits. In response to the policy and legal risks
as well as the reputation risks, the Group regularly
monitors existing and emerging trends, policies and
regulations relevant to climate change, and will alert
the top management where necessary to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines or reputational
risks due to delayed response.

Employment

The Group recognises that employees are the most
valuable asset of the Group and are the foundation
of the Group’s success. As such, the Group has
continued with its good employment practices to
ensure sustainable growth of the business. Relevant
employment policies are formally documented in
the Employee Handbook, covering recruitment and
remuneration, compensations, working hours and
rest periods, diversity and equal opportunities, etc.
The Group periodically reviews these employment
policies to ensure continuous improvement of its
employment standards and competitiveness against
companies of the similar industry.
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During FY2021, the Group had 83 employees
pertaining to the reported segments. Breakdown
by gender, age group, employee category and
geographical region are as follows:

Gender i3]
Male Bk
Female 7
Age Group FECHR
Under 40 Years Old 40BR AT
41 to 60 Years Old 41E6075%
Above 60 Years Old B60BRIA
Employee Category EEER
Full-time 2B
Part-time b iy
Geographical Region tE
Mainland China HR B i
Hong Kong, China BB

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Number of
Employees

ERAB
38

45

66
12

72
11

59
24



The ratio of employee turnover to total number WEHRA - BERKLERG
=

of employees was 74.70% during the Reporting EEBENLLAAT470%
Period. The following table shows the breakdown of TERERTEERALENS
employee turnover: v
Ratio of
Employee
Turnover!
Gender i3] ER KL &
Male B 68.42%
Female I 80.00%
Age Group FhH B
Under 40 Years Old 40BRLA T 83.33%
41 to 60 Years Old 412607 75.00%
Above 60 Years Old 6057 A 0.00%
Geographical Region =
Mainland China B A 84.75%
Hong Kong, China FEE B 50.00%
Note: G
1. The employee turnover rate of the Group is calculated 1. AEBEMEERKL R TIR
by dividing the number of turnovers in a category MEBAB AT — 8RO BEE
during the Reporting Period by the total workforce in ABBRUBE S -—F+
the category as at 31 December 2021. Z“RA=+—H%ZENNEE

RBFTEMS -
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During FY2021, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

Recruitment, Promotion and Remuneration

Employees are recruited via a robust, transparent
and fair recruitment process based solely on
their experience and suitability for the positions,
regardless of their age, religion, ethnicity, origin,
gender identity, physical disability and marital status,
etc. Employees are assessed and chosen based
on their ability and potential to fulfil the Group’s
current and future needs. The Group is adamant in
treating and evaluating its employees in a fair and
unprejudiced way.

Remuneration and promotion are based on
job-related skills, qualifications and performances.
The Group will conduct an annual performance and
salary review to determine any salary adjustments
and/or promotion opportunities. The Group also
gives preference to internal promotion in order to
provide incentive to employees for their consistent
and continuous effort.
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Remuneration packages include variable bonuses,
annual leave, maternity leave, etc. In accordance
with the applicable laws of mainland China, the
Group legally pays “five social insurance and
one housing fund” for its employees in mainland
China, namely endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, employment
injury insurance, maternity insurance, and housing
provident fund. For employees in Hong Kong,
monthly contributions to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are made pursuant to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

To ensure a healthy work-life balance for employees,
the Group has formulated policies in determining
the working hours and rest periods for employees in
accordance with local employment laws. Subject to
company or departmental arrangement, employees
are eligible for overtime payment.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group offers fair compensation packages for
employees based on employees’ personal capability
and benchmarks. In addition, the Group complies
with the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
of Hong Kong and Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, which cover employees who
sustain personal injury by accident or disease arising
out of the course of employment.
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The Group prohibits any unreasonable dismissal
under any circumstances and ensures that dismissal
would be conducted based on reasonable and lawful
grounds supported by internal policies. Verbal or
written warnings will be issued before the official
dismissal to provide the staff with an opportunity for
improvement. If no improvement is noted, the Group
shall then consider dismissal only upon receiving
dismissal instruction from the relevant department.

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group values diversity in its talent pool and is
dedicated to ensuring that equal opportunities are
given to each employee. The Group is committed
to creating and maintaining an inclusive and
collaborative workplace culture. Furthermore, the
Group is dedicated to protecting its employees
from discrimination, physical or verbal harassment
based on race, religion, colour, gender, physical or
mental disability, age, place of origin, marital status,
and sexual orientation. The Group does not tolerate
sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace in
any form. The Group also strives to ensure that
complaints, grievances and concerns, including
whistle-blowing, are being dealt with promptly,
confidentially and impartially.
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B2. Health and Safety

Provision of Safe Environment to Employees

The Group highly values employees’ health and
safety and is always committed to maintaining a
safe and pleasant working environment for all its
employees. The Group has also maintained strict
compliance with local laws and regulations and has
adopted occupational health and safety guidelines
recommended by the Labour Department and
Occupational Safety and Health Council and have
developed relevant policies.

During FY2021, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with health and
safety-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group, including
but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
of the People’s Republic of China and the Fire
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China.
There were no reported cases of work-related
fatalities in each of the past three years including
FY2021 and no lost days due to work injury,
hence no claims or compensation was paid to its
employees due to such accident.

To ensure a hazard-free working environment the
Group stresses the importance of keeping the
corridor clean, classifying and recycling wastes
where possible, cleaning air-conditioning equipment
and carpet on a regular basis and participating in
regular health and safety seminars. To minimise the
risk of a fire hazard, fire extinguishers are strategically
placed and fire exits are free from obstruction.
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Improving Safety Awareness

The Group complies with related working safety
guidelines and constantly educates and reminds
employees of the importance of work health and
safety. The Group provides employees with relevant
information on crime prevention and emergency
response through training, promotions, drills and
regular safety inspections. We also participate in
regular fire drills to raise employees’ safety and fire
prevention awareness. If there are any violations of
the guidelines, we will take appropriate disciplinary
actions or legal proceedings against the staff to
raise employees’ health and safety awareness during
work.

Prevention Control on COVID-19

In view of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group has
taken proactive measures to safeguard the health
and safety of its employees and business partners
and has complied with public health measures
implemented by the local authorities. The Group has
increased the frequency of sanitisation in the Group’s
premises and prepared surgical masks and hand
sanitisers for the use of its employees. To further
minimise the risk of cross-infection, all employees
and clients of the Group are also required to perform
temperature checks before entering the Group’s
premises.
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B3. Development and Training B3.

General Disclosure

Training and Development

Training and continuous development are
indispensable to the Group’s employees to keep
abreast of the rapidly changing trend in the industry.
The Group has developed relevant policies on
employees’ knowledge and skills development.

Employees are encouraged to apply for internal and
external training courses to refresh prior knowledge.
The Group encourages employees to familiarise
themselves with newly updated guidelines, maintain
their competitiveness within the industry and ensure
legal compliance in dealing with sensitive matters
and data.

Internally, the Group holds work-related talks and
seminars. Training contents are regularly updated to
be in line with the industrial standard, the Group’s
business nature and provide maximum benefit to the
employees.

The following table shows the breakdown of the
employee training:

Percentage of

Employees
Trained
BEiER
Employee Training {& B gz Bt
By Gender 4 3]
Male B 71.43%
Female egi 28.57%
By Employee Category R{ESXEH
Board and Senior Bxgkal
Management EEE 71.43%
Middle Management and ~FHEREE &
General Staff —fMBET 28.57%

BRREI

— R

I R B R

BRETEREEZENBY
HIRTEERYAEENE
EMES NI DM o NEE
EREIANHREERRATE
7 T HRRALER -

SR B Has R R SRR
ARAZ - AEFTERIA A - R
SEZREREAEZHES
REEETEFOBEFD - I
FERERIEHRERNERE
BRR

MBS - AEBETITIER
FARGEEE MR ® - BHIIAE
EEHEH  UNATERR
£ AKENEBHEEY DIE

B RE AN o

TRETEEEIND M

Total Average
Training Training
Hours Hours

RENSE  FORNIGE

98 2.58

3 0.07
59 4.21
42 0.61
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B4. Labour Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during
the recruitment process as defined by laws and
regulations. Personal data is collected during the
process to assist the selection of suitable candidates
and to verify candidates’ personal data and that
they have reached the minimum legal age to work in
respective jurisdictions.

According to the Employee Handbook, the Human
Resources Department also ensures identity
documents are thoroughly checked. The Human
Resources Department has established a reporting
mechanism to monitor ensure compliance with all
relevant laws and regulations. If violation is involved,
it will be dealt with in the light of the circumstances
promptly. Upon discovery of child labour or
forced labour, the said person will be discharged
immediately. The Board will discuss preventive
measures to avoid a similar event from happening
again.

During FY2021, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Fair and Open Tendering

The engagement with service providers takes place
under a fair and open tendering process, it takes
suppliers’ experience, reputation, prevailing market,
price and reputation into account. The Group
has established procedures for procurement and
logistics management to ensure that the products
procured are of satisfactory quality, thereby reducing
procurement cost. The Group strives not to over-rely
on a specific supplier in order to ensure stability of
the supply chain. At the same time, the Group aims
to strengthen collaborative relationships with existing
suppliers. Should the performance of the supplier fall
below contractual expectations, the contract may be
terminated.

Employees are reminded to avoid situations that
may lead to or involve potential conflict of interest.
Any discrimination against certain vendors without
reasonable grounds and any types of business
bribery are strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had engaged
a total of 67 major suppliers, 46 suppliers are from
Mainland China, while 21 suppliers are from Hong
Kong, China, and all major suppliers are subject to
the above evaluation and monitoring regularly.

BS5.
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B6.

Environmentally and Socially Responsible Supply
Chain

The Group has established relevant policy to manage
the environmental and social impacts in our supply
chain. In accordance with this policy, we assess
suppliers’ environmental and social performance in
our procurement and tendering process to ensure
that our suppliers are aware of and have established
minimum standards for the environmental, social and
ethical issues relevant to their operations.

With an objective to minimise the carbon emission
and to support local economy and community, we
mainly sourced our materials, products and services
locally in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group has
ensured that purchased office equipment has Energy
Efficiency Label and purchased stationery uses
environmental-friendly packaging with certifying
scheme.

Product Responsibility

Solid corporate governance and risk management
are essential to the Group’s long-term development
and sustainable growth. The Group periodically
revises existing corporate rules and regulations
and ensures strict compliance with local laws and
regulations.
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During FY2021, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
that would have a significant impact on the Group,
concerning advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided, including
but not limited to, the Money Lenders Ordinance, the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Protection
of Consumer Rights of the People’s Republic of
China. During FY2021, the Group did not receive any
major product or service-related complaints. Due to
the Group’s business nature, product recall is not
applicable to the Group.

Moreover, the Group has set standards for
advertising and sales material. Information disclosed
in all advertising and sales material must be factual;
we also prohibit the use of false, misleading or
inaccurate statements in any form of communication.

Money-lending Assurance

As a licenced money lender in Hong Kong, the Group
holds an active Money Lenders Licence. In addition,
the Group abides by the Money Licensing Conditions
of the said licence. As a result of a more stringent
additional licensing conditions on money lender
licences, a risk-warning message must be present in
all advertisements in relation to their money lending
business. The guideline stipulates that advertisement,
whether in textual, audio or visual form, must
contain the relevant subsidiary’s telephone hotline
for handling complaints and a well-established risk
warning statement. The said risk warning statement
must also be clearly audible in the audio part of the
advertisement.
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Customer Privacy Protection

The Group protects legitimate rights and interests
of its customers, respects the rights of customers’
information assets and strictly complies with the
customers’ information security management
systems and standards. The Group has formulated a
set of privacy guidelines in regard to the collection,
retention and accessibility of information to ensure
that the lessee’s sensitive information is only used
for its intended purposes and to prevent information
leakage. All employees are trained to respect the
confidentiality of customers’ information, while only
certain employees can access sensitive customer
data. Moreover, employees are required to sign a
confidentiality agreement to hold them accountable
for should there be any unlawful information leakage.

Intellectual Property Rights

Despite Intellectual property rights are not
considered a material ESG aspect to the Group due
to the Group’s business nature, the IT Department
is in charge of securing proper licenses for software,
hardware and information the Group uses in its
business operation. Duplication or downloading
of information, software, and images from the
internet must be approved by relevant department.
Furthermore, the Group closely monitors and
prevents any infringement behaviour such as
counterfeit trademarks in the market. The Group will
continue to monitor to ensure that its intellectual
property rights are not being infringed upon.
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B7.

Customer Service Quality

The Group strives to provide excellent services
in response to customers’ enquiries. A customer
services team has been established, standard
procedures have been established to handle
customers’ opinions and comments. To further
enhance and better the Group’s services, customers
are encouraged to provide feedback on their
experience. Feedbacks are recorded in detail and
appropriate follow-up actions will be taken should it
be deemed necessary.

Procurement Quality Control

The Group has a dedicated quality control team to
ensure the products procured are of satisfactory
quality and would not pose any significant health
threat to its consumers. Standard procedures are
established to govern the procurement, quality
assurance and storage of these products. Due to
the Group’s business nature, the Group has an
insignificant amount of business dealing regarding
labelling matters.

Anti-corruption

The Group values and upholds integrity, honesty,
and fairness in how the Group conducts business.
The Group emphatically asserts its zero-tolerance
stance regarding any behaviours that not only violate
local laws and regulations but also severely damage
the Group’s reputation.
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During FY2021, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
of bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering
that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Ordinance, the Money Lenders
Ordinance, the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
Securities and Futures Ordinance in Hong Kong, the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China. Also, there was no concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer nor its employees.

Anti-money laundering and Counter-financing of
Terrorism

As a professional financial services provider,
the Group is particularly sensitive to the signs
of money laundering and financial crimes. Apart
from complying with local laws and guidelines
established by regulatory authorities, the Group
recognises that the responsibility to help protect
the integrity of the financial system lies within us.
The Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Policy is in place to safeguard the interests
of the Group. It states the roles and responsibilities
of compliance officers and details procedures such
as conducting a customer due diligence process
before beginning business dealings with customers
and reporting suspicious transactions. The Group
has also provided training on anti-money laundering
to directors and employees to maintain their
anti-corruption awareness and good professional
conduct and to comply with the regulations in Hong
Kong and the PRC.
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BS.

Prevention of Money Laundering, Fraud and Bribery
Practices

The Group is sensitive to the prevention of poor
money laundering, potential fraud, and bribery
practices. Therefore, the Group provides guidelines
on such policies to employees to remind them
of good practices to prevent unnecessary legal
complications.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has established relevant policy to
provide a communication channel for employees to
report concerns on the occurrence (either actual or
suspicious) of any incidents regarding corruption
or criminal activity, non-compliance of legal and
regulatory requirements, a miscarriage of justice,
action which endangers the health and safety of any
individuals, and existing and possible improprieties
relating to financial reporting, internal control, and
other matters.

Community Investment

Community Participation

The Group is committed to providing career
opportunities to local residents and considers the
development of the community’s economy as part
of the Group’s sustainable development strategy.
To this end, the Group has established relevant
guidelines and policies to encourage its employees
to give back to the society which not only benefits
the society but also nurtures a good corporate
culture.

Due to the COVID-19, the Group did not arrange
community activities during the Reporting Period,
echoing to government social distancing measures.
The Group will continue to look into engaging in
more community events like environmental and
labour needs, etc. in the coming years.
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

HEMERE

Governance Structure
ERRIE

Reporting Principles
e 3 R A1)

Reporting Boundary

Section/Declaration

4 L

Introduction — ESG Governance Structure
FE—BE HghkERREEHE
Reporting Framework

HEER

Scope of Reporting

[

bEE ¥R #6 [E HEHE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TEHE B@

—REERARANER it B BH

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : Bl
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
—HREE EHEARRERBIN  AKREHOES B BN
EREEEENNELSH
(a BX: X

(b)) ETFTHETABEAZENRBWERZR
MBI ER -
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

KPI' A1.1

BRI IIETRAL
KPI A1.2

RS ER1RAL.2

KPI'A1.3

FRENIEIRAL3

KPIA1.4

RSB IR 1RAL.4

KPI' A1.5

RRAEAIR1RALE

KPI A1.6

BSAEIS1RA1.6

Description

[

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.

Brm iR MR R

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (BEN) kpREE% (BE2) A= REHNE
(AHEEHE) & (@A) BE (NMABESEML - &7
HRIEHE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

FESEZEEYES (AEE) R (Eh) %
E(MASEEEN  BFERXBTE) ©

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FELAREEEYRE VE:TE) R (WER) %
B (WASESEN - §ERMEHE) o
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HRATRT MO BRI E B IR R ERIE L B IR AT EREX
HFE -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

WM EERESERYNE - "R
HRER R R RERE LB RAERBRATR -

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Emissions — Air Emissions

By — BREEN

Emissions - GHG Emissions

BEpg) — RERBEHN

Emissions — Waste
Management

By - BERMER

Emissions — Waste
Management

By - BRMER

Emissions — Air Emissions,
GHG Emissions, Waste
Management

R — BREE - RERE
B BERYER
Emissions — Waste
Management

By - BRYER
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EBEA2: BiRER

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A2.1

BB IR 1RA2. 1

KPI A2.2

BIR A MUIEIRA2.2

KPI A2.3

FRENIERA2.3

KPI A2.4

BREIEIRA2.4

KPI' A2.5

FRENIRIRA2.5

Description

[

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
ARERAER (BHEER - KREMRME) K
% o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.q. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s)
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,

per facility).
BERENEISMEER /SEEER (0E - fsoh)
BEE (UTETREAE) REE (WABESE

7« BERETE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

BRAERTE (M SEREN - SRR
f) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

W PTET L RERA R AR R AEIEL AR
P ERER B 2 5%

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
FREVER KR SR BRI RE - LARPTE] &)
AKBEHBBERAEREL B IEREBRA AR
Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

SR eREMHNRE (UNEEE) & (nE
) BEEBMEE -
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Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Use of Resources

BERER

Use of Resources — Energy
Efficiency

BRER — ERME

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BRER — KRB

Use of Resources — Energy
Efficiency

BRER — e

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BRER — KRB

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Description

ikt

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEAS : BRRXARE

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI A3.1

BB AR 1RAS. 1

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EB&EB1 : &

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A4.1

RSB IR 1RAL. 1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impacts on the environment and natural
resources.
HEBITAHRERAAERENEATZ BRI

% o

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

Rl EKEHHRBERAAREFNEATERBIK
REREEYENTTH -

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

AR EHEAR A HETAEEYENER
RIFHBEEEBR -

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.

R BER AR HBRTAEEY ENEARRER
BEH REHTTE -

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

The Environment and Natural
Resources

RERRAER

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Indoor Air Quality

BRERARER - ENERE

it

Climate Change

RIREL

Climate Change

&
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1 : B

General Disclosure

—RE

KPI B1.1

BB B AURIRB1 1

KPI B1.2

RIREAURIRB1.2

Description

[

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

FRFM R EE  BEREA - TIERE - RE -

TE#e  Zult  RE|RUAREMEERER

Hy

(a BE: R

(o) ETHBEITATEAZEZNEBEZR
ROINEF -

Total workforce by gender, employment type

(for example, full- or part-time), age group and

geographical region.

B ERER (N2 HREN)  FRARIR

BREDHEELE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region.

BIER - FRAMNEESDHEERKLE -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZRAERAT

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Employment

Employment

(=

Employment

(=



Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BEB2: @RERZ

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B2.1

Bs IR R 1R B2.1

KPI B2.2
BRI MIEIRB2.2
KPI B2.3

PR EMIERB2.3

Description

[

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.

ARARMZE2TERERMREREEREBELESE

Hy

(@ BXE: &k

(o) BFHBETABEATENHBEZER
RO ER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities

occurred in each of the past three years including

the reporting year.

BE=F (BRERFE) SFRTTROARREL
& o

Lost days due to work injury.
EIGEATIEHE -

Description of occupational health and

safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

T PTER AN 0 B S (R B 2 2 FE B - A AR REERAT
REERE -

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Health and Safety

Health and Safety

(3 reea

Health and Safety
E3E itk
Health and Safety
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FEE@E - Bm
—REBRREBRVER E:pid -1 8 L]

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[BEB3 : &#EREI

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Development and Training
skills for discharging duties at work. Description
of training activities

—MRE FRRAEEBITIERENNELRENEE - BREEI
HEIEE -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Development and Training

and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).

R EIEIZB3A RURIRERERN (MEREERE  +REEE) S BREZI
SNXIEERDLL

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and Training
employee by gender and employee category.

MR EIEIRB3.2 BRI REBERNED BREETKXINTYE  ZEREE
53

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4 : FT#H|

General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

— M= BRAGLEE TS TH YT %R
(& HBX: K
(b) BFHBEITABEAFZEMNRABEER

ROIEBER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

HRENIEIEB4A ftige BB ES AR AR EETIREHISET - SRR
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards

practices when discovered.
B E B IEEB4.2 MM RRERBEREREEBRMEDRN S LT AR
B -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Description

ikt

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[BEBS : ftERAER

General Disclosure

—RKE
KPI B5.1
M5 4B UIE1EB5. 1
KPI B5.2

R EMIEIEB5.2

KPI B5.3

RIRAEAIRIRB5.3

KPI B5.4

BB 4B AR1EB5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.
ERMHEENREREERAREE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
i@ e D HRERRAE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

A BREARERAES - MERTERENS
HERBBE - URBBRTRERTE -
Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

1 0075 T S5 R it 58 B R B O IR IR A g R B )
B - URBBRITRERTE -

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

TR RE R AR 2 MRREm X RBHIE
Bl ARAEBERITRER A -

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Supply Chain Management

frERER
Supply Chain Management
HEEER
Supply Chain Management

HEEER

Supply Chain Management

HIEEE R

Supply Chain Management

fHEEER
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

EERG BE -

—REERARANER

Description

ikt

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[BEB6 : ERRE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B6.1

BB B AR 1RB6.1

KPI B6.2

BRI RI512B6.2
KPI B6.3

BARAERI512B6.3
KPI B6.4

BRI 513B6.4
KPI B6.5

BB AR 1RB6.5

Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
BRFRHERNMRENERERE BS  B8
RILBERIARBER T ED -
(@ BXE: &k
(o) BFHBETABEATENHBEZER
ROIBER -
Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEREREXEREHTAR T BEREHMAD
WHBE DL -
Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt with.

BEBREDRRENIRFEANREEFE -
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

g ERRENREREHNED
Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.

RILE ST B RE MBI

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

B EERRERDLBBE - U RABREHITR

s
BERE o

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

EERG BE -
—REERARANER

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7 : REF

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B7.1

BB B AUIRIRBT 1

KPI B7.2

BREMIEREBT .2

KPI B7.3

PR A MIERBT.3

Description

[

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
ARN LB - B1R - REFROEREN
(a) BUER: &

(o) ETHEITATBEAZENEBERZR
RO ER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or

its employees during the reporting period and the

outcomes of the cases.

REZPAEBTASHEEREVEEENES

HARRUOHE RFDER -

Description of preventive measures and

whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

PSR R BEEF - URBFERITRERS

& e

Description of anti-corruption training provided to

directors and staff.

HWimEEN B TRENREE -

Section/Declaration

Ef 8BS

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

RES
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs Description

EERG BE -
—REERARANER ikt

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : it ERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

—R = AR E2ERBERETACEMELETEM
BREEBEZDHEZEEENRNBOR -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

MR A BUEIRBS8.A EIEREE (NHE  REFE SFIFR B
B Xk #85) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

MREMIEEBS.2 EEIBBMDHAER (M BEHEH) -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Community Investment

HREE

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment
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Mr. Zhu Min, aged 73, graduated from Zhejiang University with
a master’s degree in Industrial Management and received a
MS degree in Engineering Economics from Stanford University.
He co-founded Future Labs Inc. in 1991 which was later
acquired by Quarterdeck Corp.. In 1996, he co-founded WebEx
Communications Inc. which was successfully listed on NASDAQ
in 2000 and then acquired by Cisco Systems Inc. for US$3.2
billion in 2007.

In 2003, Mr. Zhu became the sole investment partner in China
of New Enterprise Associates (NEA), a renowned U.S. based
venture capital fund focusing on early- and middle-stage
companies, assisting NEA to successfully invest in a group of
independent innovation enterprises in China. In 2005, Mr. Zhu
founded Cybernaut Investment Group, one of China’s best
venture capital houses in 2015 selected by Forbes. It is one of
the leading private equity and venture capital fund in China.

In 2007, Mr. Zhu donated US$10 million to set up Zhejiang
University International Innovation Institute (ZIl) with Zhejiang
University in a drive to promote domestic technological and
industrial innovations.

Mr. Zhu has many years of experience in computer, network
communications and services. He is a well-known scientist
in the field in the United States. In 2002, he was named by
Business Week as one of the 25 most influential people in
global e-commerce. In 2008 and 2009, Mr. Zhu was selected by
Forbes as one of China’s best venture capital investors. At the
first China Public Entrepreneurship and Innovation Conference
held in 2016, he was granted the title of China’s Pioneer in
Innovation and Entrepreneurship by virtue of his reputation in
the international investment community.

Mr. Zhu is the founder and chairman of the board of
Cybernaut Investment Group Limited, the Vice president of
China Society for the Promotion of Science and Technology
Commercialization, the founder and dean of the Zhejiang
University International Innovation Institute (ZII).

Mr. Zhu is currently the directors of its subsidiaries, namely j#
MELAHBE R ER AT Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education
Technology Limited (“#JN2&", “Huzhou Company”),
Cybernaut Asia Pacific Limited, Hong Kong Cybernaut
Technology Limited and Cybernaut Technology International
Limited.

At the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhu directly and indirectly
held 990,284,000 shares of the Company.

KB, 735 BENHIRE B
BT RETEEERBETSMWESHE
HEAREIRKSERFETEN - B —
HN—FHAEAI#iFuture Labs Inc. &% mH
Quarterdeck Corp. Mg « R — NS F
HE A3 T WebEx Communications Inc.
(%Iiﬂ)iﬁﬁ’\_gg%‘\iﬁﬂﬁ’\ﬁmﬂﬁé
RBEM RZEZELFHEBRRFRFN
32BETTUEE -

REER _TZ=ZFRANEA(—FHEXE
MEFHBERERERS QA EPEZ
ME—REER A HEENEAEFRBEMKI
BRET-#HBETAHFEEE R-_FTTH
FoREERILTERBLE (FE)KRER
CBRALEAR-T-AFCEAHNFPE
FRIRKRERELZ — RTELBSEE
BIRESHBEEE L —

KEER_ZEZELFHEE1,0008FELH
AT REB BN T K2 BPRAIFT 7Rk
BOOESHRRHT EEZAIF

KAEREN WBEBA LRGBS #ES
LEER - FAERZAEG LERZRE
R RIEE-_FHE(EERTDNAES
IREFEE2UREFENMAZ— -
KEAR - ZEZNFR-_ZEZAERGR
MHY B ATERZEAEREAZ — - &
RBEBEREAZTHEREL MR ZT—RF
EEPERAAS L EEPRAFAIZE
JeEETEIR o

REERBEREREEBERERIAEISA
REZER THEMREXRCRESES
£ UENT REBIFR AR b 8lis A
Fbe i

KEXEBRAZHNBARZES - BF
MINBLLHEREER AR (HMA
@ll) » Cybernaut Asia Pacific Limited
EABEPLRE AR AR KCybernaut

Technology International Limited °
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RARRDPEEREEEGEZ -
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Dr. Chen Huabei, aged 56, holds a bachelor’s degree from
Shandong University, China a master’'s degrees from Aichi
University of Education, Japan and a doctor’s degree from
Northeast Normal University, China. He currently serves as
the president of Seadragon Innovation Institute of International
Education. Dr. Chen had served as a deputy director of the
education, science, culture and public health department and a
director general of the information center of State Administration
of Foreign Experts Affairs (SAFEA). He had also served as a
commissioner general of China Association for International
Exchange of Personnel Overseas office of Japan. Dr. Chen’s
major research interests are Japanese philosophy history and
internationalization of education and talents.

Mr. Lu Yongchao, aged 42, obtained a diploma in Business
Administration for Real Estate Entrepreneurs in China at Sun
Yat-sen University and a diploma in English at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies. Mr. Lu was a team member of
Ample Luck International Capital Group Limited, a domestic
well known fund management group. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in business development, market development,
media management, finance and Information Technology
industry and years of investment, financing and fund
management history. He has rich experience in the enterprise
strategic management, internet strategy, brand management,
investment and financing management. He was the founder of
Enjoymedia Holdings Company Limited, which was listed on
the OTCBB in 2006 and was named one of the hundred most
Chinese Concept corporation listed in United States. Prior to
that Mr. Lu had been the Chief Executive of the online websites
YESITE and ITNOW, as well as the Whirlpool Kit Department
Head in China. Mr. Lu had assisted listing and financing of
different enterprises while working in an investment company
in China, and had served as the director of Taiwan listed
corporation China Mobile Digital Group. He also had served as
a director of a well-known German outdoor brand VAUDE.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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At the date of this annual report, Mr. Lu did not hold any shares
of the Company.

Ms. Yip Sum Yu, aged 32, is currently an executive director of
the company and was appointed as our non-executive Director
of the company from 10 November 2014 to 13 March 2020.
Ms. Yip has gained valuable experience in investments and
investors relations in connection with both listed and private
investments. She did not hold any other directorships in public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Ms.
Yip is also the directors of its subsidiaries, namely Great Select
Global Limited, Accurate Trade International Limited, China
Safety Holdings Limited, Cybernaut Asia Holdings Limited and
Eagle Pioneer Limited of the Group.

MRAFHRBEE - B EELBEPRARR R
Bt o A HE s

ESHEL 32 RAARFNTE
E YER-_ZT—NF+—AB+RE_ZF
—EF=AT=AEZEAEREIFEHNT
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International Limited + Bl ZEIER B R
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Mr. Tong Yiu On, aged 55, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), and currently as the company secretary of China
Ocean Industry Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 651). He served
as the chief financial officer of Infinity Development Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 640) and concurrently acted as
its executive director and company secretary from July 2011
to May 2018. From September 2000 to November 2008, he
served as the chief financial officer and company secretary
of Sinotronics Holdings Limited (currently known as Kingwell
Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1195)) and he concurrently acted
as its executive director from December 2002 to November
2008. Prior to joining such company, he had nine years of
financial management, accounting and auditing experience from
various companies listed in Hong Kong and overseas and an
international accounting firm.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Mr. Li Yik Sang, aged 47, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He has over 19
years of experience in auditing, finance and accounting. He has
served as the chief financial officer, authorised representative
and company secretary of Meike International Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 953)) from August 2009 to January 2016. Mr. Li
served as an audit assistant and a semi-senior auditor in Grant
Thornton from November 2000 to December 2002. He later
worked as a staff accountant, senior accountant and manager
in Ernst & Young from January 2003 to January 2007. He
acted as the chief financial officer of China Packaging Group
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 572)) from January 2007 to July
2009. He also served as an independent non-executive director
of China Agrotech Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1073)) from
December 2011 to June 2014. He received his bachelor’s
degree in commerce from the University of Queensland,
Australia in December 1998. He received his master’s degree
in commerce (information systems) from the University of
Queensland, Australia in August 2000. Mr. Li is currently a
member of CPA Australia and a member of HKICPA.

Mr. Cao Ke, aged 47, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 10 June 2015. He received his bachelor’s
degree in economics from Nankai University in China in 1995 and
a master’s degree in business administration from the University of
Hawaii in USA in 2001. He possesses over 10 years of experience
in financial management and over 8 years of experience in financial
investment and project management. He served as Chief Financial
Officer in Guangdong Esquel Textile Enterprise Co., Ltd., Jiemi
Int’l Trade (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Guangdong Qide Education
Service Ltd.. From January 2010 to March 2020, he served as
Chief Investment Officer in Youngy Investment Holding Group Co.,
Limited which is a reputable investment company in the PRC.
From October 2015 to March 2020, Mr. Cao served as the Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors for Gefeng Environmental
Protection Technology Co,. Ltd. Since December 2012, he served
as Supervisor in AnHua Agricultural Insurance Company Ltd and
Shenzhen Huaxunark Technology Co., Limited. Since March 2020,
Mr. Cao is the chief executive officer of Zhuhai Chang Cheng
Investment Management Company Limited.

FEETESE 477 RZZE—WF+A+
AEZEARRBIEIEMITES - K
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Dr. Wang Matthew Yang (“Dr. Wang”), aged 54, joined
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited on 12
May 2017 as Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He
currently serves as the President of Cybernaut Investment
Group and Chief Scientist of #i/IZ%. He has been serving
as senior director of IBM Global Technology Committee (one
of 18 people worldwide), member of IBM American Innovation
Leadership Committee, vice chairman of Center for China and
Globalization (CCG), deputy director of China Big Data Expert
Committee, deputy director of China National Committee of
Cloud Computing Experts, council member of Council 2005
of Western Returned Scholars Association (WRSA), director
of China Entrepreneurs Association, executive director of
Zhejiang University Innovation Institute International (ZIll),
visiting professor of Zhejiang University, Tsinghua University,
China Europe International Business School and Cheung Kong
Business School. He has served as IBM global vice president
and general manager of China Development Laboratories (CDL).
He is a holder of a doctorate degree in computer science from
Vanderbilt University (Bf2&A2) and a MBA degree from
George Washington University (&4 B T8 K22,

Dr. Wang joined IBM since 1998 and he was first appointed
as the chief architect of IBM’s global supply chain for personal
computers. After that, he was subsequently appointed as the
senior project director of IBM’s global services department,
being in charge of some projects in the aspects of electronics,
automobile, petroleum and others, with the funds involved
reaching several billion US Dollars. He also helped IBM to
establish the outsourcing center in India.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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In 2002, Dr. Wang joined the Research and Development
Department in his capacity being the executive assistant to
the president of IBM’s Global Research and Development
Center. His main job duties were to develop research in
respect of technological development and strategic direction.
Innovation Frontier Engineering, led by him, was a part of the
national innovation plan of the U.S. and was directly initiated
by the U.S. President. Since 2006, Dr. Wang was seconded
to station at the headquarters of Asia Pacific region and was
appointed as the general manager of IBM’s Software Technical
Sales. His duties were to lead more than 2000 professionals
in respect of technical sales and services distributed in the
Greater China, Japan, Korea, Australia, New Zealand, India and
some Southeast Asia countries, being dedicated to provide the
customers with various software and industrial solutions.

In 2008, Dr. Wang served as IBM global vice president and
general manager of the China Development Laboratories (CDL),
promoting the implementation of IBM’s cooperation with the
Chinese government and universities, including participation in
the Seattle China-US Internet Forum, leading more than 5,000
people in Beijing, Shanghai, Taipei, Guangzhou and Shenzhen.
On 1 March 2016, Dr. Wang announced its accession to
Cybernaut Investment Group, which manages more than
RMB60 billion M&A funds for investments in overseas assets,
especially equity, and connects domestic industries. It uses
technology, capital, and international methods to enhance
domestic investment, industrial transformation, upgrading and
development.
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Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald, aged 65, is currently the Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the company.
Mr. Sin received his bachelor’'s degree with extended major
in accountancy from Queensland University of Technology,
Australia in 1994. Then he pursued his postgraduate studies
with research and coursework at Griffith University, Australia in
1994. He obtained his master degree in business administration
from the University of Southern Queensland, Australia in
2006. Furthermore, Mr. Sin pursued his doctorate studies
at University of Wales Trinity Saint David in 2017 and had
taken online postgraduate business core studies of Harvard
University in 2020. He is currently an associate member of
HKICPA and a fellow member of the CPA Australia. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Sin has served companies in different
industries in Hong Kong, including those listed in Hong Kong
and overseas. He possesses over 20 years of management
experience in areas of accounting, business strategy and
corporate restructuring.

Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin, aged 47, is currently the executive
director and business development director of Soaring
International Limited (Soaring), that was founded with his
partner Mr. Lee Yim Stephen in 2007. He is also the director of
VT Zero Limited, subsidiary of Soaring. Mr. Ng was graduated
with a BA (Hons) Information Systems from City University of
Hong Kong in 1998. Upon graduation, he joined Hong Kong
International Terminals, IT Infrastructure division and Hutchison
PortsnPortals.com until he served as development specialist
in Innaworks Ltd. from 2000 to 2001. He also participated the
development of online securities trading platform in TaiFook
Securities during the period of 2002 to 2005. Then with his
years of past experience in internet application on research
and development in shipping and finance industry, Mr. Ng
worked as a system analyst in CCASS division of HKEx until he
joined Mr. Lee Yim Stephen to start the eBusiness venture in
2007. Mr. Ng has expertise on internet marketing and always
aims at exploring more online sales channels for the Soaring
International Limited enterprise, in a view to reach fast growing
online shoppers all over the world.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Mr. Lee Yim Stephen, aged 46, was previously the executive
director of Soaring International Limited (Soaring), which holds
100% equity interest of VT Zero Limited. As the director of
the Soaring enterprise, he oversaw the eCommerce division of
the group companies, and also the management of VT Zero
Limited until his resignation on 16 April 2021. Mr. Lee was
graduated with a BA (Hons) Finance from Hong Kong University
in 1998. With his enthusiasm in information technology field, he
joined Innaworks Ltd as development specialist from 1999 to
2001. And from 2002 to 2005, he held the position as senior
developer in Tai Fook Securities Limited and Emperor Capital
Group. With his years of past experience in IT sector and as
software developer in the finance industry, Mr. Lee founded the
eBusiness startup named VT Zero Limited in 2007. Prior to his
startup business, he was a Project Manager in UBS business
group. With his strong experience in software development and
insight on internet shopping, Mr. Lee managed the business
of VT Zero Limited to achieve an yearly turnover of HK$10
million within the first two years. Soaring International Limited
enterprise is now the wholly-owned subsidiary of Cybernaut
International Holdings Company Limited, with business majoring
on eCommerce of branded electronic products and second
hand mobile devices. At the date of this report, Mr. Lee is still
the PRC legal person for the VT Zero subsidiary, but he does
not hold any major management role in the eCommerce division
of the Soaring group.

Mr. Cheung Wing Lok Tommy, aged 40, joined the Company
in 2014. He is currently the directors of its subsidiaries, namely
N R LS BB RE AR AR Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education
Technology Limited (“#3M 27", “Huzhou Company”),Time
Credit Limited and China Safety Holdings Limited of the Group.
Mr. Cheung received his bachelor’'s degree in accountancy
from Curtin University of Technology, Australia in 2006 and
associate degree of Business Administration from HKU SPACE
in 2004. He is currently an associate member of HKICPA and
CPA Australia. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Cheung was
an auditor and possessed over 7 years of experience in areas
of auditing and accounting. Other than serving as subsidiaries’
director, Mr. Cheung also involved in daily administrative and
executive duties in the subsidiaries of the Group.

For the purpose of this section, “*” denotes unofficial English translation.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Group is primarily engaged in eCommerce, eCommerce
solutions and related support services and selling of information
technology products, money lending business, as well as,
provision of internet education services.

The Group’s turnover is mainly derived from business activities
in Mainland China. An analysis of the Group’s income for the
year is set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries as at 31
December 2021 are set out in note 41 to the financial
statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 163 and 164 of this
report.

The state of the Group’s affairs at 31 December 2021 is set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 165
to 166 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company is not aware of any arrangement under which a
shareholder of the Company has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The result, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, are summarised on page 316 of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of property, plant and equipment of the Group as at
31 December 2021 are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report,
there was a sufficiency of public float the Company’s securities
as required under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2021.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.
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Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its
shareholders as at 31 December 2021 were nil (31 December
2020: nil).

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable
to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Percentage of
the total purchases/
sales accounted for

Purchases
— the largest supplier 11%
— five largest suppliers combined 19%
Sales
— the largest customer 7%
— five largest customers combined 5%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest
in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group noted
above.

At no time during the year under review, none of the Directors,
their associates or shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any interest in the customers or suppliers disclosed
above.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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The Group has always kept our sustainable development that
aligns with the harmonious relationship to the environment
and committed to pay close attention to conserving natural
resources. The Group strives to minimize our environmental
impact by water-recycling initiatives, sewage treatment
implementation, energy saving and wastage reduction, and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. On
gas emission, advanced equipments have been employed in
various production procedures to recover part of the wastage
particulates generated during production process and minimize
the emission to the fullest extent. The Group dedicates to
improving equipment efficiency and quality management in order
to reduce power consumption. It also requires our factories to
operate in strict compliance with the relevant environmental
regulations and rules and possess all necessary permission and
approval from the relevant PRC regulators.

The Group always insist on the ideology on issues of
environmental protection, being conventional, safe and clean.
To enhance environmental awareness and encourage daily
participation among staff in the continuous improvement of
environmental protection, the Group implements green office
practices, such as implementing paperless practice whenever
possible and engaging staff regularly on low carbon office
measures.
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The Board recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring
relationship with its employees and business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers. Employees
are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated
and its workers are provided with regular training courses on
operation of different types of machinery, as well as work safety.
The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career
path and opportunities for advancement and improvement
of their skills. It is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate social governance essential for creating a framework
for motivating staff, and contributes to the community in which
we conduct our businesses and creates a sustainable return.
It also stays connected with its customers and suppliers and
has ongoing communication with the customers and suppliers
through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails
and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management are
delegated with the continuing obligation to monitor adherence
and compliance with all significant legal and regulatory
requirements. Our Audit Committee is delegated by the Board
to monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and such policies
are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operation units from time to time.
Since the Group has subsidiaries in China and Hong Kong, the
establishments and operations shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year
ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group’s operation has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong in all material
respects.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Min (Chairman)
Dr. Chen Huabei

Mr. Lu Yongchao

Ms. Yip Sum Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yiu On
Mr. Li Yik Sang
Mr. Cao Ke

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Wang Matthew Yang
Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Directors’ profiles are set out on pages 123 to 127 of this
report.
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Mr. Zhu Min’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director and chairman of the Company will be determined by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company
and the prevailing market situation.

Dr. Chen Huabei’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director of the Company will be determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation.

Mr. Lu Yongchao's appointment has no fixed term and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the
executive director of the Company will be determined by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company
and the prevailing market situation.

Ms. Yip Sum Yu has entered into a service contract with the
Company. Her appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. Her remuneration as the executive
director of the Company will be determined by the remuneration
committee and the Board with reference to her duties and
responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing market
situation.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Mr. Tong Yiu On was appointed for as an independent non-
executive Director since 10 October 2014, his appointment
is renewable automatically for successive term of one year
each commencing from the next day after the expiry of the
then current term of appointment, unless terminated by either
Mr. Tong or the Company giving not less than three months’
notice in writing. And Mr. Tong is entitled to a director’s fee
determined by the Board based on his anticipated effort and
expertise to be exercised on the Company’s affairs.

Mr. Li Yik Sang was appointed for as an independent non-
executive Director since 10 October 2014, his appointment is
renewable automatically for successive term of one year each
commencing from the next day after the expiry of the then
current term of appointment, unless terminated by either Mr.
Li or the Company giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing. And Mr. Li is entitled to a director’s fee determined by
the Board based on his anticipated effort and expertise to be
exercised on the Company’s affairs.

Mr. Cao Ke, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director for an initial term of three years, commencing from
10 June 2015. Since 2021, his appointment is renewable
automatically for successive term of one year each commencing
from the next day after the expiry of the then current term
of appointment, unless terminated by either Mr. Cao or the
Company giving not less than three months’ notice in writing.
And Mr. Cao is entitled to a director’s fee determined by the
Board based on his anticipated effort and expertise to be
exercised on the Company’s affairs.

The appointments of the independent non-executive Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group to protect the Directors and officers of the Group against
any potential liability arising from the Group’s activities which
such Directors and officers may be held liable.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Apart from the particulars disclosed in note 39 under the
heading “Related party transactions” to the financial statements,
there were no other transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party
nor there were any other transaction, arrangement or contracts
of significance in relation to the Company’s business between
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had, whether
directly or indirectly, a material interest.

No contract of significance had been entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into.

As at 31 December 2021, so far as was known to the Directors
and our Chief Executive Officer of the Company had an interest
or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, which were required to be recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:
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Long and short positions in the Shares and underlying

Shares

Name of
Shareholder

BERE EW

Mr. Zhu Min

AL

Mr. Lu Yongchao

AXBEE

Cybernaut International Limited (Note 2)

Nature of interest

Interest in a controlled
corporation
R EE RS

Interest in a controlled
corporation

R LB

Beneficial owner

REOREBRO ZHFRRAR

Interest in

Number of underlying Shares

securities held
(Note 1)

RERSHE
(#it1)

356,000,000 Shares (L)
356,000,000 8% B%15 (L)
6,100,000 Shares (L)
6,100,000 & 13 (L)

634,284,000 Shares (L)

ERLERERAR (Hit2) ERERA 634,284,000 A&7 (L)
Notes: Bzt -

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in our Shares. 1.

2. Cybernaut International Limited is the legal and beneficial owner 2.

of approximately 15.95% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company. Cybernaut International Limited is wholly owned by Mr.

Zhu Min.
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The Directors and the chief executive officer of the Company are
not aware that there is any party who, as at 31 December 2021,
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the Company
or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was adopted on 7 June 2010 (the
“Adoption Date”), for the purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution
to the Group. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years from the
Adoption Date.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include the
following:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Group or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest (including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director of the Group or any Invested Entity);
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(i

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(vili)

any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliances or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise of the

options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme

and any other share option scheme of the Group (including

both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in

any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share

capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of

share options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options). In addition, where
any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their respective
associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, in a 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, such grant of
share options are subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, whose
period may commence from the date of acceptance of the
offer for the grant of share options but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of the grant of the option
subject to the provisions for early termination under the Share
Option Scheme.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but shall not
be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the
offer of the grant, which must be a trading day;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and

(ily  the nominal value of a Share.
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The Company’s share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 7 June 2010 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees, and expired on 6 June 2020. Under the
Old Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant
options to eligible participant, including directors (excluding
non-executive directors), employees and consultant of the
Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 24 September
2021. Under the New Scheme, the Board of Directors of the
Company may grant option to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company.

At 31 December 2021, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Old Scheme was 120,000,000 (2020:120,000,000),
representing 3.02% (2020: 3.02%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued and
to be issued in respect of which options granted and may
be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders.

At 31 December 2021, the maximum number of Shares which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the Options to be
granted under the New Scheme and the outstanding options
granted under the 2010 Old Scheme will be 517,544,800
Shares, representing approximately 13.01% of the total number
of Shares in issue, which will not exceed the 30% limit under
Note 2 to Rule 17.03(3) of the Listing Rules.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Movements of the share options which were granted under the
Share Option Scheme, during the year under review were listed
below in accordance with Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules:

B ETEBE17.071& > REEFERIER
BRI 2 EREEEH T

Outstanding Outstanding

asat asat

1 January 31 December

Exercise 2020 Number of share option 2020

Date of price (HKS) ~ RZB-B% RREsA RZB-BE

Grantee grant fTiE® —F—-H Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  +ZR=t-H

RA Ay (&%) ARfTE  ERM Bfie 35:1 ] E3: RELTE

Eligible participants 7 May 2019 0.198 120,000,000 - - - - 120,000,000

Note 1)

RERSEE “E-NERALA (H#1)

Total 120,000,000 - - - - 120,000,000

&

Notes: HiaE

1. These options should be valid for a term of three years 1. ZEEREEXHA=F BZZ—N

commencing from 7 May 2019. The closing price of the
Company’s shares on 7 May 2019 (the trading day immediately
before the date on which these options were granted) was
HK$0.196.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year ended 31 December 2019 was estimated as at the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 40
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.638
Expected life of options (year) 1.5
Closing share price at grant date (HK$) 0.198

The expected life of the options is based on management
expectation and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
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The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year was approximately RMB Nil (2020: Nil) of which the Group
recognised a share option expense of approximately RMB Nil
(2020: Nil) during the year ended 31 December 2021.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the employees or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body
corporate.

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interest in Shares” above, at no time
during the year under review was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

During the reporting period, the Group had no material

acquisitions or disposal.

None of the Directors or the substantial shareholders of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group or has any other
conflict of interest with the Group during the year and up to the
date of this report.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

No contracts of significance concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year, other than those are disclosed in this report.

Save as disclosed in this report, as of 31 December 2021, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in
or had any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the businesses of the Group.

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set by the remuneration committee
of the Company on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and
achievement.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to eligible participants including directors (excluding
non-executive directors), employees and consultants of the
Group. Details of the scheme are set out in note 37 to the
financial statements.
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Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”
of this annual report.

The Group had no charitable donations during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Please refer to the section headed “Management discussion
and analysis” in this annual report for a business review and the
future prospects of the Company. Please refer to the notes to
the financial statements in this annual report for the principal
financial risks faced by the Company. Please refer to Note 42 to
the financial statements in this annual report for the important
events of the Company after the financial year ended 31
December 2021.

The Board may declare dividends in the future after taking into
account the Group’s operations, earnings, financial condition,
cash requirements and availability and other factors as it may
deem relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment
as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to the
Company’s constitutional documents and the Companies Law,
including the approval of the Shareholders. Future declarations
of dividends may or may not be reflected from the Company’s
historical declarations of dividends and will be at the absolute
discretion of the Board.

The Company established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the requirements as
set out in the Listing Rules for the purposes of reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process and internal controls
of the Group.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman),
Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke. The Audit Committee has
reviewed and discussed with the management and the external
auditor for the financial reporting matters including the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board appointed Elite Partners CPA Limited as the auditor
of the Company and a resolution to re-appoint the retiring
auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited, will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There have been no
changes of auditor in the past three years.

By order of the Board

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
Zhu Min

Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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elite
- partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE MEMBERS OF CYBERNAUT INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set
out on pages 163 to 315, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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Key audit matter

et Em

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMMEMAEERR T ER

1) Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets and properties, plants and equipment

BEREERELRME - BB R W EFE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had carrying
amount of goodwill, intangible assets and
properties, plants and equipment and right-of-use
assets of approximately RMB67,013,000, RMBnil,
RMB9,319,000 and RMB3,770,000 respectively,
which were allocated to three cash-generating units,
namely Money lending, eCommerce and Internet
education services (the “CGUSs”). For the purpose
of assessing impairment, the Group appointed an
independent external valuer to assess the recoverable
amount of the CGUs, which were determined by
management based on the higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal. The valuation
requires significant judgement made by management
in determining the CGUSs.
RZB_—F+-A=+—H  BE5EzBE &
TWEE M¥E BMENMIKBAREREEERAED
K AHARYEE7,013,0007T - ARBTIL - ARY
9,319,000 X AR #3,770,0007T * HESEZE =1
ReEEEMN - BIRE  EFRBREBAHE RS
([REeEL£EM]) - RFMGHRE X EXEEEE—%25
NEGERM AR EEE 2ANE R - AT
HEEEREBEFERAEENAFERHENAZESE
EF HeELfBUETAREREHGEELE
RFNE - FRITTEK °

After the management assessment, management
has concluded that there is an impairment loss of
goodwill and intangible assets of approximately
RMB212,375,000 and RMB52,790,000 respectively
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

REREN LR EREEABEE_T_—F+_-A=
TRIEFEZBERELEEREEESFINAAR
#212,375,0007T & A R#52,790,0007T °
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Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets
included the following:

B EREERELEEREN HNETIEFEEAT
IR

— Assessing the management’s identification of
CGUs based on our understanding of the Group’s
operations.
BRERMYE SEELLOHBEETEEREENRSE
BRI AR o

—  We discussed with management and independent

external valuer engaged by the Group in relation
to the methodology, basis and assumptions
used in arriving at the forecasts (e.g. estimated
growth rate and discount rate etc.) to see whether
the methodology and assumptions used were
reasonable and appropriate;
BMEEREER BEEEZENBIIMNSEERM
MRIEBTRRMMA A - AERRFZ (PGB R
EREBRARE)UEEMATEARRESEARE
NEE

— We checked the accuracy appropriateness and
reliance of the input data used; and
HMERErmAw A BURR ERME S EEE LA 5
R

— We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external value taking
into account its experience and qualifications.
KERBINEEMELERRER - ZMFTMHE
MR - eI REBIE -



Key audit matter

et Em

We had identified impairment assessment of
goodwill and intangible assets, properties plants and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit
matter because significant management judgement
was used to appropriately identify the CGUs and to
determine the key assumptions including estimated
future income, operating margins and discount rates.
HREREENEARAERANES AR EEFEM
NETE AR RR (BRMARKKE - KENBERITR
) WEMEEERELEE  WF  BEIRKEN
NfEREEEREN GBI RERESSE -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMMEMAEERR T ER

— Comparing the current year future cash flows with
the prior year cash flow projections to consider if
the assumptions included in the cash flow projects
were reasonable.

RANEENARRR S REREFNRSRETRET
HE - UERBRSRERAMESNRIEEERE -

— Assessing the sensitivity analysis on key
assumptions being used in the cash flow
projections (e.g. using a range of higher discount
rates and lower revenue growth rate).
AHEARE @R ETRRNRRER 2 GURE DT (HI
EASERS TR R REENBAKRE) -
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Key audit matter

et Em

2) Impairment assessment of loan receivables

T e S5 R (B AT 4
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had loan
receivables of approximately RMB171,268,000.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, there
is reversal of impairment loss recognised of loan
receivables RMB7,947,000.
RZZEZ—F+-A=+—0 - SE5EZEWERD
RARKA171,268,0007T - RBE_T_—F+-H=
T—HIEFEAR - SEEBEIAEKETREBEEE
ANR¥7,947,0007T °

We had identified impairment assessment of loan
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverability of loan receivables
and recognition of loss allowance are inherently
subjective and requires significant management
judgment, which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.

BRI ERN TR E M KRB ERERS AR
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMMEMAEERR T ER

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of loan receivables included the following:
BAEARKERERET AOFTEFEEATE
I8

— Understanding the procedures performed by
management, including periodic review on
overdue receivables and the assessment of
expected credit losses allowance on the loan
receivables;

EREEBETNRREY BREYSHEKKRENTE
HZ M LT B E RN TR E S B EEE

— Understanding and evaluating the modelling
methodologies for expected credit losses
measurement, assessed the reasonableness
of the model selection and key measurement
parameters determination;

BE LA EEREEERAENERATE - FEE
APERFEFELHEENSEBM

— Understanding the management’s identification
of significant increase in credit risk, defaults
and credit-impaired loans, corroborated
management’s explanation with supporting
evidence for the historical information;
HELERME  BEREEEZMNEERBRAEIE
m-BHREEREER  EEENREREREER
RIFERE

— Assessing the reasonableness of economic
indicator selection, economic scenarios
and weightings application, assessed the
reasonableness of the estimation by comparing
with industry data for forward-looking
measurement; and
ARG EM S - BAIFEKSEERTENSIE
M RBEBANEZWER  BEBLRITEEIR
HAFTE RN &

— Checking major data inputs used in the expected
credit losses models on sample basis to the
Group’s record.

R ERECBmERETRRACEEEREREXMA
WFEEZEHAHE -



Key audit matter

et Em

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMMEMAEERR T ER

3) Control over Capital Wowxue (Beijing) education Technology Limited (“Wowxue”)

HREMEAR (LR HERRBRAF (X)) z26E

The directors, after consulting legal opinion, are of
the view that the Group has control over Wowxue
through the Contractual Arrangements (defined in
Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements) and
has accounted for it as a subsidiary of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021 despite the
held by the
Group in Wowxue. Please see Note 41(j) for details.
EELHBAEEERR  RB EEBBEBSORH
(EBERGAVBBMKRMTL) BEERBZ ZH# -
WREE-TS-_—F+_A=+—HLEFEHHE®E
" BEEENMBEARIARK &% SBHREWRNHKRE
BERIESVETERE - FIEF2RME4() -

absence of formal legal equity interest

Our audit procedures in relation to the control over
Wowxue included the following:

BMARASIEHIENET R TFEENATSIA

— Evaluating the relevant agreements and other
relevant documents, discussing with the lawyer
engaged by the Group, considering the relevant
legal opinion provided by the Group and the
requirements in the relevant accounting standards
to determine whether the Contractual Agreements
have given the Group control over Wowxue.
RETEHNZHRERE BEXEERRBZE
B ARG E R AR - B EREE
EL R WER BEREMEEEEER
BEREBAGTERZHE °

— Assessing the management’s analysis and
conclusions on whether or not it controls over
Wowxue based on the Group’s analysis on its
power over Wowxue’s relevant activities, and the
magnitude and variability of variable returns from
its involvement with Wowxue.
HEEREEBHERZEABEREN ST MR
ZAHhEER EXBEYRZRMEERHNES - L
MEBSEABNERMESIZLENEREE
KORENMER) DA o
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMOEMAEERR T ER

Evaluating the appropriateness of management’s
assessment on its legal or constructive obligation
to absorb loss of Wowxue by reviewing relevant
agreements or contracts, and whether the
Group has provided liquidity support or credit
enhancement to Wowxue
BRERMAABEHSOTETERERETH RS
%%%ﬁ%ﬁmimiﬁm%%'&%éﬁﬁéﬁ
RS SIRENFTENREE -

Assessing the management’s analysis and
conclusions on the existence of Wowxue or
significant influence over Wowxue. Making
inquiries and inspections of the relevant contracts
and agreements of investments to evaluate the
Management’s assessment of its power to control
over Wowxue' relevant activities, or to participate
in Wowxue and operating policy decisions.
AEEREHABFENRS I RENERTE
DA - BRARLEERENHEES NN
WAL T ERBEAERBEEHITEE - X2
ERYR B S BURR TR R ST RO T o

Reviewing the minutes of the meetings of Wowxue,
the Board of Directors of Wowxue. Evaluating
the management’s reassessment of its influence
over Wowxue on a continuous basis if facts and
circumstances indicated that there were changes.
Furthermore, checking the adequacy of related
disclosures of structured entity.
BEHABLAREZENEZLE - WEENER
RPABE TR HRETHEERBYAEZEN
EHEE - B mETEBLECEIRBNOEBRER
BRED



The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

EXAHEMENEE - HBWEHNBREF
BAMENER - ETEESFEME®RER
RPN EF O EBE RS -

BPERAMBHREANERL NREEM
BH BTN TEZSEEMERBEREM
A RRE B o
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A BPBERELZFE - RARL T EE
MEHARSE °

EXFAERBERBSAMOGRMNE
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Chan Wai Nam, William with
practising certificate number P0O5957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10th Floor,

8 Observatory Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon,

Hong Kong, 14 April 2022

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales/service rendered

Gross profit

Other gains or loss, net
Impairment losses, net of reversal
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Income tax credit

Loss for the year from continuing operations

Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from
discontinued operation

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or l0ss:

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE
FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE
FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

PREERE
WA
HE /RERBAA

EF

Hip s EiRFE
REER - MEREE
HE R X
THRAX

AR

BR % il B R
FIsHiER

REFBEREXB L FEBR

CRIEEERY

RECRIEREXEBZ

FRMEF

FEER

Ht2EAX

FJEERE R B D E Bz

HIEH -

BEBINEBRHELN

BE SR

FERM2EMX

FEZEMZMAER

ARAITA AR
FRBE:
TRCERR
BRIEEERH

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE T —S+-_A=1+—HItFEE

2020
—T-EF

Note RMB'000
M &E ARBTT

7 285,208
(218,751)

66,457

9 41,738
10 (117,973)
(4,154)

(69,568)

11 (19,581)

12 (103,081)
13 1,647

(101,434)

44 24,051

(77,383)

(10,817)

(10,817)

(88,200)

(100,278)
24,051

(76,227)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-—S+-A=1+—HILtEE

Loss for the year attributable to
non-controlling interests:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Total comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year attributable to
owners of the Company:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year attributable
to non-controlling interests:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Loss per share:

From continuing and discontinued
operations
Basic (RMB cents per share)

Dilute (RMB cents per share)
From continuing operations

Basic (RMB cents per share)

Dilute (RMB cents per share)

Note
(i

RS EEEE
BB
REKEER
BEARIERERE

FLAFMAARGEERE
(BA%)/ I R

TRRERK
BRIEEERS

FERESEETFERZE
B (RX)#H:

TRRERG
BRIEEERR

BEER: 17
RARBERDRILESE

%75

EX(BRARES)

g (BRARED)
REFEEERT
EX(BRARED)

e (BRARED)

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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2020
—T-EF

RMB’000
ARBTT

(1,156)

(1,156)

(77,383)

(111,158)
24,051

(87,107)

(1,093)

(1,093)

(1.92)

(1.92)

(2.52)

(2.52)




Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Loan receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayment

Restricted bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Tax liabilities

Bank borrowings

Net current assets

FRBEE

E RN G

EREEE

[k

BN AE
BRAVEFABRZER
BE

RBRE

et

H P RWIE
FERE

Hit YR - e K
EUNE/ S

R HIRITIE K
RITEBEAS

nBAR
EoRNFTARENRE
Hit AR B B
aWaE
HEAE
|ITIEE

mEEERE

Notes

Pt

18
19
20
21

23

24
25
26

27
28
28

29
30
31
32

33

At 31 December 2021

S SR e B S |2

2020

—ZT-F
—<—=

RMB’000
ARBTT

11,5650
3,508
282,933
58,783

569

357,343

12,659
30,583
152,450

87,977
8,754
87,175

379,598

30,200
37,665
2,811
3,193
3,367

77,236

302,362
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At 31 December 2021
RZT=—F+=A=+—H

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease Liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Promissory notes

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 April 2022

and are signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR
EF

Zhu Min

£ 3

REREATHAR

FREBAR

EXERIAERE

ZEGTIEt

RERE

BER R

[EEN
&

FFiiiEa

=10

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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DIRECTOR

EZE

Notes

P e

32
34
35

37

HERBRRHESS

2020

—E-F
—F=%

RMB’000
ARBTT

659,705

470
12,514
334,737

347,721

311,984

337,128
(20,463)

316,665
(4,681)

311,984
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At 1 January 2020

Loss for the year

Qther comprehensive (expense)/income
for the year

Total comprehensive expense for the year

At 31 December 2020 and at
1 January 2021

Loss for the year

QOther comprehensive (expense)/income
for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

At 31 December 2021

FEAMZEAR)/ da

FEEERNER

FREMEE (%) Ka

FR2ERLEE

RZ2--%+ZA=1-A

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-—F+-A=+—HItEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN TN T
Capital Share Non-
Share Share  redemption  Statutory options  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital premium Reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
R*
ks BRER FEGRRE  EERE BEEEE  ERRG RHER it FAREE i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB0OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETT ARETR  ARETR ARETR
Note(a) Note(b) Note (c) Note (d) Note (g)
Bzt (a) MaEb)  Mitle) M) Kitle)
337,128 587,684 17918 48818 6,040 17,672 (611,488) 403,772 (3,588 400,184
- - - - - - (16,227)  (76,221) (1,156)  (77,389)
- - - - - (10,880) - 10,880 63 (10,817)
- - - - - (10,880) (16,227)  (87,107) (1,093 (88,200)
337,128 587,684 17918 48818 6,040 6,792 (687,715) 316,665 (4,681 311,984
— = —
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BHE

—E-—F+-_A=+—HLFE

Notes:

(@)

Share premium represents the difference between the par value
of the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the
issuance of the shares of the Company which is governed by the
Cayman Companies Law.

Balance represented an amount equivalent to the par value of
the shares repurchased and cancelled of HK$57,339,000 which
was transferred from the Accumulated losses to the capital
redemption reserve during the years ended 31 December 2018.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), the PRC subsidiaries
are required to provide for PRC statutory reserves, including
enterprise expansion fund and general reserve fund, by way of
appropriations from its statutory net profit (based on the PRC
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries) but before
dividend distributions.

All appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the
board of directors of PRC subsidiaries. The board of directors
of the PRC subsidiaries shall decide on the amounts to be
appropriated based on its profitability each year.

The enterprise expansion fund may be used to increase registered
capital subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities. The
general reserves fund may be used to offset accumulated losses
or increase the registered capital subject to approval from the
relevant PRC authorities.

Share options reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be
transferred to accumulated losses when the related options are
exercised, expired or forfeited.

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign currency differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
subsidiaries whose functional currencies are currency other than
RMB.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation
Adjustments for:
Interest income on bank deposits
Fair value change of contingent consideration
Fair value changes of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Dividend income from financial assets through profit and loss
Loss on disposal of financial assets through profit and loss
Loss on early redemption of promissory notes
Gain on extinguishment on promissory notes
Fair value change on extension on promissory notes
Interest expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and loan receivables, net of reversal
Impairment loss recognised in respect of intangible assets
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
Impairment loss recognised in respect of other receivables
Amortisation of intangible assets
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables
Increase in loan receivables
Increase/(decrease) in other receivables,
deposits and prepayment
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables

(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals

Net cash generated from/(used in) operations
Income tax refund/(paid)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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2020
—E-FE

—T—=

RMB'000
N: S

(103,081)
24,051

(813)
(2,834)

404

(35,521)

19,581
1,964
4,207

20,060
92,523

5,390
25,499
(25,840)

25,610
(7,132)
9,137

(41,640)

(34,841)

(23,505)

29,046

(43,325)
(7,314)

(50,639)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Investing activities

Interest received

Dividend received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities

Financing activities

Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest paid

Repayment of promissory notes
Repayment of bank borrowings
Proceed from bank borrowings

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year
Effect of exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year

representing bank balances and cash
as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position

representing bank balances and cash
attributable to a discontinued operation
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Cybernaut International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the corporate information section to the
annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are investment holding, eCommerce,
provision of internet education services and money
lending.

For the prior year up to 27 May 2020, the Group was
engaged in manufacture and sale of paper converting
equipment and other related equipment segment. Detail of
the disposal was set out in Note 45.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

The application of amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years,
and/or the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021°

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and
Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that all application
of the all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained on the accounting
policy set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represents the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group
is as follows:

° eCommerce
° internet eduction services
Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to
transfer to the customer either:

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct; or

ii. a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is
distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the
good or service is capable of being distinct); and

ii. the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of
the contract).
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised

over time by reference to the progress towards complete

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of

the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when

the customer obtains control of the distinct good or

service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Sales of goods are recognised at a point in time at which
the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods
are delivered to customers and the title is passed.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

Service income from internet education services are
recognised over time when services are rendered.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Lease

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.
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Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to change in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.
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Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

S ()

MEJNGAMBEREME - A5HE
BINEBHEERABREREH
AWBRTEXELSAEENZ7
B (BIAR®) - WARFHXIAE
TRZHE 2 FHERBE - BRIE
PE R A 5% HA T A 3RO 0E R B RIAE
Blam - RIEBEARA T AIRARR 5
EEZRITER MELZERE
BA) REMEEKWaAER - X
RES RBET 2 R RE -

RHEEBINES (BHERKRERE
SRz 2B Em  FRRERS
BN 2 B A B ZEHEZ HE
FH)E > RARRHEA AREZE
BMRES R BB EZHE

MOBEERE -



Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other gain or
loss, net”.

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Government grants (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement of
financial position and is amortised over the lease term on
a straight-line basis except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Retirement benefits costs

The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
relevant income and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed in the
MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contribution
to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.
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Retirement benefits costs (continued)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s republic of China (“PRC”) are
required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group
has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e.
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of
such contributions). As at 31 December 2021, no forfeited
contribution under the pension scheme of the Group is
available for deduction of contribution payable in coming
years.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share option granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited or
cancelled after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share capital.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.
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Taxation (continued)

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the weighted-average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the
sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presents as revenue.
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Financial assets

Classification of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

AR BAER R RE
HRAE -

s XBEANEBENABETRE
ENBBANRERE &

s ANKBFAREERERHEL
Reng MxFREREE
REX N AE A REERS
ZFE o

PrERMSREEERIZAFER
ABEFE - MEHZRERELIF
RIEEERZRKRBIRBEYH
HEEMNFEIREXBKA G FTER
ZEBGA T ERBOKNAKE - A
REBARNGEEACBREE R
AA R EEN A2 ERES
2IERRENFEIERES -

HEATER  SREEFEIES
FEEERS ¢

e HEWBHNTIEZEANR/NEH
TR &R -

s HEYIZHRE G HAXEESE
TEENCDHAEMTAMAS
B —&f o BB ER AR 8
ERE ;3

e HAWIEESBREMTA
MPTETA o

Annual Report 2021
“E -8



For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Financial assets (continued)

Classification of financial assets (continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
theme (“FVTOCI”) as measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”) if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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Financial assets (continued)

Classification of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains or loss”, net line item.

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, loan receivables, other
receivables, deposits, restricted bank deposits and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 180 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more events that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the

following events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade and other receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit information such
as forward looking macroeconomic information, except
for certain trade receivable with significant balance and
credit-impaired which are assessed individually.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status

° Nature,size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognized through
a loss allowance account.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.
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Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received, and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from
the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows
of the original financial asset, after reducing gross carrying
amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to
the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.
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Hz=—

E_—F+_-_A=1+—HLHFE

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payable, other
payables and accruals, other borrowings and promissory
note are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (i) it is designated as at
FVTPL.
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Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A financial liability is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
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Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

° the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.
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Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. For financial liabilities that contain embedded
derivatives, such as contingent consideration, the changes
in fair value of the embedded derivatives are excluded
in determining the amount to be presented in other
comprehensive income. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred
to accumulated losses upon derecognition of the financial
liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, other borrowings and promissory
notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presents as revenue.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation, When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognized because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognized in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognized in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Control over a subsidiary

The Group’s management needs to assess whether the
Group has the power over Wowxue and is exposed to
significant variable return of Wowxue. If such power and
exposure exist, the Group should consolidate Wowxue.
The judgements the Group used in determining if it has
control over Wowxue detailed in Note 41.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and loan
receivables

Trade receivables and loan receivables with significant
balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, for trade receivables and loan receivables
which are individually insignificant or when the Group does
not have reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on
individual basis, collective assessment is performed by
grouping debtors based on the Group’s internal credit
ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables and loan receivables are disclosed in note 25
and note 26.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses each cash-generating unit annually
to determine whether any indication of impairment exists.
When an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate
of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered
to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. The carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable
in accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed
in the relevant part of this section. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to estimate future cash flows
from the cash generating units and to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the future cash flows are less than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill
is RMB67,013,000 (2020: RMB282,933,000) (net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB212,375,000 (2020:
RMB92,523,000)). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 22.
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The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits.

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buybacks as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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(@)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

Financial Assets SMEE

Amortised cost B SH A AR

Financial assets at fair BATER AR
value through profit or loss L EREE

Financial Liabilities AR

At amortised cost BESHR AR

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, trade receivables, loan receivables, other
receivables, deposits, restricted bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and bills payables, other
payables, promissory notes and bank borrowings.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (price risk,
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

mAFERARR
ZEMAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risks of changes in
market interest rates related primarily to the Group’s
loan receivables with floating interest rates.

The table set out below demonstrates the sensitivity
to a reasonably possible change in interest rates in
the current year, with all other variable held constant,
of the Group’s loss before taxation (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings).

2021 —E-—5
RMB AR
RMB AR
2020 —E-ZF
RMB AR
RMB AR

SREARERE B HREE
(%)

A

TSI

AR ER B TS A R Z B
b 2R BF B A R R
ERER -

TRIIFRAE R A H 8
ERETEMERT - ALE
BB EIE GF BT BRI 18
2R URENABT
SR -

Decrease/

Increase/ (Increase) in
(decrease) in loss before
basis points taxation

BB, FRIRAIES IR
(®P) ®WP (18)

RMB’000

ARETIT

50 18
(50) (18)
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investment in listed equity securities and financial
derivatives. Management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity instruments quoted in the
TSX Venture Exchange in Canada.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the 31
December 2020.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 10% higher/lower, loss for the year would
decrease by RMB57,000 as a result of the changes
in fair value of investment in listed equity securities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
loan receivables and bank balances. As at 31
December 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties arising from the carrying amounts
of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

The Group deposited bank balances with approved
and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of
the banks may cause the Group’s right with respect
to pledged bank deposits and bank balances held
to be delayed or limited. The directors monitor the
credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis,
and consider that the Group’s exposure to credit risk
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were minimal.
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

For other receivables, the directors make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The directors
believe that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of the Group’s outstanding balances of other
receivables since initial recognition and the Group
provide impairment based on 12m ECL. Based on
the assessment, impairment of other receivables
with the amounts of approximately RMB12,806,000
(2020: RMB5,390,000) was recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

For loan receivables, the directors make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of loan
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information.

The Group considers loan receivables as doubtful if
the repayment of principal and/or interest has been
overdue for more than 3 months and principal. The
Group considers the loan and receivables as loss
if the repayments of principal and/or interest have
been overdue for more than 6 months for loan and
loan interest receivables; and in cases the collection
of principal and/or interest in full is improbable.

Based on the above assessment, a reversal of
impairment on loan receivables with the amount of
approximately RMB7,947,000 (2020: provision of
impairment of approximately RMB18,892,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
17% (2020: 14%) and 22% (2020: 49%) of the
loan receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers respectively.
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group’s policy to manage credit risk is to deal
only with credit worthy counterparties. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has formulated a credit policy and, delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is take.

Trade receivables are assessed based on provision
matrix, except for trade receivables with gross
carrying amounts of approximately RMB7,146,000
(2020: RMBS3,035,000), which are credit-impaired,
that are assessed individually. The Group performed
impairment assessment for the trade receivables
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Internal
credit rating

PER{E R IF R

Low risk

KRB

Watch list

BERAE

Doubtful

B

Write-off

6]

Description

ik

The counterparty has a low risk of
default and does not have any
past-due amounts

RHHFENRRERBEM
BEREHR

Debtor frequently repays after due
dates but usually settle in full

BHALERIH B RER
BRATE2HEE

There have been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information development
internally or external resources

FRADINRERGLOER - 58
[ B 1) %A HE SR LA PR B 2 42

There is evidence indicating
that the asset is credit-impaired

AREBRTEELREERE

There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery,
asset is credit impaired

ARBERNEBARARENBRE
BARSEN EERIBHRE
AR RELREERE
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receivables

R 7 BRI

Lifetime ECL-not
credit impaired

FHEHREEEE
—3FEERE
Lifetime ECL-not
credit impaired
FHRBEEER
—EEERE
Lifetime ECL-not
credit impaired

FHRBEEER
—EEERE
Lifetime ECL-credit

impaired

FHEHEEEE
—EERE
Amount is
written off

TRE A

Other financial
assets

HteMAE

12m ECL

12{8 A R
EEBE
12m ECL

1218 A a2
FEER

Lifetime ECL-not
credit impaired

FHHEHEEEE
—IEERE
Lifetime
ECL-credit
impaired
FHEHEEEE
—EERE
Amount is
written off

TREMIA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ZE-—F+-_A=1+—RHIL&EE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. &£MIHA (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) 2rREAREEZBNRBEE

policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERE R FEFE (&)
The following table provides information about the TRIBEE AR E IR
Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables FEp KRR 2 B S EWGRIE
which are assessed collectively based on provisional EERBER - EEFTM
matrix except for those who are assessed individually EEREERI

or credit-impaired:

Gross
Expected carrying Loss

loss amounts allowance
RGN IRE#H iR
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#®TR AR®TXT

As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—%+"H=+—H

Current (Not past due) BIHA (R HEH)
1 to 30 days 1E30K 1.41% 6,890 64
31 to 60 days 31E60K 1.55% 5,330 55
61 to 90 days 61 290K 1.72% 4,820 55
91 to 180 days 91F180k 2.35% 9,711 134
Over 180 days 180K E 4.68% 441 14
27,192 322
As at 31 December 2020 W_Z-ZEf+-A=+—H
Current (Not past due) BNER (g H)
1 to 30 days 1E230K 1.44% 9,665 91
31 to 60 days 31E60K - - -
61 to 90 days 61290k 1.75% 9,155 105
91 to 180 days 91E180K 1.94% 9,027 115
Over 180 days 180 KA E 3.11% 3,146 99
30,993 410

Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group recognised provision/
(reversal) of impairment amounts of approximately
RMBS3,510,000, RMB12,806,000 and RMB7,947,000
(2020: RMB2,654,000, RMB5,390,000 and
RMB18,892,000) for trade receivables, other
receivables and loan receivables (net of reversal)
respectively.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

(b)

SREARERE B HREE
(%)

FEmE R E G ()

HETEIEENENEHARE
HEHMNBEERMEMNED
EhED - W BANHEER
% 7T ] ES R RTRE &
HAZ ERETHRTZE
S48 - ATEIREFEEE AR
BHEEEH MNEBEE-ZTZ
—F+=-A=+—HLFE "
REBEDRME S ERK
B HiEWRRERERE
(B BE) R ERE
/ (B&E) HAR%3,510,000
7T~ AR#12,806,0007T &
AREET,947,0000 (=ZF =
=F : AR¥2,654,0007T
AER#5,390,0007T K& A R #
18,892,000t ) °



For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) cREAREEZEHREE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) 1EE R RmE S (&)
The following table shows the loss allowance of trade TREREBOEEREZHE
receivables movement in lifetime ECL that has been HEEEBENE 5 ERGIEE
recognised under the simplified approach: B
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2HRM 2R

ERER ERER
(FEREE) (EREE) it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT  ARBTR  AR®TR

As at 1 January 2020 RZZE_TF—-H—H 4,212 8,414 12,626
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE 1,154 1,500 2,654
Disposal of a subsidy HE—FEMHEAF (4,952) (6,879) (11,831)
Exchange realignment B 5 5% @) - @)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZF+_A=t—H

and at 1 January 2021 ERZE=—5—HA—H
Impairment loss recognised ERERESR
Exchange realignment ERAE
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—-%+-HB=1+-8

Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following table show reconciliation of loss

allowance of loan receivables under general

approach is as follow:

At 1 January 2020
Impairment loss recognised
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020

and as at 1 January 2021
Reversal of impairment loss
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021

RN—_E-TF—H—H
BRERRESE
P& 5

BERERE
B S AR

RZEZ—F+=RA=+—H

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

(b) cREAREEZEHREE

(%)

FEmE R E G ()

TRERE —ROAER R B

255
B A

12m ECL

12{8 A R
EEER
RMB’000

AR®TT

11,977
18,892
109

BB R B AR -
Lifetime
ECL
(credit-
impaired) Total
2HHAH
EHEBIR
(ESiRE) #t
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TE AR®TR
60,519 72,496
- 18,892
550 659




For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) cREAREEZEHREE
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk B E LR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group REERDESRRME @ &
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash SEHERRAREREERAR
equivalents deemed adequate by the management WENAEEEE RS R
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the SEEWKE - UEBERE
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. MERBHTE -
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRFIAEE ZIEITESR
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial BEZHTAHEIEHAB - K
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the BEAEEBERNIR IR
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based AfizemaERMEBERESNM
on the earliest date on which the Group can be SRE -

required to pay.

Annual Report 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidlity risk (continued)

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
miEFsy
ERiE
%
%
At 31 December 2021 BoB=-£
+ZB=+-H
Trade and bill payables BARITERENEE
Other payables and accruals  EftENFAREHER
Lease liabilies HEaR
Promissory notes RAZR
At 31 December 2020 gk i 3
+ZB=+-H
Trade and bill payables EHENFBRENEE -
Other payables and accruals £ ENFAREER -
Lease liablies BEaR 3.36
Bank harrowings RIRE 3.5
Promissory notes S 14,47

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

(b) LHEMREEZHHRBEEK
(&)
BB LA ()
More than
two years
On demand but not Total
or less than Within more than  undiscounted Carrying
3 months 1 year fiveyears  cash flows amount
HEXY fibepe A
DR3MER 1%h BYR5E  REREER IFEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR  AREBTR  ARETR  AR¥TR
30,200 - - 30,200 30,200
37,665 = = 37,665 37,665
- 2,875 474 3,349 3,281
- 3417 - 3417 3,367
= = 382,166 362,166 334,737
67,865 6,352 382,640 456,857 409,250




()

Fair values measurements of financial
instruments

The following table presents financial liabilities
measured at fair value in the statement of financial
position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
The hierarchy groups financial liabilities into three
levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these
financial liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets and liabilities
that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The level in fair value hierarchy within which the
financial liability is categorised in its entirety is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

()

ERMIBEZATEFE

TREJRBEQXFEBRNY
BRAKRANRAFEFEZS
BMEBE - ZERREBEAEZSF
CREBEATEMERZEIE
BABBEZAEAEL - K
MEEED H=ERA - XF
BEERZERNMOT

F—&: EBEBRNFEBHR
HRAEERBER
AEMS LR
HE CREAE)

F_HK: REEHABHERE

(BN1Z B 1% ) 3 ]

Z(aEREL)

ABR 28 AR

(TBREE &M

BEZ®WE) Rk

BEXBELIFE
KA R I5 BUR
2B ABE (T H
BB -

=M

HEeMABZERIOMBL
FERBR BB TIERE RF
B EBEARZRELMNGEA
iz -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

(c) Fair values measurements of financial (c) =RMIAZAFEFE (#E)
instruments (continued)

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the financial R-B-_—FR_Z_ZTF+

assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the —A=Z+—8  RHEAFBHRK

consolidated statement of financial position are MNERNBAFEFEZEHE

grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: ERABERATFEEBRZSHE
U

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

E—k ot 5=8 At

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARETT ARBTI

Financial assets at R-E-—-%+ZA
31 December 2021 =t+—RzemEE
Financial asset at fair value XA FEFAEBRZ
through profit or loss PREE
Financial assets at R-E_ZF+ZA
31 December 2020 =t—HZEMEE
Financial asset at fair value BATERF A B
through profit or loss JEREE 385 184 - 569

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT



()

Fair values measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

Financial
assets/liabilities

SRRE /AR

Listed equity securities
at FVTPL

BATEFARR
kAR

Derivative financial
assets

ESREE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

()

Fair value as at

RUTEEZATE
2021 2020
. “E-Ef

Listed equity securities of
Ellipsiz Communications
Ltd.

Ellipsiz Communications Ltd.

Z EmikAEs
N/A
i

Listed equity securities of
Ellipsiz Communications
Ltd.

Ellipsiz Communications Ltd.
Z FiRAE S

Assets RMB184,000

EEAR184,0007

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2
during the year (2020: Nil).

EMTAZAFEE (H)

Fair value
hierarchy
AFERR

Level 1

EH

Level 2

E |

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
BEREREEMARE

Quoted bid prices in an
active market

IR lE VA YN
Binomial option pricing

model

“EAMEEERA

RER - E—RAEH2MH
CEBLEBE (CB_BF

&)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Continuing operations

Revenue from contract with customer

Revenue from eCommerce —
at a point of time

Revenue from internet education
services — over time

Revenue from other sources

Revenue from money lending business

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

BHREERE
EFEaAHA
KEEFEBIBA
— X5
XK B EERHE RIS
Z WA —BER R HER
82 A AR Z WA
KEBEREZBWA

WARI DTN

2020
—E-FF
RMB’000
AREFIT

243,664

24,623

16,921

285,208




HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (the
executive directors) (“CODM”) in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance.

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to three
operating segments focusing on: i) money lending; ii)
eCommerce; and iii) internet education services. These
operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies which conform to HKFRSs, that are
regularly reviewed by the CODM.

On 27 May 2020, the manufacture and sale of paper
converting equipment and other related equipment
segment was disposed.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

FEEMBHREERESHR LD
BB B R E DR M AKNER
SEERNER AL RDBIES
HE  ZFEAR2HmABTIEH A
TELERRE (WTER)([XE
LERRE]ER  NEZHEHE
TERD BN KRBEFE -

AEBZEEFHBEN=FLEE S
oo BER )VRE NETE
K BEBERE RS - 2EKED
HOERFERAVBERELER 2
B REMAER 2 A ERREM
HBR THEEBLEARETHR
& e

R-_ZE_ZFRA-_++tH EH
ERENRHERTIN IRE M EA
MR D EB °

BAZ2REEENHEDNAKHE
WAREEDITT :
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_T-_—F+-A=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. BER®(E\)
Segment revenue and results DEBRAREE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ZTZ_—+_-_A=+—HL
FE

Continuing operations

RREERY

Internet
Money education

lending  eCommerce services  Consolidated
ERA
R BETHEH HERS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARRTR ARRTR

Revenue L/ON 17,521 102,761 6,095 126,377
Gross profit 7 15,615 9,313 388 25,316
Segment profit DERF 13,583 (110,481) (199,780) (296,678)
Unallocated corporate income VA TNGIL N 64,534
Unallocated corporate expenses FOBARAY (33,980)
Loss before taxation BHAER (266,124)

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BHAEERZRERAT



Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Revenue

Gross profit

Segment profit

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses

Loss before taxation

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

DEWAR K& (&)

B@E_S_2F+_-_A=+—HL

FE

Continuing operations

HERERR

Internet

Money education
lending eCommerce services  Consolidated

L
HE EYEH HERK wa
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT ARETFT ARBFT
16,921 243,664 24,623 285,208
14,778 31,907 19,772 66,457
12,989 3,680 14,693 31,362
6,213
(140,656)
(103,081)
DE(EER),/ mAIESHBEED

Segment (loss)/profit represents the (loss)/profit incurred
by each segment include depreciation, amortisation

and impairment losses, but without allocation of certain

administration costs and other gain or loss, net. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of

resource allocation and performance assessment.

(&18), a7 (BIEFE - B

EEE) -

B3 & D Fo & T TR

REMKSLEERFRE - IR E
IR 73 Be R R IFFAA 1 [7) £ 2 &8 OR
REREWTE -

Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_T-_—F+-A=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. HENE (#)
Segment assets and liabilities PMEERAE
All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments, other BREREEE - o HMENRER
than promissory note, partial other payables and accruals, EETER  HEaE - HEAE -
lease liabilities, tax liabilities, partial bank borrowings and HOoRITEEAREEHRIEARE
deferred tax liabilities. SN FTEAEHSRENRED S -
For the year ended 31 December 2021 g8EFE_E_—F+-HA=+—HL

£E

Continuing operations

RRETRE

Internet
Money education

lending  eCommerce services Consolidated
ERA
i {1 L Ea L] HERS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AERWTR ARWTR AERTR ARWTR

ASSETS gE

Segment assets NHEE 182,600 43,253 36,871 262,724
Unallocated corporate assets AAENAEE 86,957
Consolidated total assets DRBELE 349,681
LIABILITIES &

Segment liabilities HiFaE 3,443 36,172 8,122 47,737
Unallocated corporate liabilities AORARARE 248,190
Loss before taxation BRHAIESE 295,927

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ASSETS
Segment assets

Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate liabilities

Loss before taxation

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

THEERERE (H)

BE_S-_SF+-A=+—HL

FE

Continuing operations

HERERR
Internet
Money education
lending eCommerce services
L
HE Ea HE RS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
227,559 72,929 64,918
19,529 41,386 6,950

Consolidated

o)
A

RMB’000
ARBTT

365,406

371,635

736,941

67,865

357,092

424,957
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_T-_—F+-A=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. WBEDE(HE)
Other segment information Hihp HE R
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ZE_—S+-"A=1+—HL
£E

Continuing operations

RREERE

Internet

Money education
lending  eCommerce services Unallocated  Consolidated
1 1]
B& ETEH BERE E31

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
IN:L IN:L B AE®TR IN:L S AE®TFT

Other segment information Kt ABEs
Amounts included in the measure SEAPENRER

of segment profit or loss or G HBEEREAR

segment assets: 2%
Addition to property, plant and RENZ  BER

equipment St 189 39 - 6 234
Addition to right-of-use assets RERFELE 2,936 416 4 - 4,093
Depreciation of property, plant nE  BERE

and equipment & 2 1,32 2 765 2,132
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ BREEENE 1,413 406 206 1,720 3,745
Interest income KA (1) = (13) (30) (44)
Interest expense MERR 26 44 33 28,022 28,125
Income tax expense/(credit) gk /() 2,208 - (12,473) - (10,265)
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed)  #t2 ZEUGAR

in respect of trade and EWETRR

loan receivables (BE) fHEER (14,338) 2,572 7,329 - (4,437)
Impairment loss recognised AR AR

in respect of other receivables fRESE - 12,606 200 - 12,806
Impairment loss recognised FEERRNAEER

in respect of goodwil - 88,803 123,572 - 212,375
Impairment loss recognised in SRV EERDN

respect of intangible assets RESE - - 52,790 - 52,790
Amortisation of intangible assets BREER - - 14,527 - 14,527

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Amounts included in the measure
of segment profit or loss or
segment assets:

Addition to property, plant and
equipment
Addition to right-of-use assets
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Interest income
Interest expense
Income tax expense/(credit)
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed)
in respect of trade and
loan receivables
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of other receivables
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of goodwil
Amortisation of intangible assets

829
b
A

RENF KRR
&
FERREAE
% BERRE
S
FREBENE
HBKA
HERX
EHRx/ (E2)
HEBEUTER
EUEHER /(BE)
M EEE
REMRE KRR
MR EEE
HETRINEEER

B EESH

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

HtisE@EHE &)

BE—_S_EF+_-_A=+—HL

FHE

Continuing operations

RELEEK

Internet

Money education
lending eCommerce services Unallocated

EBA
fifg EREL HERH ADE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
- 2,296 = =
- 984 - 3,688
173 978 28 785
2,024 363 - 1,818
(409) - (207) (197)
43 42 - 19,496
- 854 3,675 (6,176)
18,892 (455) 1,623 -
58 5148 184 =
- 92,523 - -
- - 25,499 -

Consolidated

RMB'000
AEBTT

2,296
4,672

1,964
4,205
813
19,581
(1,647)

20,060

5,390

92,528
25,499
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Information about geographical areas

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from continuing operations by geographical market:

HEER

TRERAEERBETIZE 58
SR B EBRRADH -

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=t+—HIL*FE

2020
—TTF
RMB’000
ARBTTT
The People’s Republic of China FEARZEME (TREEH)

exclude Hong Kong (the “PRC”) ([FE) (REREXK)

(country of domicile) 27,259
Europe BOM 218,423
Asia (other than the PRC and DM (P BEEFRERES)

Hong Kong) 10,442
North America JE=M 1,960
Hong Kong B 27,124

285,208

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Non-current assets

Continuing operations BEREES
Hong Kong B
PRC =5}

The non-current asset information above is based on the
location of assets excluding the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

Information about major customers
No individual customer contributed more than 10% of the

Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

FRBEE

As at 31 December
»+ZA=+—H
2020
—E-TF
RMB’000
ARBTIT

221,369
135,405

356,774

UEFRBEEERTIREBEEE (T
BREEATEFABRSNEREE)
fEME °

FEEFEH
BE_T-_—FR-FT_FF+=

A=+—BLFE BEENEFP
RAEEERBE10% WA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Continuing operations
Interest income on bank deposit

Dividend income from financial assets

through profit or loss

Loss on investments in financial
assets through profit and loss

Rental income

Government grant (Note)

Sundry income

Fair value gain/(loss) on contingent
consideration

Fair value losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Loss on early redemption of
promissory notes

Fair value gains on extension of
promissory notes

Gain on extinguishment on
promissory notes

BFHREEERY
RITIF A F B ULA
FFABRZEREEDN
Nl ON
FAARS G REER
REER

ikl ON
BUF#Bh (K 5E)
FETEUA
KARRENRFE

Wz (E1R)

BV EFABRZZ SR
BEZ A FEERE
REERALZRZER

FERASER A FEW S

BUBZAR 25 2 W

Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government
grants of RMB154,000 (2020: RMB898,000) in respect of

Covid-19-related subsidies.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

2020
—E-FF

RMB’000
ARETT

813

898
2,076

2,834

(404)

35,521

41,738

Mz RAFE - AEEFCovid-19
HEEMERBT M ARE
154,000 (ZZEZFF : AR
#.898,0007T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSS, NET OF REVERSAL

11.

Continuing operations

Impairment losses
recognised/reversal of, net

Intangible assets

Trade and loan receivables

Other receivables

Goodwill

FINANCE COSTS

Continuing operations
Interest on lease liabilities
Interest on promissory notes
Interest on bank borrowings

BREERE

W BEEESR  RHE

BVEE

B 5 EUGRIA M B E R

HoAth FE UL R IR
53

BREERY
HERBNF

=]

RITEESF

)
R OB,

()Y

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ZE-—F+-_A=1+—RHIL&EE

10. BEGR - MEREE

2021 2020
—E2_—% —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETTT
52,790 =
(4,437) 20,060
12,806 5,390
212,375 92,523
273,534 117,973

. BEBR®E
2021 2020
—®-—F —E_THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
132 140
27,779 19,229
214 212
28,125 19,581
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

2020
—E_TF
RMB’000
ARBTT
Continuing operations BEREES
Loss before taxation has been arrived K& ATEEEHE (GTA)
at after charging/(crediting): TFITE B 1% 3Z 5K
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN & 792
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 25,499
Cost of inventories recognised as ERAR S ZIFEKA
an expense 211,757
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BEREETE
equipment 1,964
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 4,205
Short-term lease payment EHBEENRK 385
Net exchange loss/(gain) PN EE(as) F5E 1,869
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA (BIEESHE)
emoluments)
— Salaries and other benefits — Fre RHEMEF 20,504
— Retirement benefit scheme — RINEFFH 8K
contributions 974
21,478

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Continuing operations BEREES
Current tax: BNes AR -
Hong Kong BE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B S ATIS B
Deferred tax: BRI :

— Current year (note 34) —AFE (MI5E34)

Hong Kong Profits tax has not been provided for the
current year and prior year as the Group did not derive
any assessable profits in Hong Kong.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax was made
based on the estimated taxable profits calculated in
accordance with the relevant income tax laws and
regulations applicable to the Company’s PRC subsidiaries.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

2020
—E-FF

RMB’000
ARETT

854
3,675

4,529

(6,176)

(1,647)

HRAEEY BEEFRE T ENE
ARBE A M ERAFE R E—
FEBRETENEH -

BEMAGFMNEREHNE  &4&
HEEELE 2EH2,000,000% T4
I #128.25% < B = BFL + MR iR
2,000,000 7T 2 % F All1% 16.5% 2
R - TRERRHIFEHE
FIEER 2 EEEE 20 A
1£16.5% 2 8l — T R=EH -

BTSSR B fh 5 e
RBUEN RERR AR E BB
REZBRMBRENERTE) 1E
H:ll o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the

“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,

the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss

before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Continuing operations

Loss before taxation

Notional tax at the applicable tax rate
to losses in the tax jurisdictions
concerned

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses
not recognised

Income tax credit for the year

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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RFREERE

B 75 Al &5 180

RAERAT IR ADA R R
ERIZE A B R
BEBIA

AR
BB E

BAERTRAZ
M8

RERRBERZ
L

FRMEHRER

REBEC(PBEEERAETE) ([
FIRHA]) RIEEMEHIAE &K
5l PEIKE AR E £25%

FARBX L EGEA B AR
R BB AT B IR E AR AN T

2020
—E-FF

RMB’000
ARETIT

(103,081)

(15,851)

22,949

(2,137)

(432)
(6,176)

(1,647)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—+-A=+—HULEE

14. DIRECTOR’S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERFETRARBZEHE
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors ENNENTEESREEZTHA
and the Chief Executive, were as follows: BEZMemT :

Retirement
benefit

Salaries and scheme

allowances contributions

byt

HeR R =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AE®FL AERTR AERTT

For the year ended BE-S--%4+ZR
31 December 2021 =t+-HLEEFE
Executive director: WTES:
Zhu Min A& 299 - - 299
Chen Huabei Bt 149 - - 149
Lu Yongchao =k 324 - - 324
Yip Sum Yu (Note 1) Evm (Hit1) 703 - - 703
Chief Executive: FETHMAR
Wang Matthew Yang 5 - - - -

Independent non-executive director: BV IFHITES

Li Yik Sang T4 100 - - 100
Tong Yiu On BRZ 100 - - 100
Cao Ke En 100 = = 100

1,775 - - 1,775
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
SRINAE 5T 2
He ek 7R @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

For the year ended BE"ZEZ£1+°R
31 December 2020 =+-HLEEE
Executive directors: RITES:
Zhu Min pxc 320 - - 320
Chen Huabei Bt 160 - - 160
Lu Yongchao Bk i 267 - - 267
Yip Sum Yu (Note 1) EXm (1) 252 - - 252
Sin Kwok Wai Ronald (Note 1) HERL (A1) - 100 3 103
Chief Executive: FETHAE
Wang Matthew Yang 5 - = = =
Non-executive director: FMTES
Chow Chi Wa (Note 2) BEE (Hit2) 89 - - 89

Independent non-executive directors: BV JFHTES :

Li Yik Sang TR 107 S - 107
Tong Yiu On ERZ 107 S - 107
Cao Ke i 107 - - 107

1,409 100 3 1,512

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes:

1. Ms. Yip Sum Yu was re-designed as executive director
and Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald has resigned as executive
director and has appointed as chief financial officer on 13
March 2020.

2. Resigned on 31 May 2020.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for both years.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-—F+-A=+—HItEE

1. RIZ-TF=-A+=H Eim
RETRENTES - RABRESGCE
ERINTESWEEZ T AIME

{aes o

Jor

2. RITZTFRA=T—H&T-

EXFTRHTESHME I RERE
HEEERARARAEEEKEH
B AR

EXFRBYFMTESTOME )
REEERRRAEFETHME -

RzMmEFE  MEEERENXRA
BEHEREERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_ZE-—F+-_A=t+—RHIt&EE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 15. AIgEEHMER
Of the five employees with the highest emoluments in the EAREEREEaFHEEEY © —
Group, one (2020: one) were directors of the Company BZ(ZZEZZEF : —R)RERAEIZ
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note B AR ExXMizE149
14 above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2020: B oM THUE(ZZEZTF  WH)
four) employees were as follows: BEZBESWT :

2021 2020
—E2_—% —EEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT

Salaries and allowances e KoEBh 3,459 3,408
Retirement benefit scheme RIREAFT S 5K
contributions 43 51
3,502 3,459
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMEN TN TEHE A -
2021 2020
—E_—%F —ETEF
No. of No. of
employee employee
EEAH BB AZ
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T E AR¥1,000,0007T 2 2
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 AER#1,000,001 &
AR ¥4, 500,0007T 2 2

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BHAEERZRERAT



There was no compensation paid during the financial
year or receivable by directors or any employees for
loss of office as a director of any member of the Group.
No payment was made by the Group or receivable
by directors or any employees for both years as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Company.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in which
a director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

No dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

RAFBRFEARES XM ESE
EXEARERREAREEMK
B A HE = B 1M 8 U Y  f] 4
& -REMEFE AREMEX
B EE F R ERESEYIMNE
RABHMBARRRENES -

RERLFATAERARB KA
REEMHEARBMEFERAS
BEBEENEARS THEE
B MEFEEXEERNETESR
BEARER ©

AARWERMNSEZRFEE
T —FRZETFF+A=F
—BUEFEZRE  BEREHK
INERZR MRS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

From Continuing operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

Loss figures are calculated as follows:

Loss for the year attributable to RRREBANEEZ
the owners of the Company FEEE

Add: i

Profit for the year from discontinued REBRIHEEEBL 2
operations F T

Loss for the purpose of basic and MRBBFECEER 2
diluted loss per share from FREARREEEIR
continuing operations = Z B8

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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REZSECSEER
AARHEEAREERERREE
B THRE A T E8IETE
BEHETZFENT
2020
—E-FF

RMB’000
ARETIT

(76,227)

(24,051)

(100,278)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

From Continuing operations (continued)

Number of shares Eir®A

Weighted average number of ordinary — sL&E R EA K #55
shares for the purpose of basic and EEmME 2 EBR
diluted loss per share hniEFE 8

The calculation of diluted loss per share for each of the
two years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 had not
taken into consideration the assumed exercised of the
Company’s outstanding share options as it would reduce
the loss per share.

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ZE-—F+-_A=1+—RHIL&EE

17. BIREE (48)

REFELSEER (FH)
Number of Number of
shares shares
Bir8H i1 & B
2021 2020
—ETHF
‘000
Tix
3,975,448 3,975,448

FEBE S FR_ZT_TF
TZA=+—RALEMEFESFZ
BREEHEBYETARRITER
NEMARITE 2 ERE BESE
BERERRD o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
from continuing and discontinued operations attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

Loss BiE
Loss for the purpose of basic and
diluted loss per share ms 2 &8

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

From discontinued operation

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
operation are earning for the year ended 31 December
2020 RMBO0.6 cents per share, based on the profit for
the year ended 31 December 2020 from discontinued
operation of RMB33,245,000 and the denominators
detailed above for both basic and diluted loss per share
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

IR E AR K EE B 1R

REFEAKERCRIEREER

ARBFEBANEREREFERLER
EREREXRBZBREANREE
ERTIRBIA T 8URETE -

Number of
shares
SrE2d=
2020
—EEF
RMB’000
ARETTT

(76,227)

PTRADRBE EXHERERREE
BB LERR -

RECKRIEREEK

HE-_Z-_TF+=ZA=+—H1t
FE BRECEEBZERER
REBERFASRAFARKO.6
5 IIRBRAERIEEEEL Y
BHE-T-_TF+-_A=+—81I1
FEHEMAREESI3,245,00070 K% £
NHBE_E-_ZEF+=_A=1+—
BIEFESREARARESEIEMF
Mz HEFHE -



Cost

At 31 December 2020
and 1 January 2021

Additions

Disposal of a subsidiary

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020
and 1 January 2021

Additions
Disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1 January 2020

Provided for the year

Disposal of a subsidiary

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020
and 1 January 2021

Provided for the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts:
At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

Furniture,
fixtures
and office Plant and Motor
Buildings  equipment  machinery vehicles Total
e BER
BF BOZRF 2 BERES RE o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARET:
B
RZBZEF+-A=1—H
k=Z-—-%-F—H 37,627 6,404 968 893 45,892
NE - 2,083 = 213 2,296
LE—HIBAR - (500) (968) (512) (1,980)
AR (613) (479) = (34) (1,126)
- - 23
+=A=+-Bk
—2_-%-8-H
hE
HE—HIBAR
5
R-BZ-%+-A=+-H
RHAEREE
RZE-E5-F—H 29,023 3,116 968 855 33,962
FREE 418 1,490 - 56 1,964
LE-HMNBAR - (500) (968) (512) (1980)
R 3 (133) (258) - (29) (414)
R-B-ZE+ZA=1-H
R-2--%-F-H
FREE
RN
RZBZ-F+ZA=+-H
IREE :
RZBZ-F+ZA=+-H
RZE-ZEF+-A=1+-A 7,706 3,660 = 184 11,550
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_T-_—F+-A=+—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BER WM (&)
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are iz BEIEKEEEFEAE
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated BERKERE G FIGEEBR MU
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated TFF G E R H (G E 05 A F H
residual value, at the following rates per annum: ZIE
Buildings 4.5%-18% gF 4.5%—18%
Furniture, fixtures and RE - RKER

office equipment 18% WAERAME 18%
Plant and machinery 9% 5= B 9%
Motor vehicles 18% Ve 18%
The buildings are situated in Hong Kong held under long BEANEESBEERANES -
term leases.
The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the N g B AR 1 N B R AR B
properties, plant and equipments based on higher of AEAEZESEGYE  BER
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The S ARl - BIEFHEE
carrying amount of the relevant assets does not exceed E HEEENETETZE K
the recoverable amount based on value in use and no O4$% B EEZARE -

impairment has been recognised.

No impairment loss has been recognised during the years REBE-—E-—ER-_TE-_T&E+
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. —A=+—RBIFEE  BEEDR
B8 -
19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EHEEE

Prepaid
lease Leasehold

payment buildings

RAHERRE HREF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#®TRT AR#®TRT AR®TT

Carryings amounts: RmEE :
At 31 December 2021 RZEBE-_—F+=-_A=+—H = 3,770 3,770
At 31 December 2020 RZE-ZEF+=-_A=+—H = 3,508 3,508

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, additions
to right-of-use assets were RMB4,093,000 (2020:
RMB4,672,000), which related to the capitalised lease
payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income is as follows:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use LHEEEERREI DK

assets by class of underlying asset: CRAEEENEER
Prepaid lease payments TN HEEKE
Leasehold buildings MEEF

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

REEZE_E-_—F+=-_A=+—H
IEFE HEEREEERARKE
4,093,0007L (ZZE=_FF : AR¥
4,672,0007T) « HEFFTHEEWRZE
B THE A E B FIBAERE -

REZEEMEEKETEIENE
MEEZFRAXEBE 2T

2020
—E-EF

RMB’000
ARETIT

(22)
(4,205)

(4,227)

Exchange realignment of right-of-use & 4R8I & E BI85 89 (F FA4E

assets by class of underlying asset: BEER A :
Leasehold buildings HEETF

(166)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Prepaid Lease Payment

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent leasehold
land in the PRC under medium lease within 50 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain of the
Group’s leasehold land has disposed through disposal of
subsidiary.

The Group leases various leased buildings for its
operation. Leased contract are entered into for fixed term
of more than 1 to 2 years.

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 to 2 years (2020: 1 to 2 years), but may have
extension and termination options as described below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract
is enforceable.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

BENEERE

AEBEWBMNHEEFBRELR S E
YRESOF A2 HMHAORFE ZHE
St o

REE_T_FTF+_A=1—
FE AEEEEEHENBL
AILESETHELM -

AEBREXBHESLRHEER
F o HEANZBEEHHBEBIE2
& o

REZMEFE  AEBGREEKHE
EZENAE HEAHNEEM
A1 Z24F T2 F 152

o (=
&) BRgeEA Nl EE R AR EE
2 - AEKRRNERNER 25
TEMERR R R o A T E R 5T
T HEARNRER A58
EAAAMNERTEESHNNITH
TTHAR -



Cost:

As at 1 January
Disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December

Accumulated impairment:

As at 1 January
Disposal of a subsidiary
Impairment

Exchange realignment

At 31 December

Carrying amounts:

B
W—A—H
HeE—RHBA R
PE 53 A%
R+—A=+—H
REtiRE :
R—H—H
HE—RKTE AR
BB

P 55 =
W+=—A=+—8
REE :

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units

(“CGUSs”") identified according to business segments (net of

impairment) as follows:

Money lending
eCommerce
Internet education services

&
BEFEK
BB A RS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

2020
—E-F4F

RMB’000
ARETT

495,912
(6,542)
(21,474)

467,896

109,993
(6,542)
92,523
(11,011)

184,963

282,933

EHEEIREASBIZATEBLS

M HENBESEABM ([REEL
BAL) (NBRRE) -

2020

—E-FF

RMB’000

ARBFIT

69,285
90,076
123,572

282,933
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Money lending

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired 90% issued share capital of Time
Credit Limited and goodwill of approximately
RMB103,318,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition.

eCommerce

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired the entire issued share capital
of Soaring International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Soaring International Group”) and
goodwill of approximately RMB229,740,000 was
recognised upon completion of the acquisition.

Internet education services

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group acquired 100% issued share capital of
Cybernaut Technology International Limited and its
subsidiaries and therefore goodwill of approximately
RMB123,572,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition.

Particulars regard impairment testing on goodwill are
disclosed in note 22.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

HE

REBEE-_T—AF+_A=1
—HLFE  AEBRETKR
HEEBR AT Z90%E 87T
BRA - SRR RS SERK 1R FERR
24 AK%103,318,0007T °

E7HB

RBE=ZZE—-—AF+=A
=+—HLFEE K&
UZ B8 T Soaring International
Holdings Limited & E BB A
7] ([Soaring International&
B 22 BITRA - R
WHETEREERDENARKE
229,740,0007T °

BB RS

RBEZZE—tF+=-A=
T-BLFE AEEKE
T Cybernaut Technology
International Limited & H i B
ANAlZ100% B #EITRA
LR TR R R BN A
R #123,572,0007C °

A B B R BRI L RO I R MY
22 R -



Cost:

At 1 January 2020
Addition

Disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020
and 1 January 2021

Addition

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1 January 2020

Provided for the year

Disposal of a subsidiary

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020
and 1 January 2021

Provided for the year

Impairment

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts:
At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

RZB--%+-R=t+-H
RIHTEREE

RZZ2=Z5—H—-H
FEARE
HE—FHBAR
e

RZEZBF+-A=+-H
R=2_-%-RF—-H

EEER

BfE

32T

R=B--%+-A=+-A

FmE
R-B-—-§$+ZR=1+-H

RZE-ZF+-A=1+-A

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

Technology Customer Contract
know-how  relationship Platform backlog Total
SRR EFRMRE Fg  RREEH it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR AREFT ARETR ARETR
103,644 10,733 118,593 9,844 242,814
- - 12,587 - 12,587
(2,236) (10,733) = = (12,969)
(3,814) = - - (3,814)
97,594 - 131,180 9,844 238,618
- - 8,534 - 8,534
(3,107) - - - (3,107)
94,487 - 139,714 9,844 244,045
103,644 10,733 54,692 2,050 171,119
- - 24,515 984 25,499
(2,236) (10,733) = = (12,969)
(3,814) - - - (3,814)
97,594 - 79,207 3,034 179,835
- - 14,035 492 14,527
- - 46,472 6,318 52,790
(3,107) - - - (3,107)
94,487 - 139,714 9,844 244,045
= = 51,973 6,810 58,783
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

The above intangible assets have finite useful life. Such MmN EEARERNAIERE

intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis H - ZEEBHEETRNU T HBRZ

over the following periods: BRI

Technology know-how 3 to 10 years HHEEM 3E104

Customer relationship 10 years PR 104

Platform 5to 10 years Fa 5Z10%F

Contract backlog 10 years RFEKEL  10F

Impairment loss of approximate RMB52,790,000 has been HE-_ZT-_—F+=-A=+—H1E

recognised during the years ended 31 December 2021 FE CEHAREEBEHNARE

(2020: nil). Impairment testing on intangible assets are 52,790,000 (ZE=ZFF : &) -

disclosed in note 22. | A E R ERFE K 229
= o

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and R BRI M S - MiiE20 & 21 FrE;

intangible assets set out in Notes 20 and 21 have been BENBETEEECHSIRZE=ER4S

allocated to three CGUs, comprising money lending EABA AERESD - BEFE

segment, eCommerce segment and internet education BN EBMBREREDI o« 5

services segment. The carrying amounts of goodwill Bl e A PR R E A E (30

and intangible assets (net of accumulated impairment) B R2iHEE) WEmENT

allocated to these units are as follows:

Goodwill Intangible assets
e ELEE

2020 2020

—T-TF e Sl 323

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Money lending WE 69,285 =
eCommerce BrE% 90,076

Internet education services EBBYE R 123,572 58,783

282,933 58,783

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Money lending

The recoverable amount of the money lending CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
and based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That
calculation adopted cash flow projections covering a
5-year period (2020: 5-year period), based on financial
budgets approved by the management with discount
rate of 12% (2020: 13%) per annum. Cash flows beyond
the 5-year period (2020: 5-year period) are extrapolated
with 2% (2020: 2%) growth rate. Other key assumptions
for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation
of cash inflows/outflows which include gross margin and
revenue growth of 3% to 18% (2020: 5% to 11%). Such
estimation is based on the money lending CGU’s past
performance and management’s expectations of the
market development.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
management determines that there is no impairment on
the money lending CGU. Management believes that any
reasonably possible changes in any of these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the money lending
CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of the money
lending CGU. If the discount rate was changed to 13.8%
(2020: 13.1%), while other parameter remain constant,
the recoverable amount of CGU would equal its carrying
amount.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

eCommerce

The recoverable amount of the eCommerce CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
and based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That
calculation adopted cash flow projections covering a
5-year period (2020: 5-year period), based on financial
budgets approved by the management with discount rate
of 19% (2020: 19%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period (2020: 5-year period) are extrapolated with
2% (2020: 2%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales,gross
margin and revenue growth of 8% (2020: 13% to 14%).
Such estimation is based on the unit’s past performance
and management’s expectations of the market
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, management
of the Group have determined impairment of goodwill
directly related to the eCommerce CGU amounting to
RMB90,076,000 (2020: RMB92,523,000).

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Internet education services

On 24 July 2021, Opinions were issued in July by the
General Office of the Central Committee of the Communist
Party of China and the General Office of the State
Council of the PRC, on Further Reducing the Burden of
Compulsory Education Students’ Homework and Off-
campus Training (BRE— T REESHERBELEEEER
ERRIMEFBERNE R) (the “Opinions”), which regulates
institutions offering tutoring on the school curriculum; and
the Beijing Municipality’s Measures to Further Reduce
the Burden of Homework and After — School Tutoring
on Students in Compulsory Education in Beijing issued
in August 2021 by the Beijing Municipality Government
and the Beijing Municipal Committee of the Communist
Party of China (together with the Opinions, as the “New
Regulations”).

In light of the New Regulations and with a view to ensure
that the Group and its operations fully in compliance
with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements in
China; and after seeking legal advice in early December
2021, the Company’s board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) has decided that the Group to cease the
online after-school tutoring services for academic subjects
included in China’s compulsory education system offered
to Kindergarten to Year Nine (“K-9” or “Compulsory
Education”) students in PRC. As such, the relevant
intangible assets and goodwill was fully impaired during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Internet education services (continued)

The recoverable amount of the internet education services
CGU as at 31 December 2020 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation and based on a
valuation by an independent valuer. That calculation
adopted cash flow projections covering a 5-year period
based on financial budgets approved by the management
with discount rate of 13% per annum. Cash flows beyond
the 5-year period are extrapolated with 3% growth rate.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales, gross margin and revenue
growth of 5% to 25%. Such estimation is based on the
internet education services CGU’s past performance and
management’s expectations of the market development.

During the year ended 2020, management of the Group
determines that there is no impairment on the internet
education services CGU. Management believes that any
reasonably possible changes in any of these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the internet
education services CGU to exceed the recoverable amount
of the internet education services CGU. If the discount rate
was changed to 23.6%, while other parameters remain
constant, the recoverable amount of internet education
services CGU would equal its carrying amount.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Equity securities listed in Canada RINER L2 RAFESH

Derivative financial assets MTESREE

Notes:

(@)  The above listed equity investments represent common
shares of an entity listed in Canada. The directors of the
Company have elected to designate these investments in
equity instruments as at FVTPL.

(o)  The derivative financial assets represent 2,500,000 units
common share purchase warrant (“Warrant”) of an entity
listed in Canada. Each Warrant entitles the holder to
acquire an additional common share at CADO.15 per share
in two years from the date of issue.

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ZE-—F+-_A=1+—RHIL&EE

23. BAFEFAREZE£ME
=

2021 2020
—E-—5 —E-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR®TTT ARBTIT
a - 385
b - 184
- 569

Biat -

(a) Ll EmMBRAEEE-—FENIEAL
MERMNLER - ARREZERCER
BEZERERTIEZIREETEAS
BAFERABZIER -

b) #ZTEEBEER—MEMERET

F#8#2,500,00017 & i AR B Ak 1
& ([RBEE] - SHRBBEE
BTHB AENRETRERSE
NREROAISMITHEREE —
P ERINE A o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_T-_—F+-A=+—HILFE

24. INVENTORIES 24. 8
2021 2020
—B_—5 —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBT T

Finished goods BURK fh 4,244 12,659
2021 2020

—B_—F —ETHF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARBET T

Movement in the allowance for GEREE

inventories:
At beginning of the year REF - 5,599
Impairment loss recognised REERERNBEBE

in respect of inventories - 869
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—MHBAA - (6,468)
At end of the year RER - -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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The credit period granted by the Group to certain
customers is within 180 days (2020: within 180 days),
while payment from other customers are due immediately
when goods are delivered. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance, presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting year,
which approximated the respective revenue recognition

dates:

0-30 days 0230H

31-60 days 31260H

61-90 days 61290H
91-120 days 91£120H
121-180 days 121£180H

181 days to within 1 year 181 HZE1FURA

The Group’s loan receivables arose from the money
lending business during the year.

Loan receivables bear interest at variable and fixed rates,
and with credit periods, mutually agreed between the
contracting parties. Loan receivables are secured by
properties and personal guarantees by the debtors/certain
individuals. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly and
handled closely by senior management.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

KEEMETEFPEEZEESRR
180HAA(ZZFE=Z4 : 180H M
W)+ EAE P AR AT E AL
BT e LTIIRBRMEFRER
HY (ER{A R = TR B 2R E ) 2751
2B SRR (R EE) Rk H
AT

2020
S

RMB’000
ARBETT

9,574

9,050
8,912

3,047

30,583

FAR - AEENRKERKRARE
E

RWERZAZEEENRREE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

The loan receivables, net of allowance, at the end of the
reporting period are analysed by the remaining period to
contractual maturity date as follows:

Within 3 months =@ARA
=@RAE—%F

3 months to 1 year

Over 1 year which contain a repayment —% LA F (HARER

on demand clause BIESO)

The average effective interest rate was at 2% to 12% per
year as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 2% to 13.2%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying amount of the loan
receivables. The Group seeks to maintain tight control
over its loan receivables in order to minimise credit risk by
reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of
loan receivables amounting to RMB13,462,000 (2020:
RMB128,792,000) are pledged with collaterals such as
properties. The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge
the collaterals in the absence of default by the borrower.
There has not been any significant changes in the
quality of the collateral held for the loan receivables. The
Group has not recognised a loss allowance for the loan
receivables as a result of these collaterals.

Please refer to note 6 for impairment assessment of loan
receivables.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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2020
—E-THE

RMB’000
ARETIT
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118,060
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152,450
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T 2% E13.2%) ©
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EERR
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27.

28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT

Other receivables H th pE U FR IR
Deposits i
Prepayment FET B

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/RESTRICTED
BANK DEPOSITS

At 31 December 2021, included in the bank balances
and cash and restricted bank deposits RMB31,250,000
(2020: RMB86,409,000) that was denominated in HKD
and RMB1,000 (2020: RMB1,000) that was denominated
in USD. All the remaining bank balances and cash are
denominated in RMB.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC and
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the
foreign exchange control promulgated imposed by the
government of the PRC.

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ZE-—F+-_A=1+—RHIL&EE

27. HAfiFEl IR - Re R A
]

2021 2020
2% —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETTT

13,923 75,900
723 6,639
7,633 5,438
22,279 87,977

28. RITRHBRRAS ZRHE
THER

R-ZBE-_—F+-_A=+—8 ' &
ANRITHEBRIR S A RZRGIRIT
FRreEARES31,250,00070 (=
T-FF : AR¥86,409,0007T) J7
LB TTEHE - T ARE1,0007T (=
Z-FF : AR¥A1,0007T) BILAZE
TLEME c A TRITEHR KBRS
HUAANREEE -

ARBETBELIFERLBEE
RHPREHESZPEBTERER
R INEE AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
—Ft-A=t+—ALFE

HEZZT=

29. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

30.

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills
payables presented based on the goods receipt date at
the end of the reporting period.

0-30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
Over 90 days

The credit period granted by the suppliers to the Group is

within 30 days.

0%30H

31E60H
61%290H
90 R LAk

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables

Accrued professional fees

Accrued staff costs
Accrued other expenses

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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HAth FE T 5RIR
EETEXEHN
JE5 B TR A
FEET H b FE <

29. RAEAREAREMRE

MTREZFENFTBARENEER
BEPRRBBURRERBHZI 2

RREe AT

2021 2020
—E_—%F —ETEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBETTT

4,662 5,539

1,230 3,464

3,372 8,809

21,584 12,388
30,848 30,200

HERRAKER L ZEER/I0

HA -

30. HfufEftRIARE T

2021 2020
—E_—%5 —E T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
8,469 34,573
2,948 2,307

195 266

115 519
11,727 37,665




Sales of paper converting equipment  $5& 4K 3R A1 T & H5

The Group typically receives in advance before transfer
goods to the customers. The Group expects to deliver
the goods to satisfy the remaining obligations of these
contract liabilities within one year or less.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities
and how much relates to performance obligations that
were satisfied as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Balances as at 1 January R—A—RBZz#&%
Revenue recognised from performance FRFLE BT ZBLIES

obligations satisfied during the year R WA
Consideration from sales of paper FAHERRMNT
converting equipment during the year &2 X 1&

Disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR

Balances as at 31 December Rt+-—A=+—Bz&%

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

2020
— BT

—= —=

RMB’000
ARBTT

AEE-REBSEVMEIGLEPZ
AIFASEMR - AEEBHE —FX
FRMNBRARNEMABITZS
BRBEENRIBES -

TREBR-ZEZ—FRZZE_TF
+Z A=+ —HZE®RWAEL
HENBENREEBITHENE
EIERERY BN ©

2020
—E-EF

RMB’000
ARBETIT

3,995

(9,150)

9,642
(4,387)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_T-_—F+-A=+—HILFE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. HE&R
The exposure of the Group'’s lease liabilities are as follows: AEEHEBENRRAT
2021 2020
—E_—%F —E-THE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Current BN &R 2,275 2,811
Non-current JEBNHA 916 470

3,191 3,281
2021 ol S -

Minimum Present
lease value of lease

payments liabilities
REHKMAR HAEARRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT

Minimum lease payment due: RUA TR 2 B s (K
MERFK -
Within one year —FR 2,334 2,275
More than one year but not BE—FENHBARE
more than two years 931 916
3,265 3,191
Future finance charges RRBEEH (74)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERE 3,191

Amounts due for settlement within one  —%F N 2l Bl sz < 89 3018

year (shown under current liabilities) (REBBEETIIR) (2,275)
Amounts due for settlement — 1R BB SR FRIE
after one year 916

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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2020

Minimum lease payment due:

Within one year
More than one year but not
more than two years

Future finance charges

Present value of lease liabilities

Amounts due for settlement within one
year (shown under current liabilities)

Amounts due for settlement
after one year

AT B B I B
AN -

—%R

BB — T BEMT

AKRBEEM

HERERE

—FARHZ A ERIA
(RARBEETIIR)

—F RIS FIR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

Minimum Present
lease value of lease
payments liabilities
REBAGRHR HEEARRE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREET T
2,875 2,811
474 470
3,349 3,281

(68)

3,281
(2,811)
470
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

As at 31 December 2021, the average weighted
incremental borrowing rates of the Group’s lease liabilities
ranged from 1.84% to 11.2% (2020: 1.58% to 6.94%) per
annum.

The Group leases office premises for operation and these
lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
lease payment that are not yet paid. All leases are entered
at fixed prices.

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with
regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored
within the Group’s treasury function.

The total cash outflows for leases for the year ended
31 December 2021 was RMB4,231,000 (2020:
RMB4,647,000).

The Group leases various leased buildings for its
operation. Leased contract are entered into for fixed term
of more than 1 to 2 years (2020: 1-2 years).

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings
RMB3,367,000 were secured by the Group’'s bank
balance of RMB418,000 and repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2021, all bank borrowings were fully
settled.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has available
unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately
RMB2,445,000 (2020: RMB5,051,000).

At 1 January 2020 RZT-TF-H—H
Credit for the year FEREL

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_ZEF+_A=+—HK

Credit for the year FRAAR

At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-A=1+—H

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of RMB46,044,000 (2020: RMB46,042,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of such unused tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

RZE_EF+_A=+—H " R
TEE AREE3,367,000 T T AR E
B A AR 418,000 T Z SRITAEERE
T - WER—FRERE -

RZEBEZ—F+=-A=+—H B
2HEEMARITEES -

RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H ' =&
SEEJHRBHABANRITER
BMEYHAREE2 445000t (ZFE =
TF : AR¥5,051,0007T) °

Intangible assets
ERRE
RMB’000

ARBTR

18,690

(6,176)

T —%—-H—H 12,514

(12,514)

RBEER  NEEBREATIE
EE AR 46,044,000 (ZF =
T AR¥46,042,0007T) AT
SH AR s A o B AR A& ) i A9 T
ATEAIME - MW ERZERFEAM
HEBERELERIAEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

2020
—E_TF
RMB’000
ARBTT
As at 1 January R—H—H 335,642
Accrued interest charged FEETEFBRFE 19,229
Issue of promissory notes upon REK R MR BB EBEITHEN
fulfillment of profit guarantee =5 37,016
Gain on extinguishment on BUBHEH ZE 2
promissory notes (Note c) Wz (Fizke) -
Fair value change on extension on ERAREBEAFEED
promissory notes (Note a and b) (FizEakb) (35,521)
Repayment B =
Exchange realignment M H R (21,629)
As at 31 December W+=ZA=+—8 334,737
Analysis as: DA
Current BVER -
Non - current JEBNEA 334,737
334,737

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes:

On 9 November 2015, the Company issued promissory
notes for an aggregate principal amount of HK$213.6
million at 2% interest per annum (the “PN1”) upon
completion of the acquisition of Soaring International
Holdings Limited to Mr. Lee Yim (“Mr. Lee”) and Mr. Ng
Hang Fai Calvin (“Mr. Ng”) (the “Vendors”), independent
third parties not connected to the Group. The PN1 are
due on the third anniversary of the date of issue. On 2
November 2018, the Vendors and the Company have
agreed to extend the maturity of the PN1 to 9 November
2020.

On 9 July 2019, the Company entered into the deed of
amendment with the Vendors to extend the maturity date of
the PN1 to 9 July 2021 and decrease the interest rate from
2% to 1% per annum effective from 9 July 2019.

On 2 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the Vendors to extend the maturity date
of the PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate remained
to 1% per annum effective from 2 December 2020. The
effective interest rate of PN1 is 9.89%.

The fair value of PN1 was approximately to their principal
amount calculated at the effective interest rate of 9.89%
per annum. The PN1 is classified as non-current liabilities
and are carried at amortised cost until settlement on due
date.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company issued promissory note of principal amount of
HK$55,000,000 (the “PN2”), non-interest bearing, upon
fulfillment of profit guarantee by Cybernaut Technology
International Limited and its subsidiaries (“CTIL"). The
PN2 will be maturity on 29 September 2020. The
effective interest rate of the PN2 is 13.36%. The PN2 was
transferred to Win All on 9 January 2020.

On 25 September 2020, the Company entered into
the deed of amendment with the Vendors to extend
the maturity date of the PN2 to 1 April 2022 and the
interest rate remained to 1% per annum effective from
25 September 2020. The effective interest rate of PN2 is
11.11%.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Hz=—

E_—F+_-_A=1+—HLHFE

R=F—AF+—AAB ' KQF
M5k W B Soaring International
Holdings Limited% ) 83 74 5 &
YTEBENBYE=ZAZHBESE
(IFEED)RREBLELE ([RE
EDTER D RFFE2%EEITA
% #58213,600,00078 JT B A, 2=
# (TPN1])  PN1R 27T B Hi#E
SAFEZAFEE - NZT—N\F+
—AZH  BFAXRRERER
PN1HEHAERE-"Z=_2F+
—AhA -

RZZE-NFLANR  AAFHE
BHAIMERTRE - KPN1Z 25
AtRZ_ZF_—F+tANRA A%
B-ZE-NAFtANBRBENX
H2%BE1% °

7‘50*747$+ B=B AR
BE AT MASRT 2% :‘HPMZ:‘J
%ELEE_Ezzimﬁ B
WE-T-TF+_AZHBKF
FIRMEFFR1%KTF - PNTHE R
K& £9.89% o

PNTEYAFEARSNEARSE
T9129.89% M EFRFH K5 E -
PN1DOBRIERBEEREER
3IH BB E AT IR E SR AT R
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KuEfRIBEEETEAZEAR
55,000,0008 T 2 Tt BE R E
#(TPN2]) - PN2BER —ZE =&
FAAZTNBEEIE - PN2Z B
F=EE13.36% ° PN2ER=Z =
ZE— AN HEETWin Al ©

R-ZE_TFHA=-+FHA A2
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

Hz=—

E_—F+_-_A=1+—HLHFE

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
issued promissory note for an aggregate principal
amount of HK$110,000,000, non-interest bearing, upon
fulfillment of profit guarantees by CTIL. The promissory
note of principal amount HK$55,000,000 (the “PN3”) and
HK$55,000,000 (the “PN4”) will be maturity on 7 April
2021 and 29 September 2021, respectively. The effective
interest rate of PN3 and PN4 are 9.78% and 9.78%,
respectively. The PN3 was transferred to Win All and PN4
was transferred to Wide Select on 9 January 2020.

On 4 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the Vendors to extend the maturity date
of the PN3 and PN4 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate
of PN3 and PN4 are 1% effective from 4 December 2020.
The effective interest rate of PN3 and PN4 are 9.78% and
9.78% respectively.

During the year end 31 December 2020, the Company
issued promissory note for an aggregate principal amount
of HK$55,000,000 (“PN5”), non-interest bearing, upon
fulfillment of profit guarantees by CTIL. The promissory
note was issued to Wide Select and with its maturity on 31
March 2022. The effective interest rate of PN5 is 15.38%.

On 30 June 2021, the Company entered into the deed of
amendments with the holders of promissory notes (the “PN
holders”) to extend the maturity of the PN 2 to PN 5 to 31 March
2028. In addition, the interest rate of PN 5 was changed to 1%
per annum with effective from 30 June 2021 and PN2 to PN4
has no charge in interest rate.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

REZE-_ZE—NAF+_A=+
—BILFE  ARRNCTILE
RaflREBERETASREL
110,000,000 7T 2 &t B & X%,
Zi - K4 % A55,000,000%
7t ([PN3 ) % 55,000,000 7T
UPN4J)Z7¥KFLTT)%H5A/DJJﬁAf
E-—FNALtAR-_ZE-—FHh
ﬂ +HBEE - PN3MPNAZE
BFIR SR A9.78% % 9.78% °
—Z-_TF—ANH PNIBE:ZE
FWin All > fPN4 D #:E ¥ Wide
Select °

%:Z—:ziJr—ﬁ@E (i /N
A E HRIMEE]RE - #5PN3
M PN4 2z \JHEEILEi_E::
FOMA—H AT -_TF+
— A B - PN3&PN4EFIR &
1% ° PN3 K PN4H) BB F = 5 7
£59.78% % 9.78% °

REBEE_Z-_ZTF+ A=+
—HIEFE  ARRRKRCTILE
KaFREBEERETACHEER
55,000,000 0 2 Far B&H
ZE ([PN5]) « A BHEBEITT
Wide Select HR T - —F=
A=+—HZ%|H - PNo A B F &
£15.38% °

RZFE-_—FXA=+H' ' £&2A
Eﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ/\“PN%ﬁ)\D
I IEET 24 - #PN2ZEPN5 2 5
HEERE-_TE_=F=ZA=+
—H o AN PNSHYFEFRIRE A
1% BT -_—FNA=+HiE
AR TPN2 2 PN4 2 7| 5= 45 4 58
Ej)o



On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into the deed of
amendment with all the PN holders to reorganise and assign all
the promissory notes of the Group with the principal and interest
amounting to approximately HK$368,902,000 (approximately
to RMB301,644,000) and HK$9,663,000 (approximately to
RMB8,102,000) in total respectively to two new holders of
two new promissory notes namely New PN1 and New PN2
with principal amounting to HK$208,208,000 (approximately
to RMB172,798,000) and HK$183,208,000 (approximately
to RMB152,050,000) respectively. The management of the
Group considers that the terms of the deed of amendment are
substantially different as the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms discounted using the original effective
interest rate is different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability by more than
10 per cent. Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. Therefore, the Group
derecognised the original promissory notes outstanding and
recognised the two new promissory notes measured at fair value
as at the date of extinguishment. The difference between the
carrying amount of the promissory notes derecognised and the fair
value of the New PN1 and New PN2 amounting to approximately
HK$80,696,000 (approximately to RMB66,973,000) is recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2021. The
significant terms of the New PN1 and New PN2 are as follows:

Principal &
Maturity date 2HR
Interest rate =
Effective interest rate B A =

In addition, all nominal interest of promissory notes are
waived from 9 November 2019 to 31 December 2021.

The fair value of New PN 1 and New PN2 approximately
to their principal amount calculated at the effective interest
of 15.68% per annum. The New PN 1 and New PN 2 are
both classified as non-current liabilities and are carried at
amortised cost until settlement on due date.

HK$208,208,000
208,208,000,8 7T

1 October 2023
Z-=%1+H—H —E-=F+A—H

15.68% per annum

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-_Z-—F+-A=+—HItEE

©0 RZTE=Z—F+=ZA=+—8"
ANQTEFTAPNEA AT BT
Rig - WNEANEEAEEMAE
ESEE - KERFBEED R
#975368,902,00078 T (K AR
301,644,0007T) } 9,663,000
T (B ARYS,102,0007T) *© F
MDA H =4 (BDETPNT &5
PN2) WM BFFHEA » AEHH
B1/5208,208,000/ T (K A R&
172,798,0007T) K% 183,208,000
BTt (H AR®152,050,0007T) °
AEEEBERE  BFIREBE2I1E
HEEREZR  REAFERRER
FIRBBZHERBE N REREZ
ARREHERSRABERTRER
EZMBERERAEBBA ZT -
Ett - BREIGERKIET AR AEUE
RemaBErERTcHAE B
it REBERIFFEREAEEZR
EEEE - WHERMMDKEER
HRAFEFEZTALERE -
DRIEHERZALZENERE
RPN & #FTPN2 KA FE 2 M
ZE#)80,696,0007 7T (AR
66,973,0007C) REBE—T——4F
+ - A=+—BIFENBETE
2 o HPN1 R#FPN2 2 X Bigzan

T~
New PN 1 New PN 2
#iPN1 #iPN2

HK$183,208,000
183,208,000/ 7T
1 October 2023

Interest free Interest free
B ®EB
15.68% per annum
HF15.68% HF15.68%
o BZZE-NAE+—ANBZE
B —F+ZA=+—H &K
RERHOMAERENS LR -

$TPN1 EFTPN2 8 A FELBER
HAREE @ J91215.68% M IR G
REE - FPN1 R EFPN29 D 58
BB aEREEREHBEE
AR S5 A AN B BR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Authorised:

At 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020,
1 January 2021 and
31 December 2021

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020,
1 January 2021 and
31 December 2021

Shown in the consolidated
financial statements
At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

EE :
R-_ZF_FF—H—08"

—E2-EF+-_A=+—H"

—E—F—-—H—-HEK
- —4%+-A=+—H

ERITRAE :
R-E_TF—H—H"

:§_§¢+_H:+_E‘

2 —F—A—HK
T —4%+=-A=+—H

RiGaMEBRMAT

R_ZE-_—F+=-A=+—H

R_FE_FTF+-_A=1—8H

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

Number of
shares at
HK$0.10
per share Amount
SERmEO0.10
BrZEirEE ko4 ]
‘000 HK$’000
T A% FHT
20,000,000 2,000,000
3,975,448 397,545
RMB
AR 337,128
RMB
AR# 337,128



The Company’s share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”),
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 7 June
2010 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees, and expired on 6 June
2020. Under the Old Scheme, the board of directors of
the Company may grant options to eligible participant,
including directors (excluding non-executive directors),
employees and consultant of the Company and its
subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “New Scheme”)
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 24
September 2021. Under the New Scheme, the board of
directors of the Company may grant options to eligible
employees, including directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

At 31 December 2021, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the New Scheme was 120,000,000
(2020:120,000,000), representing 3.02% (2020: 3.02%)
of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the New Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

As at 31 December 2021, the maximum number of Shares
which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the Options
to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and
the outstanding options granted under the 2010 Share
Option Scheme will be 517,544,800 Shares, representing
approximately 13.01% of the total number of Shares in
issue, which will not exceed the 30% limit under Note 2 to
Rule 17.03(3) of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

RABREBER-_ZT—TFXALH
BB ORFERRNBRE S ([E
idl) TEEMERAEZERAE
RESRMER MEFIERN=
T_TFERNANBER - RIFEET
g ARREFEARSERS A
E(ERARARENBARANES
(TREFNTER) EEREM)
RABRE - ARBARRRD -

ARRABRBER-_F-_—F LA+
MB@EIRERRABIREE
([#r5t81]) - REBFETE - NRQF]
ExgrmaiERER (BERARAR
REMBARNES) RHBRE -
IAREBARBRLD °

N—ZEBE-_—F+=-A=+—H " 1§
B EIE B M RITE 2 ER
R4 o2 B B 4120,000,000
B (ZZE=F4 : 120,000,000
) BMERAQRAIRZAD
TEMZ23.02% (=T F :
3.02%) o EREARRNFIRE F5LHE
HERBERT - BB ETERY
B BE BRAE FT 8 I 2 BR D 48 BTN 15 18
BARBRERKEEEZEITRNDZ
10% ° EREARBIRE S L&
BB T - EER A LR ER—
FRERRIEER ZEREMY R
ZEBETRETEITIRMHEETE
FEIA AN AR ER R E 2 TR G
Z1% °

R—_ZBE-_—F+_-_HA=+—8 " #
BREGIBERLBEREAR-F
—EFEEREFIERLERRT
FREREETEm AR TETH
== ROEE 15 /517,544,800 % i%
D EEEITRD B EA18.01% -
WA EmRAIFE17.033) &
MEE2 2 30%FR %8 °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days from the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options
may be exercised at any time from 1 year from the date
of grant of the share option to the 10th anniversary of
the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant, (i) the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s share.

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period
BHAMH BEY s
7 May 2019 Nil 7 May 2019 to

6 May 2022
“Z-AERALA i “Z-NELALRE

“T--FRAKAH

Exercisable at 31 December 2020
JRZE-TFF-A=+—AffE

Weighted average exercise price

MEFBTTHE

No equity-settled share options was granted, lapsed nor
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

EREREALANE LB BHR
1A EMERESS1ET -
DA 40 B A o BE AR REE AT RO D BE
BREBBHES —FEERLASRZ
T A I EAEEITE - TEER
ARBIEEETE ' BBTSERU
THREE  ()\AARBRMAIRHBH
ZURTITE : (RO RBEER L B
A AEE XA 2 FHWKTE : K
RARRMHEME °

Outstanding balance at
1.1.2020, 1.1.2021 and

Exercise price 31.12.2021

TR R=B-2F-A—-R0 -
~2--%-A—HR
~“2_-%+-A=+-H

R

HK$0.2 120,000,000

0287

120,000,000
120,000,000

HK$0.2
0.2%7T

RBEE-_FT-_—FR_T_TF+
“A=t—HLFE #EAER
REZEREERDL - RBET
fi£ o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ZE-—F+-_A=1+—RHIL&EE

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. B KiE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=A=+—BKE
not provided for in the Group’s financial statements were TMARAEEHBRERBEEZE
as follows: TEERT
2021 2020
—E_—%F —E-THE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARET T
Capital contribution contracted for but =& 4B KRR 4R A B SR E
not provided in the consolidated BEZEE
financial statements - 32,769
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the consolidated B RE SRR EMI D HEE
financial statements, the Group have the following related Gh - REBEFTBUTEERIRS °

party transactions.

Name of related party

MELKE

Zhu Min
K&

Lu Yongchao

Bk

Yip Sum Yu
8

Sin Kwok Wai Ronald

B WITES (FiHE3) FEME R (HeE2)
Notes: Bt -
1. The interest rate of the loan was 6% per year. In the opinion 1.
of the directors, the transactions between the Group and
the related party were conducted in the ordinary course of iBiEhiE
business.
2. The amount is interest free, unsecured and repayable on 2. HEE
demand. g o
3. Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald has resigned as executive 3.

director and has appointed as chief financial officer on 13

March 2020.

Relationship

[

Executive Director

WITESE

Executive Director

HITESE

Executive Director

WITES

Executive Director (Note 3)

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

Nature of
transaction/balance

i3 13 01

Promissory notes

AARE

Loan interest received (Note 1)
BIRERHME (PHzE1)
Loan receivable

W E

Loan interest received (Note 1)
BIREFHME (1)

Loan receivable

FEME K

Loan receivable (Note 2)

e -

EFRHFEMERE% °
e S ﬁﬁZx%TJK\\E ES

EHERRE -

2020
—ET-EF

RMB’ 000
ARBFT

37,016

157

2,483

65

2,441

842

BEERR -

B R RRER

FEEBELEER-_T_TF=A+
ZABRERTESURZERMY



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management for both years was as follows:

Short-term benefits 5 HtE A
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  iRARIE &2 7%

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ZE-—F+-_A=1+—RHIL&EE

39. MEAXH (M)

FTEEEASEHM

EENHEMTE2EEEKRERMIE
FEZHMMT

2021 2020
—E2_—% —ETF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TRT ARBFIT

5,233 5,255
42 67
5,275 5,322

EERERTHRABZFHMNIAF
MWEZEE2ERMARRLETSBE
MERE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

(@) Financial information of the statement of financial (@) FARAFBMRRRZBBEER
position of the Company

2020
—ETF
RMB’ 000
ARBTIT
Non-current assets FEMEEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB R 55
Interests in subsidiaries YN - Ea 340,842
Financial assets at fair BEATEGFABRRZ
value through profit or loss TREE 569
341,466
Current assets mEEE
Loan receivables W E K 8,630
Other receivables and prepayment e W sk IE K FE A 5RIE 19,010
Amounts due from a subsidiary FEUL— R BT B A R 3R IE 109,522
Restricted bank deposit X PR HIERITERK 8,754
Bank balances SRITHE R 2,987
148,903
Current liabilities mENR R
Other payables and accruals E MR RIE R ERTE A 4,238
Bank borrowing RITEE 3,367
Promissory notes HH R =
7,605

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT



(a)

Financial information of the statement of financial
position of the Company (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-_—F+_A=1+—B8LtFE

(@) ARRPBMRRRZHBESR
(%)

2020
—TEF
RMB’ 000
AREET T
Net current assets mEEERE 141,298
Total assets less current liabilities BE#MER G A E 482,764
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Promissory notes HH R E 334,737
Contingent consideration HARRE -
334,737
Net (liabilities)/assets (AR)HESHE 148,027
Capital and reserves BERGEE
Share Capital %N 337,128
Reserve B (189,101)
Total (deficit)/equity (B8 RaBE 148,027
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EE
Zhu Min Lu Yongchao
3 &kil8
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HLLFE

(b)

Movement of capital and reserves of the

Company

As at 31 December 2020

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expenses
for the year

At 31 December 2020 and
1 January 2021

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expenses
for the year

At 31 December 2021

EREERER

R-T-%%
+-A=+-HAkK
“E--%&
—A—H

FRER
FRAMEEYE

FREERER

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

(b) ADAFEXRRFHHEEE

Capital Share

Share Share redemption options
capital premium  reserve  reserve
BF  HRE

BFx EROAR REREE 51 ]

RMB'000  RMB'000

RVMB'000  RMB'000

Exchange Accumulated

reserve

ERGR
RMB'000

ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARNTR

losses Total
2iER @t

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTR

337128 587,684 17,918 6040  (13450)  (799,021) 136,209
- - - - - 12070 12970
- - - - (124 - (42
- - - - (1242 12970 11,728
337128 587,684 17,918 6040 (14699  (786,051) 148027




For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company RIBEHR  KRRARIFIFEZEE
at the end of the reporting periods are as follows: WEBARZFFIBIT :
Issued and Proportion of
Country/place and date of fully paid ownership
incorporation/establishment share capital/ interest and voting
Name of subsidiary and operations registered capital right held by the Company Principal activities
eI/ BRITRERES/ FLEREN IERE
HELFER RIREEER  HERAY itMEF FERERRRRELA
2020
Soaring International Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands Us$2 100%  Investment holding
5 March 2015 ES REEK
EBRAEE
“F-nE=AAA
VT Zero Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  eCommerce
24 January 2007 10,0007 Rl
)
Z53tE-AZ1MmA
HEZES TR ERAR The PRC RMB500,000 100%  eCommerce
25 February 2011 ARE500,0007T ERaT
hE
“E——%-R-TIA
Time Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 90%  Money lending
RAEERRAT 30 December 2011 2,000,000%7 (NOTEi)  HfE
Bk (ki)
“2——%t-A=tH
China Safety Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100%  Investment holding
hEZERRERA 7 April 2014 %7 RERRK
0
“E-WENALA
Eagle Pioneer Limited The British Virgin Islands USS1 100%  Investment holding
12 March 2014 %7 RERRK
ZERAHS
ZE-IE=RT=H
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Country/place and date of
incorporation/establishment

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
BRITREERE/
ithEs

HKS$1
187

1S0.01
0.01%T

HK$10,000
10,0007

HK$10,000,000
10,000,000/ 72

RMB4,000,000
ARH4,000,0007

Name of subsidiary and operations
BT/
WELRRE RIREEER  HERAM
Great Select Global Limited Hong Kong
EHEHARAT 18 November 2013
Bk
Z5-=5+-AT/R
Cybemaut Technology International Limited The British Virgin Islands
17 January 2017
AERUES
ZE-tE-ATtH
Hong Kong Cybernaut Technology Limited Hong Kong
BRRINERRARLA 27 February 2017
B
ZE-tEAZT4A
Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education Technology The PRC
Limited (*Huzhou')t 23 March 2017
MNELLABMRERAR (DM ) T
S oy =
Capital Wowxue (Beijing) Education The PRC
Technology Limited (“Wowxue’) 15 March 2012
REAR(LR)ABREARAR(RS)  +E
“2-Z#=A11A
& Wholly-foreign owned enterprise registered in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

All of the subsidiaries are private limited company.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

Proportion of
ownership
interest and voting

right held by the Company Principal activities

L)
FARERRRFRLA
2020

—-F-—F
Z-F
—_— =

100%

NOTE ()
iR

NOTE ()
R

NOTE (j
BEE()

NOTE ()
()

IRRE

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

L

Investment holding
RERR

Provision of internet
education services

RUEDBBHA R

# R BEEMZINEEERE -

FRUEME AR BITEMNELE

ij?o

2HMBARERLABRIT -



NOTE (i)
CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS
Particulars and main business of Wowxue

AR Z (L R)H B BHEBBR A 5 (Capital Wowxue (Beijing)
Education Technology Limited) (“Wowxue”) is a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC
and is principally engaged in the provision of internet
education services.

Wowxue is owned as to 40%, 20%, 20% and 20% by
EIRLILEEBEBE A 7 (Cybernaut Investment Group
Limited) + Z{A%%5 & (AL ) B FR A RE L 228 58 f (Cybernaut
Think Tank (Beijing) International Ecological Science
Research Institute), Mr. Zhao Yingming and Mr. Zhao
Yingyong respectively (the “Registered Shareholders”). On
31 August 2017 BN E LS. A BB R A &(Huzhou
Sai Le Hong Education Technology Limited), being a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group (the “Huzhou
Company”), Wowxue and the Registered Shareholders
entered into a series of agreements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”). Supplementary agreements were further
entered into on 25 September 2017.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

RBHNHBERETEEHR

RENRE (ER) BEMBEER LA
(DR2]) B—RRBEHBEIEREKZL
ZERRA FEREIRHTH
BHER -

ARESFABRERESEBRA
A BASEE (JbR) BEEEFR
Bl - MEEALERBESL
A ([ZRRER]) HEA40% ~ 20% -
20% K20% R - R=ZE—+HFN
A=+—8 A&EEZ2EWE AR
N BLLHE R BBR AR ([
MRAR])  RBEEFERREZ—
R0z ([BHRH]) TR =F
—+tENA-+HBE—FTLH
7ol o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Major terms of the structured contracts

Irrecoverable option agreement

Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into an irrevocable exclusive
option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) whereby the
Registered Shareholders granted an exclusive option to
Huzhou Company to acquire the entire equity interest
in Wowxue held by the Registered Shareholders, under
which Huzhou Company shall have the right to require
the Registered Shareholders to transfer their equity
interest in Wowxue on demand to Huzhou Company or
its designated entity or individual, at nil consideration. The
Option Agreement does not have a defined exercisable
period and the Option Agreement will expire when the
relevant law and regulation in the PRC allows foreign
investment in Wowxue or when Huzhou Company or its
designated party exercises the option to acquire Wowxue.

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, each of the Registered
Shareholders and Wowxue has given undertakings that
it shall perform certain acts or refrain from performing
certain other acts unless the prior written consent of
Huzhou Company has been obtained.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT

RBMESONEEMRR

T~ B 35 658 R HE %

MM AR REBRERBERATL—
0 A R B R B A ik ([
#mE ) - BB RBRR RN D
AREERBERE  NKREBHERL
BRRFFH 2ARBEEMHE - RIBZ
Whak - AN AR A EERE LK
RERERAHAMRRIHEETER
HEAATHREEFRRERREN
Pt o FB AR thp o X B SR E 1T 1
- BB ARk A5 IO AR R o BA 2
FORFRAERFINER AR B A M
NAHEEE A TITEBBREIAK
FEREZRFEHT -

RIBBEERS  SETHRERX
BRI EERBELE TITBRTIE
HETEMITE - RIFRSHAMA
FZERNEERE -



Major terms of the structured contracts (continued)

Service Agreement

Huzhou Company and Wowxue entered into an exclusive
service agreement (the “Service Agreement”) pursuant to
which Huzhou Company shall serve as the service provider
to Wowxue, to provide investment advice, planning and
other business advice on the operation and technical
services of Wowxue in accordance with the requirements
of Wowxue.

In consideration of the provision of the abovementioned
services by Huzhou Company, Wowxue agrees to pay to
Huzhou Company fees on an annual basis. Fees payable
to Huzhou Company by Wowxue will be equivalent to the
total income of Wowxue minus all relevant costs, expenses
and taxes payable by Wowxue. If there is a loss in a
given year, then no provisions for the said management
and consultancy fees would be required for the year until
Wowxue records a surplus.

In addition, Huzhou Company shall have the right to obtain
and review the business data, financial information and
other information relevant to the operations and business
of Wowxue.

The Service Agreement has a term of ten years from the
date of signing the Service Agreement. Upon the expiry
of each term, Huzhou Company is entitled at its sole and
absolute discretion to renew the Service Agreement for a
further term of ten years for each renewal.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Major terms of the structured contracts (continued)

Equity pledge agreement

Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into an equity pledge agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably
agreed to pledge all the equity interest in Wowxue that
they own (including any interest or dividend paid for
such shares) to Huzhou Company as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders under the Service Agreement.

The Equity Pledge Agreement became effective from
the date when the agreement was entered into and
shall remain valid until Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably fulfilled all the
obligations (including, but not limited to, the settlement
and/or the payment of the service charge, liquidated
damages (if any), etc.) under the Service Agreement.

Power of attorney
The Registered Shareholders executed an irrevocable

power of attorney which enables Huzhou Company to
exercise all the powers of the shareholders of Wowxue.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Major terms of the structured contracts (continued)

Power of attorney (continued)

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the directors of
Wowxue, the Registered Shareholders and the legal
representative of Wowxue have irrevocably appointed
Huzhou Company as its/their attorney-in-fact to (i)
exercise all the directors’ rights, shareholders’ rights and
legal representative’s rights (as the case may be) including
but not limited to passing of board resolutions and
shareholders’ resolutions as well as the right to appoint
or remove the directors, legal representative, general
manager and other senior management of Wowxue; (ii)
sign on their behalf all the documents necessary to give
effect to the Contractual Arrangements; (i) exercise all
the rights and powers under the Equity Pledge Agreement
and the right to deal with the assets of Wowxue; and (iv)
submit documents to the competent company registration
authorities of Wowxue or other relevant authorities for filing
purpose.

The terms of the Power of Attorney became effective
from the date of the Power of Attorney to the earlier
of the revocation or termination of each of the Service
Agreement, Irrevocable Option Agreement, Loan
Agreement and Equity Pledge Agreement.

The directors of the Company, after consulting legal
opinion, are of the view that the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements have in substance enabled Huzhou
Company to have power over Wowxue, rights to variable
returns from its involvement with Wowxue, and has the
ability to use its power to affect its returns, despite the
absence of formal legal equity interest held by the Group
in Wowxue. Accordingly, Wowxue is accounted for as
a consolidated structured entity as a subsidiary of the
Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

The revenue, profit, total assets and total liabilities of
Wowxue included in the consolidated financial statements
are set out below:

Revenue WA
(Loss)/profit (E518),/ =
Total assets BEHAE
Total liabilities BEBR
NOTE (ii)

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The non-controlling shareholder of Time Credit Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, hold 10% equity interest.

The following information relating to non-wholly owned
subsidiary that have material non-controlling interests
(“NCI").

The summarised financial information represents amounts
before intercompany eliminations.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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41.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Time Credit Limited

At 31 December
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net liabilities

Carrying amount of NCI

Year ended 31 December

Revenue
Cost of sales
Other income
Expenses

Loss for the year

Loss attributable to NCI

Total comprehensive expense

attributable to NCI

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in investing activities

R+=—A=+—8H
FERENE E
TEVEE
MENAE
FEREERE

BEFE

IR 2 BRE B

BE+T-A=+—H
HEE

YA

HE A
HAb Y A

Fx

FEEE

R R EIGEE

FRIER s A
2HEMAXARE

L EBFTRIRE R

BEEBAREFER

RETBMARE R

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ZE-—F+-_A=1+—RHIL&EE

4. FLFEZME L FFR

()

RBEAEARLT
2021 2020
—E=—F —ETF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARBETTT
2,231 564
172,532 218,346
(196,000) (262,449)
(21,237) (43,539)
(2,653) (4,681)
15,125 15,050
(1,906) (2,144)
15,097 599
(5,454) (25,061)
22,862 (11,556)
2,065 (1,156)
2,065 (1,156)
(39,503) (21,408)
(1,344) (2,158)
(189,060) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

On 23 February 2021, the propose acquisition of 51%
in Hangzhou Navrise Network Technology Co., Ltd.
has lapsed. For detail, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated on 23 February 2021.

No material major non-cash transaction occurred for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, promissory
notes of principal amount of HK55 million were issued
upon fulfillment of profit guarantee of Cybernaut
Technology International Limited and its subsidiaries.

On 2 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the Vendors to extend the maturity
date of the PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate
remained to 1% per annum effective from 2 December
2020.

On 25 September 2020, the Company entered into
the deed of amendment with the Vendors to extend
the maturity date of the PN2 to 1 April 2022 and the
interest rate remained to 1% per annum effective from 25
September 2020.

On 4 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity
date of the PN3 and PN4 to 1 April 2022 and the interest
rate of PN3 and PN4 are 1% effective from 4 December
2020.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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On 11 February 2020, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement to disposal of its 100%
equity interest in Accura Machinery & Manufacturing
(Taicang) Company Limited, a company established
under the laws of the PRC with limited liability and a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Great Select Global
Limited, a company established under the laws of the
Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company at cash consideration of
HK$7 million. It carried out all of the Group’s manufacture
and sale of paper converting equipment and other related
equipment segment. The purpose of the disposal is to
focus the Group’s resources in its other principal business.

The disposal of Accura Machinery & Manufacturing
(Taicang) Company Limited was completed on 27 May
2020. Furthermore, the final consideration is adjusted to
HK$4.9 million with the prepayment of HK$2.1 million at
completion date. Upon completion of the disposal, Accura
Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Company Limited
ceased to be a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 1 August 2018, the Company entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to disposal of
100% equity interest in a subsidiary, namely Sinoref (BVI)
Limited (the “Disposal Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“Sinoref Group”) at cash consideration of HK$82.8 million.

The disposal of Sinoref Group was completed on 12 April
2019. Furthermore, the final consideration is adjusted to
HK$53.8 million with the prepayment of HK$2 million at
completion date. Upon completion of the disposal, Sinoref
Group ceased to be a non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

The comparative figure for the consolidated income

statement and related notes have been represented as

if the operations of manufacture and sale of advanced

steel flow control products segment and manufacture

and sale of paper converting equipment and other related

equipment segment discontinued during the year had

been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative

period.

Profit for the year from the discontinued operations are

analysed as follows:

Loss for the period/year from
manufacture and sale of
paper converting equipment
and other related equipment

Loss for the year from manufacture
and sale of advanced steel flow
control products

Gain on disposal of manufacture and
sale of paper converting
equipment and other related
equipment

Gain on disposal of manufacture and
sale of advanced steel flow
control products

Profit for the period/year from
discontinued operations

KAESEMHERRNTRE
R E AR R B ERE
FEEE

R B R I 8 B = i 8 2K
EmNFEEE

B A
R E AR

IR TR
R W

&

& B & SH & = im S KRR
E an BO H) g R

BEBHEE,FE
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The result of the discontinued operations for the vyear,

which have been included in the consolidated statement

of profit of loss, were as follows:

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross loss

Other income

Impairment loss

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Income tax expense

Loss for the period/year
Gain on disposal of Sinoref Group
Gain on disposal of Taicang

Profit for the period/year from
discontinued operation

A

SHE KA

18

H A
REEE
$HE R oA
THMAX

B 75 Ak A

B ATE B
St >
R EE
£ Sinoref &£ B ~ Wi zE
HEKRE 2K
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#fEF R

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

AAAGABRRRARAFED KL
REEBHREWT

2020
—E-FF
RMB’000
AREFIT

9,042
(7,528)

24,051
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Profit for the period/year from discontinued operations has REERIEGCEESNEEFE
been arrived at after charging: A AR T 5118 B 12 E R
2020
—ETF
RMB’000
ARBTT
Cost of inventories sold EEFENA 7,628
Depreciation of property, Y BELREITE
plant and equipment -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 22
Interest expense on bank borrowing RITEEFERE 387
Impairment loss recognized in respect of Tt E 5 FEULFIA K&
trade and loan receivables FEW E F R 2 BEEE 1,486
Written off inventories FEMH =
Cash flows of the discontinued operations for the year are EFRNERIITREXENRESREN
as follows: T
2020
—TEF
RMB’000
ARETTT
Net cash used in operating activities KL EBFT AR S TR (6,570)
Net cash generated from BEEBFSEHE S FE
financing activities 2,087
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be (Rd)RAFE (4,483)

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Accura Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Company

Limited

The disposal of Taicang was completed on 27 May 2020
with consideration HK$7 million (approximately RMB6.4
million). Upon completion of the disposal, Taicang ceased

to be a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The

net assets disposed are as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was

lost:

Property, plant and equipment

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and prepayment
Bank balances and cash

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Bank borrowing

Contract liabilities

Tax liabilities

Net Liabilities disposed of

Gain on disposal of Taicang

Cash consideration
Net liabilities disposal of

Gain on disposal

ME - WE &R

3

B 5 WA
H o fE WA
RITEBREARE
B 5 R
Ho At & A5 FRIE I
RITEE
BMAE

RAeE
BEHEREFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE
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LAK{E7,000,0008 7T (AR
6,400,00070) HEAE —SFER=
TEFRA-FTEBAREK ° EX
HER  KRAETHAASKEMNIIESR
BHBAR - BEMEEFERAT

BREHENEERRBENDN :

(=

BE REFMKIA

fEET & A

RMB’000
ARBETT

176
9,034
15,225
3,448
227
(15,873)
(1,419)
(22,000)
(4,387)
(3,827)

(19,396)

RMB’000
ARETIT

6,444
19,396

25,840
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_ T —S+-_A=1+—RHItFE

Accura Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Company BEHW(K8) BRAR (&)

Limited (continued)

Net cash inflow arising from disposal of Taicang HEXEATELRE LA FEE
RMB’000
ARBTIT
Cash consideration received exclude prepayment 2 WEUIE & RE (TBFETENZIE) 6,444
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B ERERITEKRKEAS (227)
Net cash inflow BHEmAFRE 6,217

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAT



Raised

Repayment

Interest paid

Other changes

Interest charges

Issue of promissory notes upon
fulfillment of profit guarantee

Fair value change on extension
on promissory notes

Additions

Disposal of a subsidiary

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020 and
1 January 2021

Changes from financing
cash flows

Raised

Repayment

Interest paid

Other changes

Fair value change on extension on

promissory notes
Interest charges
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—S+-_A=1+—HItFE

Promissory Bank and Lease

notes  borrowings liabilities Total
ARRE HITRES HEAR #et
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
FET TET TET FET
- 2,200 = 2,200
- (3,559) (4,647) (8,206)
- (212) (140) (352)

19,229 212 140 19,581
37,016 - - 37,016
(35,521) - - (35,521)
- - 4,672 4,672
(22,000) = (22,000)
(21,629) (226) (24) (21,879)
334,737 3,367 3,281 341,385
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Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
*EEBE+_PA=1+—HILEFEEZER
2017 2018 2019 2020
—T—+tF ZZ-N\F ZZ-NEF ZZ-TF

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTIL ARBTT ARETE ARBTT

Turnover HER 271,620 237,798 326,946 285,208
Loss and total RARIEAA

comprehensive expense EEFEEBER

for the year attributable ZHAS B

to owners of the Company (138,695) (81,586) (98,403) (76,227)
Loss per share (RMB) FREE (ARE)

_ Basic _EA (0.03) (0.02) (0.02) (2.52)

_ Diluted _ (0.03) (0.02) (0.02) (2.52)

Assets and liabilities of the Group at 31 December
FEER+T-A=t+—HZEERAR
2017 2018 2019 2020
2+ —E-N\F ZE-hAF —ZT_FTF

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTE ARBTE ARETT

Total assets BEHE 1,216,064 1,133,825 917,733 736,941
Less: Total liabilities W BERE (567,077) (638,432) (517,549) (424,957)
Total net assets BEEFE 648,987 495,393 400,184 311,984

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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